BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors

Olja Munitlak Ivanović Isidora Ljumović Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović



International Scientific Conference: SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES



26th October, 2017 Belgrade, Serbia



BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors

Olja Munitlak Ivanović Isidora Ljumović Aleksandra Bradić–Martinović

International Scientific Conference: SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES 26th October, 2017 Belgrade, Serbia Publisher: Institute of Economic Sciences Zmaj Jovina 12, Belgrade, Serbia Tel. (+381 11) 2622-357, 2623-055 Fax: (+381 11) 2181-471 www.ien.bg.ac.rs office@ien.bg.ac.rs

For publisher: Jovan Zubović, Director

Printed by DonatGraf, Belgrade

Circulation 150

ISBN 978-86-89465-35-8

This Book of Abstracts is a part of projects No. 179015 "Challenges and prospects of structural changes in Serbia: Strategic directions for economic development and harmonization with EU requirements) and No. 47009 "European integrations and social and economic changes in Serbian economy on the way to the EU), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia.

Copyright© 2017 by Institute of Economic Sciences Belgrade. All rights reserved.

INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

Olja Munitlak Ivanović, PhD, President of Scientific Committee, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Isidora Ljumović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Donatella Privitera, PhD, University of Catania, Italy Domenico Nicolò, PhD, University Mediterranea of Reggio Calabria, Italy Aniela Balacescu, PhD, "Constantin Brâncuşi" University of Târgu Jiu, Romania Diego Begalli, PhD, University of Verona, Italy Ignacio De Los Ríos Carmenado, PhD, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Spain Mihai Mieila, PhD, Valahia University of Targoviste, Romania Mirela Panait, PhD, Petroleum - Gas University of Ploiesti, Romania Diego Begalli, PhD, University of Verona, Italy Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović, PhD, Institute of Economics, Croatia Spasoje Tuševljak. PhD, University of Eastern Sarajevo, B&H Rochdi Feki, PhD, Sfax Business School, University of Sfax, Tunisia Nouri Chtourou, PhD, Faculty of Economics and Management, University of Sfax, Tunisia Nadia Abaoub Ouertani, PhD, Ecole Supériure de Commerce, Université de Manouba, Tunisia

Andrea Éltető, PhD, Institute of World Economics Budapest, Hungary

NATIONAL SCINTIFIC COMMITTEE

Dejan Petrović, PhD, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade Igor Mladenović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš Aleksandar Grubor, PhD, Faculty of Economics, Subotica, University of Novi Sad Srđan Marinković, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš Jonel Subić, PhD, Institute of Agricultural Economics, Belgrade Marija Kostić, PhD, Faculty of Hotel Management and Tourism in Vrnjačka Banja, University of Kragujevac Hasan Hanić, PhD, Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade Ivana Domazet, PhD, Institute of Economics, University of Belgrade Jelena Kočović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Belgrade Nataša Petrović, PhD, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade Vladimir Obradović, PhD, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade Marina Djordjević, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš

Nataša Golubović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš

Vladimir Marjanović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš Marija Petrovic Randjelović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Niš Pere Tumbas, PhD, Faculty of Economics, Subotica, University of Novi Sad Komazec Ljubica, PhD, Faculty of Economics, Subotica, University of Novi Sad Nataša Kljajić, PhD, Institute of Agricultural Economics, Belgrade Boris Kuzman, PhD, Institute of Agricultural Economics, Belgrade Slobodan Popović, PhD, Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management, University Business Academy, Novi Sad

Ljiljana Arsić, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Priština, Kosovska Mitrovica

Aleksandra Tošović Stevanović, PhD, Graduate School of Business Studies "John Naisbitt", Belgrade

Vladan Pavlović, PhD, Faculty of Economics, University of Priština, Kosovska Mitrovica

Goranka Knežević, PhD, Faculty of Business, Singidunum University, Belgrade **Aleksandra Mitrović, PhD**, Faculty of Hotel Management and Tourism in Vrnjačka Banja, University of Kragujevac

Tanja Stanišić, PhD, Faculty of Hotel Management and Tourism in Vrnjačka Banja, University of Kragujevac

Sanja Popović Pantić, PhD, Institute Mihajlo Pupin, Belgrade and Association of Business Women

Marijana Joksimović, PhD, Graduate School of Business Studies "John Naisbitt", Belgrade

Jovan Njegić, PhD, Novi Sad Business School, Novi Sad Jelena Minović, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade Sonja Đuričin, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade Isidora Beraha, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade Duško Bodroža, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade Mihajlo Djukić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade

ORGANIZING COMMITTEE

Duško Bodroža, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Mihajlo Djukić, PhD, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Aida Hanić, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia Petar Mitić, MA, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE
Part I. GREEN GROWTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT: ECOLOGICAL PILLAR 15
1.1. TRANSFORMATION OF THE ROMANIAN AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS UNDER THE COMMON AGRICULTURAL POLICY NEW PARADIGM – FOOD PRICES VS. FOOD SECURITY
1.2. CIRCULAR ECONOMY MODEL AS A RESULT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
1.3. ECONOMIC POLICY RESPONCES TO CLIMATE CHANGE
1.4. IMPACTS OF SUSTAINABILITY AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORTING <i>Aleksandra Tošović-Stevanović, Vladimir Ristanović, Tijana Koprivica</i>
1.5. FIFTY SHADES OF GREEN – WHAT PALES THE FINAL COLOUR OF GREEN SOLUTIONS?
1.6. ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPORTANCE OF MULCHING WITHIN THE URBAN AREAS OF LARGE CITIES OF REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
1.7. THE INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS GROUP ON CLIMATE CHANGE – A CASE STUDY FOR ECOLOGICAL RESPONSIBILITY
1.8. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT INDEX OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
1.9. POSSIBILITIES FOR IMPROVING ECOEFFICIENCY AND GROSS REBOUND EFFECT: A CASE STUDY FOR BSEC MEMBER STATES42 Snežana Radukić, Dušan Perović
1.10. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL COMMUNITIES: ECOLOGICALLY (IR)RESPONSIBLE APPROACH

1.11. INTERDEPENDENCE BETWEEN ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF SUSTAINABLE TOURISM DEVELOPMENT IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES
1.12. ENVIRONMENTAL TAX REFORM AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
1.13. SOLVING THE PROBLEMS OF RURAL AS ENVIRONMENTALLY DESIRABLE SEGMENT OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
1.14. SMALL ENTERPRISES AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF ECO-TOURISM AS AN OPPORTUNITY FOR ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - THE CASE OF THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA
1.15. WASTE ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT RECYCLING: SOCIOECONOMIC AND INSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN SERBIA
1.16. ENVIRONMENTAL TAX AND COMPETITIVENESS OF EUROPEAN COUNTRIES THROUGH THE LENS OF PORTER HYPOTHESIS
1.17. SOIL QUALITY AS A FACTOR OF ORGANIC FARMING – A CHANCE FOR THE LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
1.18. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INCOME AND ENVIRONMENT IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES: THE IMPORTANCE OF TAX POLICY MEASURES
 1.19. RENEWABLE ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND CO² EMISSIONS: AN EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS OF EU-28 COUNTRIES
Part II. GREEN ECONOMY AND VULNERABILITY OF ECONOMIC GROWTH: ECONOMIC PILLAR
2.1. INNER POTENTIAL AND BACKGROUND FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF SMALL CITIES

Viola Larionova, Darko Vuković

Table of Contents

2.2. ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT TAX FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL AGRIBUSINESS
Somai Miklós
2.3. ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT – THE ROLE OF GREEN MARKETING
Ivana Domazet, Milica Kovačević
2.4. SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING AND GENDER DIVERSITY – EVIDENCE FROM SERBIAN POLLUTERS
Goranka Knežević, Vladan Pavlović
2.5. ORGANIC PRODUCT LABELLING: CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND IMPACT ON PURCHASING DECISION
Ivana Lečovski, Isidora Ljumović
2.6. SMART INNOVATION CAPACITY: THE EXPERIENCE OF CROATIAN LARGE CITIES
Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović, Mislav Šagovac
2.7. AN INQUIRY INTO THE COMPETITIVENESS-RESILIENT GROWTH NEXUS104 Srđan Marinković, Marija Džunić, Nataša Golubović
2.8. INVESTMENTS IN SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT AS A GREEN ECONOMY DRIVER - CASE STUDY BOKA BAY107 Slađana Lazarević, Saša Popović
2.9. THE PRODUCTION OF INDUSTRIAL MINERALS AND ROCKS IN SERBIA-AN ECONOMETRIC INVESTIGATION
2.10. ILLIQUIDITY RISK OF POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA
2.11. MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURE OF ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY IN THE CASE OF ISLAMIC BANKS118 <i>Aida Hanić</i>
2.12. ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF THE STATE REGULATION IN THE FIELD OF EXPLOITATION, PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION OF THE NATURAL RESOURCES IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
2.13. INFORMATION, CONSUMERISM AND SUSTAINABLE FASHIONE125 Mirela Holy
2.14. GREEN ECONOMY AND INDICATORS OF SUSTAINABLE AND ECOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

Zoran Todorović

2.15. MANAGEMENT AND PROMOTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL OPPORTUNITIES IN ENTERPRISES AS A DRIVING FORCE FOR SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Marija Magdincheva-Sopova, Kiril Postolov, Risto Elenov, Simona Gjurevska
2.16. GREEN SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT PRACTICES IN THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA
2.17. THE CO-CREATING OF SUSTAINABILITY-ORIENTED VALUE IN SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
2.18. ASSESSMENT OF ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY OF ACCEPTANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS IN THE FIELD OF AN URBAN ECOLOGY143 <i>Kseniia Lapshina, Natalia Bakaeva, Očga Sotnikova</i>
2.19. SUSTAINABILITY OF ORGANIC AND CONVENTIONAL SOYBEAN PRODUCTION SYSTEMS: EVIDENCE FROM VOJVODINA
2.20. THE IMPACT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL COMPONENT ON THE ECONOMIC VALUE OF THE COMPANY
2.21. NEW JOBS IN EUROPEAN ECONOMIES – SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY PERSPECTIVE
2.22. RECONCEPTUALISATION AND STRATEGIC ADOPTION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: SERBIAN CASE – YESTERDAY, TODAY AND TOMOROW
2.23. THE IMPACT OF FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT ON SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 161 Tatjana Stefanović
2.24. COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIP PARADIGM IN THE SUSTAINABILITY- ORIENTED SUPPLY CHAIN AS THE WAY TO SUSTAINABILITY
2.25. CRITERIA FOR APPRAISAL OF INVESTMENT PROJECTS IN ENERGY SECTOR 169 Mališa Đukić
2.26. ADOPTION OF PROCESSES-PRODUCT INNOVATION PATTERN - A COMPARATIVE, FIRM LEVEL EVIDENCE FROM EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES171 Brunilda Kosta, Blendi Gerdoçi, Elentjana Qoku

Table of Contents

2.27. POSSIBILITIES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF AGRITOURISM IN REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA
Mihajlovska 2.28. THE IMPACT OF STRENGTHENING AND HAMPERING INNOVATION FACTORS ON FIRM'S PERFORMANCE - A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES
Nertila Busho, Blendi Gerdoci, Alejda Doda
2.29. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF BANKS IN THE FUNCTION OF COMPARATIVE ADVANTAGE ON THE MARKET
Milica Raičević, Dijana Medenica Mitrović 2.30. CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY IN THE EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRY
2.31. INFLUENCE OF THE FDI INFLOWS ON ECONOMIC GROWTH IN MONTENEGRO
2.32. MACROECONOMIC DETERMINANTS OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS IN CEE COUNTRIES: 2005-2015
2.33. CREDITING AS FINANCIAL TOOL FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE DEVELOPMENT: RESEARCH ABOUT CREDITING OF FARMERS IN REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA
2.34. THE PROBLEM OF GUARANTEES REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL AND BANKING SYSTEM IN SMALL EMERGING ECONOMIES
2.35. IMPACT OF EXPORTS ON ECONOMIC AGGREGATES OF PAKISTAN
2.36. TREASURY STOCK PURCHASES FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVODING DAMAGE FOR THE CORPORATION: EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS IN SERBIA, SRPSKA REPUBLIC, MONTENEGRO AND CROATIA
2.37. THE IMPACT OF NATIONAL DEBT IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE AND SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES205

Pero Petrović, Marina Protić

 2.38. THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BPM CONCEPT ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF INSURANCE COMPANIES
3.1. ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DIMENSION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT:
CASE SERBIA 1995-2015
Igor Mladenović, Ljiljana Stanković
3.2. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND THE QUESTION OF ITS SOCIAL DIMENSIONS
Vladan Joldžić, Ana Batrićević, Vera Stanković
3.3. POVERTY AND FAMILY QUALITY OF LIFE IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA220 Milena Milićević, Goran Nedović
3.4. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ECONOMIC GROWTH, EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME INEQUALITY: TIME SERIES EVIDENCE FROM ROMANIA AND TURKEY223 Bălăcescu Aniela, Zaharia Marian, Halil Ibrahim Aydin
3.5. THE POTENTIAL OF MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES IN INDUSTRIAL SECTOR OF THE SERBIAN ECONOMY
3.6. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT THROUGH ISLAMIC FINANCING: THE CASE OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA
3.7. PUBLIC SECTOR WAGE PREMIUM IN SERBIA: COMPARISON OF LINEAR REGRESSION AND MATCHING APPROACH ESTIMATES234 <i>Marko Vladisavljević</i>
3.8. SKILLS AND SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYMENT IN SERBIA
3.9. DIGITAL SKILLS AS UNDERLYING COMPETENCIES OF WORKFORCE IN SERBIA
Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović, Jelena Banović
3.10. EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE OF THE BRAIN DRAIN EFFECT ON SERBIA'S ECONOMIC GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT
3.11. ACCEPTANCE OF INNOVATION IN THE FORM OF INTERNET MEDIA BY CONSUMERS IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA247

Table of Contents

Karolina Perčić, Nenad Perić, Đuro Kutlača

3.12. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES AND SUSTAINABLE DEMOGRAPHIC DEVELOPMENT IN THE WESTERN BALKANS251 Verica Janeska, Aleksandra Lozanoska, Elizabeta Djambaska
3.13. MIGRATION, INTEGRATION AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP: INSIGHTS FROM THE SERBIAN EXPERIENCE
3.14. THE IMPACT OF EMIGRATION/IMMIGRATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF SERBIA
3.15. ECONOMICS AND MORALITY – HOW TO RECONCILE ECONOMIC THINKING AND BROADER SOCIAL THINKING
3.16. REFORMS OF THE PENSION SYSTEM IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES265 Mladenka Balaban, Slobodan Župljanin, Gordana Đukić
3.17. PROGRAMS AND SERVICES IN THE COMMUNITY AS A SOCIAL CHALLENGE TO FAMILIES WITH A CHILD WITH PHYSICAL DISABILITY IN URBAN, SUBURBAN AND RURAL TYPE OF COMMUNITY IN SERBIA
3.18. WHICH FACTORS DRIVE THE LEARNER'S READINESS TO STUDY ONLINE? THE CASE OF SERBIA272 <i>Vladimir Simović</i>
3.19. ECOLOGICAL EDUCATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT275 Mirjana Radojičić

PREFACE

Dear readers,

With great pleasure, we are presenting this year's *Book of Abstracts* as a result of our Annual International Scientific Conference. Having in mind the importance of the sustainability concept in modern society, the topic of this Conference is *Sustainable growth in small open Economies*. This publication gathers 75 papers, including authors from 11 countries.

Our goal was to bring academia, business representatives and policy makers together and encourage discussion on three topics which constitute the basis for sustainable growth:

- 1. Green Growth and the Environment: Ecological Pillar
- 2. Green Economy and Vulnerability of Economic Growth: Economic Pillar
- 3. Social Challenges of Unequal Growth: Social Pillar

Ensuring sustainable growth is one of the basic principles embedded in a large number of regulations and public policies, but also in everyday life. In today's accelerated technological revolution this is a process that is highly demanding and expensive. The needs for "greening" of the economy are becoming more frequent. There is no sustainable growth without development of three aforementioned pillars.

We are grateful to all the authors who contributed to this *Book of Abstracts* in fulfilment of our joint goal.

EDITORS

Part I. GREEN GROWTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT: ECOLOGICAL PILLAR

1.1. TRANSFORMATION OF THE ROMANIAN AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS UNDER THE COMMON AGRICULTURAL POLICY NEW PARADIGM – FOOD PRICES VS. FOOD SECURITY

Andrei Jean–Vasile¹

Petroleum-Gas University of Ploiesti, Bucuresti, Romania

Radulescu Denisa²

University of Constantin Brancusi-Tg. Jiu, Târgu Jiu, Romania

Dusmanescu Dorel³

Petroleum-Gas University of Ploiesti, Bucuresti, Romania

OBJECTIVES

Romanian agriculture, during the last twenty-seven years, has passed a dramatic reform process, which led in developing a new economic paradigm. Analyzing the food prices vs. food security from the perspective of transformation of the Romanian agricultural economics under the Common Agricultural Policy new paradigm implies finding the resources with highly impact of inland economy. Starting with the assumption that agriculture has a determinant impact in designing Romanian economy, in the paper is analyzed only the implication of the food prices on food security. Also it is considered the component of agricultural fraud on designing the market process and prices.

METHODOLOGY

In order to achieve the main objective of the paper it will be employed specific instruments and the empirical analysis will be carried out for understanding the transformation of the Romanian agricultural economics under the Common Agricultural Policy new paradigm from a boarder perspective by using the relevant indicators as econometric variables for designing the research model. The dramatic evolution of the Romanian agricultural economics from the perspective of price evolution proves that numerous endogenous factors are involved. Taking

¹ PhD Associate Professor, e-mail: ajvasile@upg-ploiesti.ro

² MA, e-mail: dennisa_yuliana@yahoo.com

³ Prof. PhD, e-mail: Zlin50@yahoo.com

into consideration the fraud interventions and mechanisms in shaping the prices levels will improve the working framework inn the field. The analysis will consist in specific indicators and variables which will be combined in order to design an working model for understanding the phenomena. The methodology choice in using the variables is based on the fact that it can describe explanations in understanding Transformation of the Romanian agricultural economics under the Common Agricultural Policy new paradigm during the analyzed period.

RESULTS

The results which are expected to be obtained during the research are to confirm the argumentation that the transformations of the Romanian agricultural economics under the Common Agricultural Policy new paradigm are centered on two main components: food prices and food security. Also it is possible that the results to prove that evolution of the Romanian agricultural paradigm is circumscribes to the numerous reforms specific to post-communist economies.

IMPLICATIONS

The research has implications on understanding the paradigm of agricultural prices formation and its influence on food security. Despite of numerous literatures in the field, there is a direct connection between fraudulent component on establishing food and agricultural prices and the evolution of the agricultural economy. The policy implication on the price mechanism could consist on improvement of the specific field control.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper will try to become a milestone in the field taking into consideration that for designing this study it will be employed specific research methods and instruments including the Gini coefficient which it has the greater advantage that it is easier to be used and it offers accurate results and image of domain.

KEY WORDS

Prices, food control, food security, agriculture, fraud, fiscal taxation, CAP

REFERENCES

1. Alam, M. R., & Gilbert, S. (2017). Monetary policy shocks and the dynamics of agricultural commodity prices: evidence from structural and factor-augmented VAR analyses. Agricultural Economics, 48(1), 15-27.

- Bielik, P., Smutka, L., Horská, E., & Selby, R. (2014). Agricultural development and government expenditures in the new EU countries. Applied Studies in Agribusiness and Commerce, 8(1), 21-36.
- Czyżewski, B., Przekota, G., & Poczta-Wajda, A. (2017). The incidence of agricultural policy on the land market in Poland: Two-dimensional and multilevel analysis. Land Use Policy, 63, 174-185.
- 4. Golas, Z. (2015). Changes in work profitability in the agricultural sector in Romania and Bulgaria between 2007 and 2014. CHANGES, 15(3).
- 5. Iqbal, M. Z., & Babcock, B. A. (2016). Transmission of Global Commodity Prices to Domestic Producer Prices: A Comprehensive Analysis.
- Tankosic, J. V., & Stojsavljevic, M. (2014). EU common agricultural policy and preaccession assistance measures for rural development. Ekonomika poljoprivrede, 61(1), 195.
- Vasile, A. J., Andreea, I. R., Popescu, G. H., Elvira, N., & Marian, Z. (2016). Implications of agricultural bioenergy crop production and prices in changing the land use paradigm—the case of Romania. Land Use Policy, 50, 399-407.
- Vietoris, V., Kozelová, D., Mellen, M., Chreneková, M., Potclan, J. E., Fikselová, M., ... & Horská, E. (2016). Analysis of Consumer Preferences at Organic Food Purchase in Romania. Polish Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences, 66(2), 139-146.

1.2. CIRCULAR ECONOMY MODEL AS A RESULT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT¹

Olja Munitlak Ivanović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is to point out the importance of the circular economy. In order to get from a linear economy to a circular concept, it is necessary to develop ethical and ecological awareness and then shape it into legal regulation. The concept of sustainable development is the basis for the development of a circular economy. Respecting the principle of sustainability implies intragenerational and intergenerational justice. After production, the treatment of waste is a fundamental difference between the linear and the circular concept,

METHODOLOGY

Methodology used in this paper is characteristic for this type of research, especially in field of social sciences. To show the development of ethical awareness and social responsiveness by period, author used a combination of comparative and historical analysis. Descriptive analysis was used to present theoretical approach or concept (sustainable development, linear economy, circular economy). Induction and deduction were used in order to conclude how ethical and ecological awareness influence the development of an optimal economic model. In this paper, a schematic approach was used in order to clearly visualize the differences between these concepts and to point their most significant characteristics.

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² PhD, Senior Research Associate, e-mail: olja.ivanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Although at first the model of linear economy seems to be an optimal growth model, the results showed that this model is more expensive and in long-term unsustainable, which is in line with the set hypothesis. Initially it affects the decline in raw material prices, employment growth and living standards, but in long-term it is unsustainable due to resource constraints. When it is treated after production or consumption in a circular economy, it becomes clear that after recycling waste it can re-enter the production process and influence the growth of competitiveness.

IMPLICATIONS

The research has shown that in Serbia there are indications of a more serious approach to the circular economy and its implementation in practice. This work could be useful for policy makers to intensify efforts at the local level. At the same time, the paper explains to managers the advantages of introducing the circular concept of the economy because it has a long-term impact on the growth of competitiveness of enterprises, due to the reduction of raw material and energy prices.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Although the circular economy is beginning to talk more intensely, the general public is not familiar with its advantages and the necessity for introducing this kind of production from the micro level to more. The simplicity of displaying and comparing the current and desirable production model is the main significance and original value of this paper. By spreading awareness among the population, entrepreneurs and policymakers, this model coulde enter into practice, raising competitiveness at micro and macro levels.

KEY WORDS

Circular economy, linear economy, sustainable development, ecological and ethtical responsibility

REFERENCES

- 1. Gamon, A.R. (2016). Emplotting Virtue: A Narrative Approach to Environmental Virtue Ethics. Environmental Ethics, 38 (3), United States: Environmental Philosophy.
- 2. Ghisellini, P., Cialani, C., & Ulgiati, S. (2016). A review on circular economy: the extended transition to a balanced interplay of environmental and economic systems. A Journal of Cleaner Production. 114, 11-32.

- Kates, R.W., Parris, T.M., & Leiservitz, A.A. (2005). What is Sustainable development? Goals, Indicators, Values, and Practice. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development. 47(3),8-21.
- 4. Norton, B. (1984). Environmental Ethics and Weak Anthropocentrism, Environmental Ethics (5), 131-148.
- 5. Prekajac, Z. & Josifidis, K. (1999). Ekonomija i ekologija-ekološka ekonomija i/ili koncept održivog razvoja, Privredna izgradnja, 125-139.
- 6. Repetto, R., McGrath, W., Wells, M., Beer, C., & Rossini, F. Authors. (1989). Wasting Assets: Natural Resources in the National Income Accounts, Washington D.C., USA: World Resources Institute.
- 7. World Commission on Environment and Development, Our common future, Oxford ; New York, Oxford University Press, 1987.

1.3. ECONOMIC POLICY RESPONCES TO CLIMATE CHANGE¹

Petar Mitić²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Slobodan Cvetanović³

Faculty of Economics, University of Niš, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The relationship between climate change and economy allows policymakers to understand the environmental impact on the economy with all its' implications. The objectives of this paper are to present climate change trends, to show the history of climate change negotiations and how economic policies responded to climate change. The paper analyses ecological taxes, tradable permits, standards, subsidies and technological development as some of the economic policy responses to climate change.

METHODOLOGY

For the purposes of this paper, a methodology used for research is characteristic for social and interdisciplinary sciences. These are primarily the methods of analysis and synthesis, deduction, desktop and historical research of reports, conference briefs, scientific papers and scientific studies, with the additional analysis of quantitative and qualitative data.

RESULTS

The results clearly indicate that economic policies have significantly responded to climate change, and they still do on a daily basis. A significant number of international conferences and negotiations, from local to global level, is a clear

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² Research Assistant, e-mail: petar.mitic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ Full Proffesor, e-mail: slobodan.cvetanovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

evidence of the importance of the economic policy reactions to current environmental issues. The analysis indicates that the use of economic instruments for solving environmental problems, in the broadest sense, has a positive contribution to solving climate change problems.

IMPLICATIONS

Climate negotiations have a significant impact on economic policies. Consequently, economic policies have a significant impact on the resolution of climate change problems. The importance of economic instruments designed to tackle climate change is evident and suggests that economic and environmental policy makers should continue to work and address climate change issues.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper provides a systematization of climate change negotiations and how economic policies responded to climate change. Furthermore, it analyses preventive and adaptive measures that can be used to tackle climate change. Finally, the systematization of instruments derived from different economic policy decisions has been carried out, which are directly directed to solving environmental problems.

KEY WORDS

Economic policy, climate change, climate negotiations, economic instruments

REFERENCES

- 1. Cvetanović, S., Ilić, V., Despotović, D., & Nedić, V. (2015). Knowledge economy readiness, innovativeness and competitiveness of the Western Balkan countries. Industrija, 43(3), 27-53.
- Djukic, M., Jovanoski, I., Ivanovic, O. M., Lazic, M., & Bodroza, D. (2016). Cost-benefit analysis of an infrastructure project and a cost-reflective tariff: A case study for investment in wastewater treatment plant in Serbia. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 59, 1419-1425.
- 3. Farmer, J. D., Hepburn, C., Mealy, P., & Teytelboym, A. (2015). A third wave in the economics of climate change. Environmental and Resource Economics, 62(2), 329-357.
- 4. Grubb, M. (2014). Planetary economics: energy, climate change and the three domains of sustainable development. Routledge.
- 5. Harris, J. M., & Roach, B. (2017). The economics of global climate change. Global Development And Environment Institute Tufts University.

- 6. Mitić, P., Munitlak Ivanović, O., & Zdravković, A. (2017). A cointegration analysis of real GDP and CO2 emissions in transitional countries. Sustainability, 9(4), 568.
- Munitlak Ivanović, O., Mitić, P., & Raspopović, N. (2014). Fiskalni prihodi i ekonomska uloga ekoloških poreza u održivoj ekonomiji. Ecologica: nauka, privreda, iskustva, 21(75), 375-378.
- Munitlak Ivanović, O., Mitić, P., & Raspopović, N. (2015). Klimatske finansije: instrument globalne klimatske politike. Ecologica: nauka, privreda, iskustva, 22(79), 541-545.
- 9. Paris Agreement—Key Elements. European Commission Climate Action. Available online: http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/international/negotiations/paris_en
- 10. Roberts, D. (2016). A global roadmap for climate change action: From COP17 in Durban to COP21 in Paris. South African Journal of Science, 112(5-6), 1-3.
- 11. Sredojević, D., Cvetanović, S., & Bošković, G. (2016). Technological Changes in Economic Growth Theory: Neoclassical, Endogenous, and Evolutionary-Institutional Approach. Economic Themes, 54(2), 177-194.
- 12. Stern, N. H. (2007). The economics of climate change: the Stern review. Cambridge University press.

1.4. IMPACTS OF SUSTAINABILITY AND CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORTING

Aleksandra Tošović-Stevanović¹

Faculty of Business Studies, John Naisbitt University, Serbia

Vladimir Ristanović²

Faculty of Business Economics and Entrepreneurship, Serbia

Tijana Koprivica³

Delta Holding, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Based on the results of Sustainable Growth Report of a large company in Serbia, the paper aims to present the possibilities of applying sustainable growth for improving business operations of companies. Consequently, they promote global sustainability and past experience in this field, as well as the frameworks of the establishment of sustainable growth set by global organizations.

METHODOLOGY

The reports on sustainable growth of Delta Holding have been made according to the guidelines of the internationally recognized Global Reporting Initiative methodology and audited by an independent audit company KPMG at the request of the company. The report comprises business operations of Delta Holding in Serbia. It contains all the relevant information on the improvement of economic, environmental, social aspects of business that stakeholders identified as the key features to the development of the company and society in general.

To understand the expectations of stakeholders, the company conducted a survey in 2015 based on representative sample of 50 external and 30 internal stakeholders. The respondents assessed the impact of corporate and socially responsible activities of the company in relation to: economic results, legal

¹ Associate Professor, e-mail: aleksandra.tosovic.stevanovic@gmail.com

² Associate Professor, e-mail: vmristanovic@gmail.com

³ Chief Business Sustainability Officer, e-mail: tijana.koprivica@ deltaholding.rs

regulations, internal procedures and the code of conduct, business strategy, health and safety of its employees, environment and the reputation of the company.

RESULTS

The results of the survey showed that internal stakeholders regarded quality development, the quality and safety of products and employees to be the most important aspects of sustainable growth. As for external stakeholders: development of high quality and safe products and services, appropriate marketing and support to marginalized groups. In general, there is a low level of social responsibility in Serbia, and frequently stakeholders recognize the importance of certain areas after passing laws.

IMPLICATIONS

If modern companies which operate in international market place more emphasis on sustainable growth, those companies have a better position in the market. However, the higher goals of sustainable growth, the more obstacles there are to overcome in business operations. Therefore, the expectations of external and internal stakeholders differ a lot, which is why it is necessary to analyse thoroughly the impact of corporate social responsibilities.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Taking into account that the results should be viewed in relation to the awareness of a society regarding corporate responsibility as well as the level of market development, the paper presents the results of Delta Holding. Additionally, the assessment of the significance of the aspects of sustainable growth for the company's operations and stakeholders was analysed, based on which there is a clear outline of the areas that are recognized as strategic investments of the company.

KEY WORDS

Corporate social responsibility, Sustainable Growth Report, business improvement, global sustainability

REFERENCES

- 1. McWilliam, A., Siegel, D. (2001), Corporate Social Responsibility: A Theory of the Firm Perspective, The Academy of
- 2. Carroll, A. The pyramid of corporate social responsibility: Toward the moral management of organizational stakeholders,
- Russo, M. V., & Fouts, P. A. 1997. A resource-based perspective on corporate environmental performance and profitability. Academy of Management Journal, 40: 534-559
- 4. OECD (2012) Green Growth and Developing Countries
- 5. Management Review, Vol. 26, No. 1 (Jan., 2001), pp. 117-127
- 6. Business Horizons Volume 34, Issue 4, July–August 1991, Pages 39-48
- 7. Vlada RS (2015) Strategija razvoja energetike Republike Srbije do 2025. godine sa projekcijama do 2030. godine, Beograd
- 8. http://www.deltaholding.rs/odrzivi_razvoj/princip_poslovanja.160.html
- 9. https://www.globalreporting.org/standards
- 10. https://www.unglobalcompact.org/

1.5. FIFTY SHADES OF GREEN – WHAT PALES THE FINAL COLOUR OF GREEN SOLUTIONS?

Andrea Szalavetz¹

IWE HAS, Budapest, Hungary

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of the paper is to find the reason(s) of the widely observed phenomenon that some apparently environmentally friendly solutions fail to bring about the expected benefits, or at least, the benefits remain much smaller than predicted.

METHODOLOGY

The applied research method is a review of the business and environment literature combined with insights from the science and engineering literature. This combination allows us to illustrate our arguments with real-life examples. The applied data gathering method combined purposeful sampling with a snowball technique of data gathering. Data analysis drew on the method of constant comparison, implying a simultaneous collection and analysis of the qualitative data. We contrasted the findings in studies included in later stages of data gathering with the framework that emerged in the previous rounds, so as to reinforce or refine the emerging conceptual framework.

RESULTS

As a result of our inductive theory building exercise, five key concepts have been identified regarding the reasons of the pitfalls associated with environmental sustainability-oriented interventions. Ill-defined system boundaries, trade-offs, together with interconnections among resources and environmental impacts and problem shifting are among the key explanatory factors of below-the expected results. Further, false assumptions and a strong contextuality of best practices also overshadow the outcomes of sustainability-oriented interventions.

¹ E-mail: szalavetz.andrea@krtk.mta.hu

IMPLICATIONS

The study demonstrates that sustainability-oriented interventions are often burdened with illusory beliefs. Environmental sustainability issues are multifaceted and systemic: a quest for simplification and manageability often results in problem-shifting, energy penalty and other unintended consequences. This requires caution (e.g. adoption of life cycle perspective and consideration of interconnections) both by policy-makers devising incentives and by practitioners.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

To the author's knowledge, this paper represents the first attempt to review and synthesise the pitfalls associated with a number of environmental sustainability-oriented interventions.

KEY WORDS

Environmental sustainability, systems thinking, unintended consequences, problem-shifting, trade-offs

REFERENCES

- 1. Adams, R., Jeanrenaud, S., Bessant, J., Denyer, D., & Overy, P. (2016). Sustainabilityoriented innovation: a systematic review. International Journal of Management Reviews, 18(2), 180-205.
- 2. Aragón-Correa, J. A., & Rubio-Lopez, E. A. (2007). Proactive corporate environmental strategies: myths and misunderstandings. Long Range Planning, 40(3), 357-381.
- Byggeth, S., & Hochschorner, E. (2006). Handling trade-offs in ecodesign tools for sustainable product development and procurement. Journal of Cleaner Production, 14(15), 1420-1430.
- Carrillo-Hermosilla, J., Del Río, P., & Könnölä, T. (2010). Diversity of eco-innovations: Reflections from selected case studies. Journal of Cleaner Production, 18(10), 1073-1083.
- 5. Haffar, M., & Searcy, C. (2017). Classification of trade-offs encountered in the practice of corporate sustainability. Journal of Business Ethics, 140(3), 495-522.
- 6. Hahn, T., Figge, F., Pinkse, J., & Preuss, L. (2010). Trade-offs in corporate sustainability: you can't have your cake and eat it. Business Strategy and the Environment, 19(4), 217-229.
- Huesemann, M. H. (2001). Can pollution problems be effectively solved by environmental science and technology? An analysis of critical limitations. Ecological Economics, 37(2), 271-287.
- 8. Korhonen, J. (2005). Industrial ecology for sustainable development: Six controversies in theory building. Environmental Values, 14(1), 83-112.

- 9. McMahon, J. E., & Price, S. K. (2011). Water and energy interactions. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 36, 163-191.
- 10. Nugent, D., & Sovacool, B. K. (2014). Assessing the lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions from solar PV and wind energy: A critical meta-survey. Energy Policy, 65, 229-244.
- 11. Van den Bergh, J., Folke, C., Polasky, S., Scheffer, M., & Steffen, W. (2015). What if solar energy becomes really cheap? A thought experiment on environmental problem shifting. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 14, 170-179.
- 12. Williams, A., Kennedy, S., Philipp, F., & Whiteman, G. (2017). Systems thinking: A review of sustainability management research. Journal of Cleaner Production, 148, 866-881.

1.6. ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPORTANCE OF MULCHING WITHIN THE URBAN AREAS OF LARGE CITIES OF REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Slobodan Popović¹

JKP Gradsko Zelenilo Novi Sad, Serbia

Slobodanka Jovin² Business School, Novi Sad, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Local governments and cities of the Republic of Serbia must develop the ecological-economic approach especially as imminent actual convergence of the Republic of Serbia with the EU countries. To make this work the authors used the documents public company founded by the city of Novi Sad. It has been operating in the market of Novi Sad and wider since 24.11.1962. Last bringing into line organization is done on the basis of the Decision of the City of Novi Sad, which was published in the Official Journal of the City of Novi Sad number 29/2005 and 53/2008.

METHODOLOGY

The research provides the answers to three key research questions:

Does the experience of the relevant company for landscaping, maintenance of green areas in the Republic of Serbia can be applied to a wider area of the Republic of Serbia?

Does the application of new procedures in the green areas, local governments mean new costs by taxpayers?

Does the use of mulch in urban conditions means the realization of benefit to the population?

¹ PhD, e-mail: slobodan.popovic49@gmail.com

² PhD, e-mail: dani-neusatz@hotmail.com

In this sense, the paper we use methods of investigation techniques on the basis of tests relevant top management companies in the Republic of Serbia. The focus was on acquiring acceptably general belief that the application is not a standard method of maintenance of greenery can be economically acceptably. In this paper recalculating the average value of planting and maintenance of greenery with the use of mulching and the Republic of Serbia, as, were performed at the mean rate of the National Bank of the Republic of Serbia as of 05.12.2016., compared to EUR 1 = 123.17 dinars.

RESULTS

There is a constant need for innovation of existing models of raising green areas.

Using the mulching model to a better and environmentally sound manner with small investment, we achieve better results in growing the desired plant species after planting (up to 50%). The model presented in this paper has many economic advantages compared to the classic approach. According to the classical model of greening green urban islands on boulevards and other narrow places per m² costs taxpayers about $3 \in$, while using the mulching per m² costs about $2 \in$, which represents a decrease of about 52%.

IMPLICATIONS

Finding new methods of treatment and maintenance of green areas of cities is of great importance to the residents of the state. The results of our research will be useful for future research related to the implementation of the new economicecological model for the maintenance of greenery in cities.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This field of interest is becoming increasingly popular among researchers. Therefore, it is not surprising that numerous studies emphasize the importance of a multidisciplinary approach (Chan et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007; Fisher et al., 2010; Dinu 2011; Popovic, 2014). The results in our study clearly show that the application of a new way to maintain green areas in cities has its economic justification and the positive effect by taxpayers.

KEY WORDS

Mulch, the economic and ecological impact, urban surfaces

REFERENCES

- 1. Boanca P.I., A. Dumitras, E. Laczi. (2014). Integrated System in Landscaping Design and Landscape Ecology: Simplicity or Complexity?, ProEnvironment 7, 46–52.
- 2. Cantino, V. (2009). Korporativno uptravjanje, merenje performansi i normativna usaglašenost sistema internih kontrola, Data Status, Beograd.
- Chan R.Y.K. and Lau L.B.Y. (2004). The effectiveness of environmental claims among Chinese consumers: Influences of claim type, country disposition and ecocentric orientation. Journal of Marketing Management, 20(3), 273-319.
- 4. Cowart O. and Goldsmith E. (2007). The influence of consumer desision-making styles on online apperel consumption by college students, International Journal of Consumer Studies, 31(6), 639-647.
- 5. Damodaran, A. (2007). Korporativne finansije: teorija i praksa, Modus, Podgorica.
- 6. Dancea L., Mazare V., Nita L., Gaica I., Merce L. (2013). What is Good Ecological Restoration?, ProEnvironment 4, 285-288.
- 7. Davis J.J. (1993). Strategies for environmental advertising. The Journal of Consumer Marketing, 10(2), 19-36.
- Dinu V. (2011). Corporate Social Responsibility Opportunity for Reconciliation between Economical Interests and Social and Environmental Interests. Amfiteatru Economic, XIII (29), 6-7.
- 9. Fisher C.E., Chin L. and Klitzman R. (2010). Defining Neuromarketing: Practices and Professional Challenges. Harv Rev Psychiatry, 18(4), 230-237.
- 10. Hort D., Cantor M., Buta E., Husti A. (2013). Control of Soil Erosion on Slopes by Using Dendrological pecies, ProEnvironment 6, 499-502.
- 11. Lee N., Broderick A.J. and Chamberlain L. (2007). What is 'neuromarketing'? A discussion and agenda for future research. International Journal of Psychophysiology, 63, 199-204.
- 12. Northouse, P. (2008). Liderstvo, Data Status, Beograd.
- Official Journal of the City of Novi Sad number 29/05, http://www.skupstinans.rs/latinica/sluzbeni-list/category/15-2015 (retrieved 06.12.2016)
- Official Journal of the City of Novi Sad number 53/08, http://www.skupstinans.rs/latinica/sluzbeni-list/category/15-2015 (retrieved 06.12.2016)
- 15. Popović S. (2014). Socio-ekonomski faktori ograničenja razvoja agrara, Feljton, Novi Sad, pp. 90-96.
- Popović S., Eremić-Đođić, J., Grublješić Ž., Mijić R., Novaković S. (2014). Unconventional marketing in agricultural enterprises, XXII International Conference Ecological Truth, Ecolst, 14 Bor, Serbia, 342-347.
- Popović S., Tošković J., Grublješić Ž. (2014). Environmental-Economic Model of Developing Composters in Parks, Protected Areas and City Limits in the Republic of Serbia, ProEnvironment 7, 213–217.
- 18. Williams, C. (2010). Principi menadžmenta, Data Status, Beograd.

Endnotes:

- Official Journal of the City of Novi Sad number 29/05, http://www.skupstinans.rs/latinica/sluzbeni-list/category/15-2015 (retrieved 06.12.2016)
- Official Journal of the City of Novi Sad number 53/08, http://www.skupstinans.rs/latinica/sluzbeni-list/category/15-2015 (retrieved 06.12.2016)

1.7. THE INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS GROUP ON CLIMATE CHANGE – A CASE STUDY FOR ECOLOGICAL RESPONSIBILITY¹

Slobodan Rakić²

Faculty of Business Economics, Educons University, Sremska Kamenica, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) is a nongovernmental organization which was formed by the group of Institutional Investors in order to collaborate on climate change. Their mission is to provide member institutions with a collaborative platform to encourage public policies, investment practices, and corporate behavior that address long-term risks and opportunities associated with climate change. Objective of this paper is to present the scope of IIGCC activities and their impact.

METHODOLOGY

Methodology used for this paper is standard for social sciences which is based on case description and qualitative research in general. Through content analysis, author examines official annual reports, journal and conference papers and other materials that is published by IIGCC, different authors relevant to the field and authors previous work.

RESULTS

Results of this study show that IIGCC is a unique organization in the field of Climate Change dedicated to Institutional Investors. The contribution of IIGCC to the fight against climate change is through guidelines created exclusively for institutional investors which related to the fight against climate change. The first set of instructions was issued in 2010, while the revision of the instructions was

¹ This paper is a part of research project III 43010 (Modulation of antioxidative metabolism in plants for improvement of plant abiotic stress tolerance and identification of new biomarkers for application in remediation and monitoring of degraded biotopes) which is financed by the Ministry of education, science and technological development of the Republic of Serbia.

² Assistant Professor, e-mail: rakic@educons.edu.rs

made and issued in May 2016. Future research should be based not only on information gathering but on quantifiable impact data related to the guidelines.

IMPLICATIONS

This paper is designed to help institutional investors that they, through best practice, implement IIGCC guidelines and follow tackling climate change as a rising problem. Also, academics and researchers that are connected to the sustainable development, especially in financial sector, can use these findings to help close theoretical gap that exists in this field.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

One of the most important facts about the analysis of IIGCC is that the organizations represents over 18€ trillion in assets and consists out of 140 members in Europe and that this is one of the first papers dealing with the organization and analysis of their work. High impact institutions are underrepresented in the literature and before quantitative analysis of their impact by academics and researchers it is highly important to work on qualitative analysis and to gather as much qualitative information as possible.

KEY WORDS

Institutional investors, climate change, sustainable development, finance

- Busch T., Lehman N., Hoffmann Volker H.(2012). Corporate Social Responsibility, Negative Externalities, and Financial Risk: The Case of Climate Change, Tinbergen Institute Discussion Paper, No. 12-102/IV/DSF40. Retrieved from https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/87499
- 2. Institutional Investors Group for Climate Change (2016). Annual Report. Retrieved from http://www.iigcc.org/files/publication-files/2016_Annual_Report_FINAL.pdf
- 3. Institutional Investors Group for Climate Change (2016). Annual Report. Retrieved from http://www.iigcc.org/
- Network of the Global Investor Coalition on Climate Change (2003). 3rd Annual Report on Actions and Progress. Retrieved from http://www.iigcc.org/files/publicationfiles/2013_Global_Investor_Survey_Report_Final.pdf
- Rakić S. (2017). "Examination of the effects of Corporate Social Responsibility on the Profitability of the Banks in the European Union". Doctoral thesis. Faculty of Business Economics, Educons University, Vojvode Putnika 87, Sremska Kamenica, Republic of Serbia.

- Rakić S., (2017) "International Programs and Initiatives for the Regulation of Corporate Social Responsibility in the Financial Sector", Conference Proceedings, International Conference of Economic Sciences (6; Kaposvár; 2017), ISBN: 978-615-5599-41-5, Publisher: Kaposvar University, Faculty of Economic Sciences, Hungary
- Rakić S., Mitić P., Raspopović N. (2012) "Applying the concept of "Green" in finance and banking", Scientific Journal: Business Economics, ISSN: 1820-6859, Vol. 11, No. 2, 2012, Pages: 167-182, UDK 330.34:502, ISBN 1820-6859, Publisher: Faculty of Business in Services, Educons University;
- 8. Sullivan R. (2014). Climate Change: Implications for Investors and Financial Institutions. Available at SSRN: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2469894

1.8. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT INDEX OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Marija Jović¹

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Sustainable development is a relatively new and emerging area of theory and practice. In addition, sustainable development has become an increasingly important topic among professionals as well as among researchers in the past few years. However, this concept still lacks a thorough and encompassing explanation across a variety of scientific disciplines and areas of business. Many people still do not have a clear understanding of this concept. This paper strives to present different indicators included in the concept of sustainable development.

METHODOLOGY

This paper provides an overview of the sustainable development indicators defined by Sustainable Society Foundation (SSF). All 21 indicators are integrated in the Sustainable Society Index (SSI). The measured indicators are divided into seven different categories, namely: Basic needs, Personal development and health, Well-balanced society, Natural resources, Climate and energy, Transition, and Economy. These categories are further grouped into three dimensions of sustainable development: Social wellbeing, Environmental wellbeing, and Economic wellbeing (Adams, 2006; Dyllick & Hockerts, 2002; Jovic & Novcic, 2106). Human wellbeing and Environmental wellbeing represent our goals, while Economic wellbeing is not a goal in itself, it is a condition to achieve Human and Environmental wellbeing (SSF, 2014).

RESULTS

The indicators of sustainable development and their value for the Republic of Serbia in 2016 are listed below (SSF, 2014): Human Wellbeing (8.2):

- Basic Needs (9.9)
- Personal Development and Health (7.8)

¹ PhD, e-mail: marijaj@fon.rs

• Well-balanced Society (7.1)

Environmental Wellbeing (5.2):

- Natural Resources (6.6)
- Climate and Energy (4.4)

Economic Wellbeing (2.6):

- Transition (3.5)
- Economy (2.2)

IMPLICATIONS

The presented results indicate that the Republic of Serbia has the highest score in the Human Wellbeing dimension (8.2), meaning that the people in Serbia are able to fulfill their basic needs, achieve personal development and health, and live in a well-balanced society. Also, the score of this dimension is far higher than the world score (6.4). Environmental Wellbeing dimension is at a lower level (5.2), indicating that Serbia is halfway to full sustainability in natural resources and climate and energy. This value is approximately equal to the world score (4.8). The worst situation is with the Economic Wellbeing dimension (2.6), which is a result of transition and economic issues. Also, this value is far lower than the world score (4.6), and even lower than the scores of neighboring countries such as Croatia, Montenegro, Macedonia etc. These results should provide a good basis for the Government and other relevant institutions to make further decisions and take actions to ensure Human, Environmental, and Economic Wellbeing of the Republic of Serbia.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The SSI presents a integrative concept, that could be used in interpreting the concept of sustainable development, as well as for the assessment of nations' development towards sustainability in its broad sense: Human, Environmental and Economic Wellbeing (SSF, 2014). Also, it allows us to compare different countries, as well as change in indicators for one country over a specific time. Finally, SSI can be used to simulate the effects of different actions on human and economic growth without compromising environmental wellbeing (SSF, 2014).

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, Sustainable Society Index, Human Wellbeing, Environmental Wellbeing, Economic Wellbeing, Republic of Serbia

REFERENCES

- Adams, W. M. (2006). The Future of Sustainability: Re-thinking Environment and Development in the Twenty-first Century. The Future of Sustainability. Gland, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-4908-0
- Dyllick, T., & Hockerts, K. (2002). Beyond the business case for corporate sustainability. Business Strategy and the Environment, 11(2), 130–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.323
- 3. Jovic, M., & Novčić, B. (2106). Marketing and sustainable development. In XV International Symposium SYMORG 2016. Zlatibor. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-

84903795123&partnerID=40&md5=cbee67b3bb686a501232a5067803ff98

4. SSF. (2014). Sustainable Society Index. Retrieved from http://www.ssfindex.com/ssi/

1.9. POSSIBILITIES FOR IMPROVING ECOEFFICIENCY AND GROSS REBOUND EFFECT: A CASE STUDY FOR BSEC MEMBER STATES

Snežana Radukić¹

Faculty of Economics, University of Niš, Serbia

Dušan Perović²

PhD student at Faculty of Economics, University of Niš, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Although increased use of natural resources is important for increasing the overall efficiency of natural resources, the intensity of natural resources use is very high and it is very close to critical level. The paper examines the discrepancy between the potential decrease of natural resources use, as an effect of increased efficiency and actual use. The aim of research is to analyze the use of natural resources in the Black Sea Economic Cooperation (BSEC) member states, the environmental impact of the natural resources and factors that have impact on the use of natural resources. The analysis involves 1995 -2015 period. Through analysis direct flow of energy and materials will be discovered and also their impact on environment, which will be important in order to find proper solutions for high intensity of natural resources use.

METHODOLOGY

The analysis will begin with the short theoretical approach of the study and with literature review in order to present the problem and aims of research. After that, statistical approach will be implemented and the paper mostly relies on the statistical approach to the problem. Since there are 12 countries that are members of BSEC, panel data will be implemented with the focus on the fixed effects model. Data that were involved in research were based on Ehrilich and Holdern equation I = PAT, where population (P), affluence (A) and technology (T) impact on environment will be analyzed. In presented equation technology is

¹ PhD, e-mail: snezana.radukic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

² MSc, e-mail: bokaperovic@yahoo.com

important factor since it represents ecoefficiency. Due to its importance, several other factors that have impact on ecoefficiency will be analyzed in order to see how ecoefficiency can be improved in the case of BSEC member states. The analysis of ecoefficiency factors will include correlation and linear regression analysis in order to see how different kind of social-economic factors have impact on ecoefficiency. After the brief discussion of results, some recommendations will be presented in order to solve the efficiency problem.

RESULTS

Results of the research will show how different social-economic indicators have impact on environment and if natural resources are used efficiently. Since all of BSEC member states are developing countries, the use of natural resources in these states is extremely high which leaves consequnces to the environment. Energy consumption is very high in all these states, as well as energy is being used very irrational with a very low investments in renewable energy although many of analyzed states have significant reserves of renewable resources. Results will implicate future direction of energy investments for BSEC member states, which is important in order to improve either energy intensity or ecoefficiency.

IMPLICATIONS

Results from paper will have significance in structuring future environmental and energy policies of BSEC member states, whose implementation is still based on fiscal aspect. It is right time for all analyzed states to turn around to the sustainable development concept in order to rearrange their current environmental policies and to be competitive on the global level. Paper will show what are the obstacles of implementing sustainable processes in developing countries and what changes can be made in order to reduce huge exploitation of the natural resources. In the future it will be important not to waste resources at every cost and their effective use will be top priority.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

In the environmental economics there are just few detailed research about environmental issues in this part of Europe, since the environment issue is still not the priority for BSEC countries. In fact there were no detailed analysis of sustainable development process in BSEC region with proper recommendation to the environmental problems. This paper provides detail analysis of the natural resources use and their impact on ecoefficiency which can help in structuring

sustainable solutions for BSEC countries. There are many factors that have impact on the ecoefficiency and it is good to be familiar with them so future strategies and analysis can provide even better solutions to the environmental problems and create much better and healthier place to live.

KEY WORDS

Ecoeffiency, natural resources, rebound effect, BSEC, energy use, sustainability concept, correlation analysis, linear regression analysis

- 1. Berkhout, P.H.G, Muskens, J.C, Velthuijsen, J.W (2000). Defining the rebound effect. Energy policy 28, 425-432.
- 2. Boons, F (2009) Creating Ecological Value, Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Callan, S. J., Thomas, M.J (2013). Environmental Economics & Management: Theory, Policy and Applications. South – Western, Mason.
- 4. Ehrlich, P.R, Holdren. J.P. (1971). Impact of population growth, Science 171, 1212 1217.
- 5. Endres, A. (1994). Environmental Economics Theory and Policy, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 6. Frieman, E. (2002.). No Limits. The 20th century Discource of Economic Growth. Doctoral Thesis. Department of Historical Studies. Umea University, Sweden.
- Greening, L.A, Greene, D.L, Difligio, C.(2000). Energy efficiency and consumption the rebound effect survey. Energy policy 28, 389-401.
- Jevons, W. S (1865). The Coal Question: An Inquiry Concering the Progress of the Nation and the Probable Exhaustion of our Coal – mines, (Third Edition 1906). Macmillian & Co, London.
- Kageson, P (1997). Growth versus the Environment IS there a Trade-off? Doctoral Dissertation. Department of Environmental and Energy System Studies. Lund University, Sweden.
- 10. Perović, D., Radukić, S. (2017). An Impact of Renewable Resources on energy intensity in the Republic of Serbia, Ecologica, 24(85), 33-38.
- 11. Radukić, S. (2012). Ekonomski aspekti zastite zivotne sredine Republike Srbije u svetlu pravne regulative. Teme, 36(2), 643-662.
- Radukić, S., Popović, Z., Radović, M. (2014). Optimisation of Economic and Environmental Goals by Multicriteria Analysis Models. Strategic Management, 19(2), 33-40.
- 13. Sadorsky, P. (2013). Do urbanization and industrialization affect energy intensity in developing countries? Energy Economics 37, 52-59.
- 14. Siebert, H. (1981). Economics of Environment Theory and Policy. Springer, Berlin.
- 15. Solow, R.(1993). An Almost Practical Step toward sustainability. Resources Policy View 19, 162-172.

- 16. Vasić, S. (2004). Uloga drzave u neutralisanju ekoloskih eksternih efekata, Ekonomski fakultet, Niš
- Vehmas, J., Luukanen, J., Kavioja, J. (2004). Technology development versus economic growth – ana analysis of sustainable development. EU-US seminar: New Technology Foresight, Forecasting & Assesment Methods – Seville 13-14 May 2004.
- Wackemagel, M., Linares, A.C, Deumling, D., Schultz, N.B, Sanchez, M.A.V, Falfan, I.S.L. (2000). Ecological footprint In: Loh, J. (Ed.), Living Planet Report. World Wide Found for Nature (WWF).
- Weisz, H., Krausmann, F., Amann, C., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K.H., Hurbacek, H., Fischer- Kowalski, M. (2006). The physical economy of the European Union,: cross country comparison and determinants of amterial consumption. Ecological Economics 58, 676-698.
- 20. Zdravković, D., Radukić, S. (2012). Institutional Framework for Sustainable Development in Serbia. Montenegrin Journal of Economics, 8(3), 27-37.

1.10. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL COMMUNITIES: ECOLOGICALLY (IR)RESPONSIBLE APPROACH

Vladan Joldžić¹

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Ana Batrićević²

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Vera Stanković³

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Nikola Paunović⁴

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia and PhD candidate, University of Belgrade, Faculty of Law

OBJECTIVES

This research provides an insight into negative environmental impacts of technological and industrial development causing the pollution of eco-mediums, with focus on local communities in Serbia. It delivers a critical analysis of national and international legislation pertinent to sustainable development and environment protection on local level, accompanied by suggestions to improve current state reaction to ecologically irresponsible behavior in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

Content analysis was used to explore official reports on current state of environment in Serbia. It provided information about major environmental issues in local communities and about the entities whose ecologically irresponsible conduct caused these problems. Content analysis was also applied on the statistics about the number of reported, accused and condemned perpetrators of criminal offences against environment. It was applied in order to estimate the phenomenology, and scope of criminal offences against environment and to

¹ PhD, Principle Research Fellow, e-mail: vladanj@eunet.rs

² PhD, Research Fellow, e-mail: abatricevic@yahoo.com

³ MsC, Research Assistant, e-mail: vera.batanjski@iksi.ac.rs

⁴ Research Intern, e-mail: dzoni925@gmail.com

assess the quality of state reaction to ecologically irresponsible activities in Serbia. Doctrinal legal research method was used to analyse the provisions of international and national legislation relevant to the protection of environment in the context of sustainable development. Comparative legal research method was applied to examine representative international legal provisions that can be considered guidelines for the improvement of national legislation.

RESULTS

Unsustainable technological development produces negative environmental impacts affecting local communities in Serbia. National legislative framework for the prevention of ecologically irresponsible conduct is solid, but not completely harmonized with international standards. A small number of environmental criminal offences are reported and the imposed punishments are mild. There are few comprehensive reports on environmental issues in the context of sustainable development on municipal level.

IMPLICATIONS

The study suggests that policy makers, researchers and practitioners should dedicate much more attention to environmental protection when creating plans related to industrial, agricultural, and technological development and include the representatives of local communities in the entire decision-making process. It also implies that harmonization with international standards on ecologically sustainable development and more efficient enforcement of environmental legal provisions should be provided.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper highlights key environmental issues emerging as the results of ecologically irresponsible and unsustainable industrial, agricultural and technological development, affecting local communities in Serbia. It analyses legal mechanism for the prevention of these problems on national and international level. It also offers suggestions for the improvement of quality and efficiency of state reaction to environmentally irresponsible acts and its harmonization with international standards.

KEY WORDS

Sustainability, environment, ecology, local community, development, environmental law, environmental crime, responsibility

- Batrićević, A. (2014). Nepreduzimanje mera zaštite životne sredine u Srbiji: pojam, značaj i državna reakcija. In: Kron, L. (Ed.), Prestup i kazna: de lege lata et de lege feranda (pp. 219-235). Beograd: Institut za kriminološka i sociološka istraživanja.
- Bejatović, S., Šikman, M. (2014). Transnacionalni ekološki kriminalitet. In: Šikman, M. (Eds.), Zbornik radova, Međunarodna naučnostručna konferencija Suzbijanje kriminaliteta i evropske integracije, s osvrtom na ekološki kriminalitet, (pp. 13-31). Banja Luka: Visoka škola unutrašnjih poslova.
- 3. Bullard, R. (2001). Environmental Justice in the 21st Century: Race Still Matters. Phylon, 49(3-4), 151-171.
- 4. Čavoški, A., & Trajković, D. (2011). Analiza statističkih podataka o kaznenopravnoj zaštiti životne sredine u Srbiji. Beograd: OEBS Misija u Srbiji.
- 5. Đurđić, V., Jovašević, D. (2013). Krivično pravo: Posebni deo. Niš: Pravni fakultet Univerziteta u Nišu, Centar za publikacije.
- Eliot, L. (2012) Fighting Transnational Environmental Crime. Journal of International Affairs, 66(1), 87–104. prevod, Jelena Vignjević (2014) Borba protiv transnacionalnog ekološkog kriminaliteta. Bezbjednost – Policija – Građani, 10(1-2), 275-290.
- 7. European Commission. (2016). Commission Staff Working Document: Serbia 2016 Report Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Brussels: European Commission.
- 8. Holden, E., Linnerud, K., & Banister, D. (2017). The Imperatives of Sustainable Development. Sustainable Development, 25(3), 213-226.
- 9. Ignjatović, Đ. (2008) Kriminologija. Beograd: Pravni fakultet Univerziteta u Beogradu, Centar za publikacije.
- 10. Joldžić, V. (2002). Ekološko pravo, Opšti i poseban deo. Beograd: Savezni sekretarijat za rad, zdravstvo i socijalno staranje, Sektor za životnu sredinu.
- 11. Jovašević, D. (2009). Sistem ekoloških delikata ekološko kazneno parvo. Niš: Centar za publikacije Pravnog fakulteta u Nišu.
- 12. Kramer, R.C. (2012) Climate Change: A State-Corporate Crime Perspective. Retrieved from https://www.peacepalacelibrary.nl/ebooks/files/352205474.pdf, 26.07.2017.
- Lekić, D., & Jovanović, M. (2015). Izveštaj o stanju životne sredine u Republici Srbiji za 2014. godinu. Beograd: Ministarstvo poljoprivrede i zaštite životne sredine Republike Srbije, Agencija za zaštitu životne sredine.
- 14. Milutinović, S., & Jolović, A. (2010) Building Capacity for Sustainability: Strategic Planning Processes for Local Sustainable Development Practices in Western Balkan. Lex Localis Journal of Local Self-Government, 8(3), 293-311.
- 15. Nadić, D. (2011). Održivi razvoj i principi održivog razvoja u strateškim dokumentima Republike Srbije. Godišnjak fakulteta političkih nauka, 5(6), 213-224.
- 16. Pokrajac, S. (2009).Održivi razvoj i ekološka ekonomija kao poslovne paradigme. Škola biznisa, 6(4), 21-30.

- 17. Saha, D., & Paterson, R. (2008). Local Government Efforts to Promote the "Three Es" of Sustainable Development-Survey in Medium to Large Cities in the United States. Journal of Planning Education and Research, 28(1), 21-37.
- 18. Štrbac, N., Vuković, M., Voza, D., & Sokić, M. (2012). Održivi razvoj i zaštita životne sredine. Reciklaža i održivi razvoj, 5(1), 18-29.
- 19. United Nations Conference on Environment and Development. (1992). Agenda 21, Rio Declaration, Forest Principles. New York: United Nations. Retrieved from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/outcomedocuments/agenda21
- United Nations General Assembly. (2015).Transforming our world : the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, 21 October 2015, A/RES/70/1. Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html

1.11. INTERDEPENDENCE BETWEEN ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF SUSTAINABLE TOURISM DEVELOPMENT IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES

Jelena Petrović¹

University of Niš, Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Serbia

Snežana Milićević²

University of Kragujevac, Faculty of Hotel Management and Tourism in Vrnjačka Banja, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this research is to analyze the influence of tourism on ecological and economic sustainability in transition countries that are members of European Union. The objective of this paper is to quantify the interdependence between environmental quality and economic sustainability of tourism development in the observed countries.

METHODOLOGY

In the paper special attention is paid to the quality of natural environment as one of indicator that determine the value of the Travel & Tourism Competitiveness Index and the following indicators that determine level of economic tourism sustainability: Average expenditure per trip by categories, Average length of stay of tourists (nights) and Tourism flow - seasonality.

The following methods are used in the paper: multi-criteria methods such as VIKOR and FANMA method as well as correlation and cluster analysis method. VIKOR and FANMA method are used for quantify and compare the levels of economic sustainability of transition countries as tourism destinations. The correlation analysis method is used with aim of determining interdependence between the quality of natural environment and the level of economic sustainability. Using the cluster analysis the heterogeneity of the observed

¹ Associate Professor, e-mail: jelena25@pmf.ni.ac.rs

² Assistant Professor, e-mail: snezana.milicevic@kg.ac.rs

countries is examined from aspect of economic sustainability of tourism destinations and quality of their natural environment.

RESULTS

Results of the correlation analysis indicate that there is not a statistically significant correlation between the quality of natural environment and level of economic sustainability of tourism while the results of cluster analysis indicate that the countries with the lowest quality of natural environment record the lowest level of economic sustainability of tourism. Bulgaria records the lowest level of quality of natural environment.

IMPLICATIONS

The research results indicate that transition countries such as Bulgaria, Croatia and Hungary should be implemented measures with aim to increase the economic and ecological sustainability of tourism. Increasing the economic sustainability of tourism in transition countries would contribute to increasing the quality of their environment.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper presents a holistic approach of determining economic tourism sustainability in transition countries because multi-criteria methods allow quantification and comparison the levels of tourism sustainability based on a large number of indicators of sustainable tourism development.

KEY WORDS

Sustainability, transition countries, tourism development, quality of natural environment, multi-criteria method

- Chang, C.L., Hsu, C.H. (2009). Multi-Criteria Analysis Via the VIKOR Method for Prioritizing Land-Use Restraint Strategies in the Tseng-Wen Reservoir Watershed. Journal of Environmental Management, 90(11), 3226-3230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.04.020
- Demirel, N., Yucenur, N. (2011). The cruise port place selection problem with extended VIKOR and ANP methodologies under Fuzzy environment. Proceedings of the World Congress on Engineering 2011 Vol II WCE 2011, July 6-8, 2011, London, U.K.

- Dwyer, L., Forsyth, P., Spurr, R. (2016) Tourism economics and policy analysis: Contributions and legacy of the Sustainable Tourism Cooperative Research Centre. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 26, 91-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2016.01.003
- 4. European Commission (2013). The European Tourism Indicator System Toolkit for Sustainable Destinations, February 2013.
- European Commission (2015) Eurostat. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database (15.07.2017).
- 6. Jovičić, D., Ilić, T. (2010). Indikatori održivog turizma. Glasnik srpsog geografskog društva, 90(1), 277-305.
- Krstić, B., Petrović, J., Stanišić, T. (2015). Analysis of key indicators of economic dimensions of spas' sustainable development in Serbia as tourism destination. Ekonomika, 61(3), 61-71.
- Lee, T.H. Hsieh, H.-P. (2017) Indicators of sustainable tourism: A case study from a Taiwan's wetland. Ecological Indicators, 67, 779-787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.03.023
- Nickerson, N., P., Jorgenson, J., Boley, B.B. (2016) Are sustainable tourists a higher spending market? Tourism Management, 54, 170-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.11.009
- 10. Opricović, S., Tzeng, G. (2007). Extended VIKOR method in comparison with outranking methods. European Journal of Operational Research, 178(2), 514-529
- Paramati, S. R., Shahbaz, M., Alam, S. (2017) Does tourism degrade environmental quality? A comparative study of Eastern and Western European Union. Transportation Research Part D, 50, 1-13 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2016.10.034
- 12. Petrović, J., Milićević, S. (2017) Consumer protection as a factor of destination competitiveness in the European Union. Amfiteatru Economic, 19(45), 432-446.
- Petrović, J., Milićević, S., Đeri, L. (2017) The information and communications technology as a factor of destination competitiveness in transition countries in European Union, Tourism Economics, 23(6), 1353-1361. doi: 10.1177/1354816616653529
- 14. Pulido-Fernández, J.I., Andrades-Caldito, L., Sánchez-Rivero, M. (2015) Is sustainable tourism an obstacle to the economic performance of the tourism industry? Evidence from an international empirical study. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 23(1), 47–64
- Tanguaya, G.A., Juste, R., & Therrien, M.C. (2013). Sustainable tourism indicators: selection criteria for policy implementation and scientific recognition. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 21(6), 862–879. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2012.742531
- Torres-Delgado, A., Francesc López P. (2014). Measuring sustainable tourism at the municipal level. Annals of Tourism Research, 49, 122-137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2014.09.003
- 17. World Economic Forum. (2015) The Travel & Tourism Competitiveness Report 2015, Geneva, Switzerland. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org (20.07.2017).

 Xu, S., Mingzhu, L., Bu, N., Pan, S. (2017) Regulatory frameworks for ecotourism: An application of Total Relationship Flow Management Theorems. Tourism Management, 61, 321-330. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2017.02.012

1.12. ENVIRONMENTAL TAX REFORM AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Gordana Ilić-Popov¹

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Law, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of the research is to draw attention to the concept of the environmental tax reform (ETR), in light of significant environmental problems that countries have faced with. ETR means the introduction of "green taxes" and the removal of environmentally damaging subsidies. Instead of introducing "green taxes" on a case-by-case basis, focused on solving particular ecological problem, "greening" the entire tax system is better way to reduce pressure on the environment and enable future generations to realize their needs in using natural resources. The main objective refers to possible contribution that taxation could make to efficient achievement of ecological policy goals.

METHODOLOGY

The basic method is in-depth analysis of the available national sources concerning legal shaping of environmental protection, primarily from the point of view of the tax policy. The comprehensive survey of existing types of environmental economic instruments, as well as cross-country analysis of the implementation of the ETR in selected countries (e.g. Croatia, Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia) are undertaken, because all countries in the region of the Central and Eastern Europe have shown certain improvements in the environment protection since the end of the 1980s, also due to economic (fiscal) measures. But, different national experiences show that there is no unique "model" for the successful ETR, because of local political, economic and social conditions of each country. In the research, two approaches are co-ordinated: (1) examination of the legislation sources referring to the environmental protection, in the context of the existing tax systems, and (2) theoretical mapping of the significance of these legal solutions.

¹ Full Professor, e-mail: gordana@ius.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

ETR entails improvement of environment, raising public revenues, internalizing externalities and reducing unemployment. Pollution charges are dominant, while product taxes (on plastic bags, tires, batteries, refrigerators, etc.) are not often used, though measuring the emissions may be very difficult, in some cases even not feasible (e.g. contamination of water systems, because there is no single point of the pollution). The major function of green taxes are still raising revenues rather than providing incentives for both producers and consumers to change their behaviour towards a more eco-efficient use of resources.

IMPLICATIONS

ETR should be based on the revenue neutrality, i.e. there is a tax shift from labor and capital onto pollution and excessive use of natural resources. Thus, "doubledouble dividend" can be achieved, consisting of both improvement of environment and increasing employment, as well as decreasing the burden of taxes on labour and spur to innovations and sound competition. The integration of the ecological and fiscal policy should be recognized by the policy-makers. Environmental concern should be integrated into business.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Some obstacles to implementation of the ETR have been shown in the research:

- Impact on competitiveness (i.e. reallocation of production to countries with less strong environmental policies)
- Uncertainty regarding budgetary implications
- Lack of coordination between fiscal and ecological authorities
- Strong opposition against eco taxes by polluters.
- It has been pointed out in the paper that implementation ETR strategy requires:
- Good institutional framework, i.e. close coordination among Ministries of finance, environment, transport and agriculture
- Extensive consultations with key stakeholders (local authorities, industrial enterprises and NGO sector)
- Gradual implementation
- Careful design of green taxes.

KEY WORDS

Double dividend; environmental tax reform; externalities; green taxes; pollution charges; tax shifting

- 1. Cvjetković, C. (2014). Ekološke naknade kao instrument zaštite životne sredine. Zbornik radova Pravnog fakulteta u Novom Sadu. XLVIII (2).
- 2. Ecological Tax Reform (1996). Copenhagen: Danish Board of Technology.
- 3. Environmental tax reform in Europe: implications for income distribution (2011). EEA Technical report. (16). European Environment Agency.
- 4. Environmental Tax Reform: A Policy for Green Growth (2011). P. Ekins-S. Speck (eds). New York: Oxford University Press.
- 5. Environmental Taxes and Charges (1995). IFA Seminar Papers. (18d). The Hague-London-Boston: Kluwer Law International.
- 6. Environmental Taxes and Green Tax Reform (1997). Paris: OECD.
- 7. Environmental Taxes: Implementation and Environmental Effectiveness (1996). Environmental Issues Series. (2). Copenhagen: European Environment Agency.
- 8. Heine, D.-Norregaard, J. Parry, I.W.H. (2012). Environmental Tax Reform: Principles from Theory and Practice to Date, IMF Working Paper (WP/12/180).
- 9. Implementation Strategies for Environmental Taxes (1996). Paris: OECD.
- 10. Knaus, E.-M., Klarer, J. (1997). Poland: An Impessive System of Environmental Charges, Newsletter on Green Budget Reform. (1).
- 11. Mileusnić-Vučić, V. (1997). Ekonomski instrumenti u oblasti zaštite životne sredine. Pravni život. I (9).
- 12. Mooj, R.A.de-Bovenberg, L.A. (1998). Environmental Taxes, International Capital Mobility and Inefficient Tax Systems: Tax Burden vs. Tax Shifting, International Tax and Public Finance. 5 (1).
- 13. Nichols, A.L. (1984). Targeting Economic Incentives for Environmental Protection. London: Cambridge Mass.
- 14. Ribeiro, M.T. (1996). Environmental Taxes: Implementation and Environmental Effectiveness. Copenhagen: European Environment Agency.
- 15. Smith, S. (1993). "Green Taxes' The Scope for Environmentally-Friendly Taxes". in C. Sandford (ed.). Key Issues in Tax Reform. Fiscal Publications.
- 16. Sofia Initiative: Economic Instruments. Report on the Use of Economic Instruments for Environmental Policy in Central and Eastern Europe (1998). Arhus, Denmark: The Czech Republic and Regional Environmental Centre for Central and Eastern Europe.
- 17. Taxation and the Environment (Complementary Policies) (1994). Paris: OECD.
- Vojáček, O.-Klusák, J. (2007). "Environmental tax reform: qualitative research in the Czech Republic". in Resource productivity, environmental tax reform and sustainable growth in Europe.

1.13. SOLVING THE PROBLEMS OF RURAL AS ENVIRONMENTALLY DESIRABLE SEGMENT OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Vladan Joldžić¹

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Ana Batrićević²

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Vera Stanković³

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Nikola Paunović⁴

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia and PhD candidate, University of Belgrade, Faculty of Law

OBJECTIVES

The paper highlights key problems of rural development in the context of economic and environmental crisis, with focus on rural areas in Serbia. It emphasizes the link between sustainable rural development and environmental protection, particularly in the fields of organic agriculture, small organic farming and agro-eco tourism. It analyses legislative and strategic documents regulating this issue on universal, European and national level, making suggestions to improve their application.

METHODOLOGY

Content analysis was applied with the purpose to define sustainable rural development and key problems that appear in this field - worldwide as well as in rural areas in Serbia. It was also applied to analyse the relation between the success and sustainability of rural development on one hand and the effective conservation of environment and its elements such as air, water and soil on the

¹ PhD, Principle Research Fellow, e-mail: vladanj@eunet.rs

² PhD, Research Fellow, e-mail: abatricevic@yahoo.com

³ MsC, Research Assistant, e-mail: vera.batanjski@iksi.ac.rs

⁴ Research Intern, e-mail: dzoni925@gmail.com

other. Doctrinal legal research method was used to critically examine the provisions of legal strategic documents directly or indirectly related to sustainable rural development and environmental protection. Comparative legal research method was applied to explore the approaches to this issue in documents adopted on European level (by the European Union) as well as of those adopted by the United Nations

RESULTS

Obstacles for sustainable rural development include: uncultivated agricultural lands, soil pollution, insufficient irrigation or draining, agricultural lands fragmentation, poor infrastructure, inadequate tax policy, uncompleted restitutions, long probate proceedings and financially uncertain position of land-owners. Some of them have environmental impacts and can be resolved by suitable policy and legislation, strategic planning, environmental education and financial stimuli for green agriculture.

IMPLICATIONS

The paper has implications for legislators and policy makers in the areas such as: sustainable development, taxes, agriculture, green economy and environment protection to analyse more profoundly key problems of rural (as ecologically desirable) development and their linkage to nature conservation. When it comes to practice, it suggests which legal documents should be applied in order to achieve not only successful but also sustainable and environmentally acceptable development of rural areas.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper contributes to a better understanding of the relationship between sustainable rural development and environment protection, emphasizing the possibility to preserve nature and increase incomes of rural communities through green agriculture, small farm production and eco-tourism. It also states that current legislative framework provides preconditions for resolving the issues that might appear within, suggesting key steps for its future implementation.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, rural development, agriculture, eco-tourism, environment protection, ecology, green economy

- 1. Ashley, C., & Maxwell, S. (2001). Rethinking Rural Development. Development Policy Review, 19(4), 395-425.
- 2. Bogdanov, N. (2007). Mala ruralna domaćinstva u Srbiji i ruralna nepoljoprivredna ekonomija. Beograd: UNDP.
- Briedenhann, J., & Wickens, E. (2004). Tourism routes as a tool for the economic development of rural areas—vibrant hope or impossible dream? Tourism Management, 25(1) 71–79,
- 4. Ellis, F., & Biggs, S. (2001). Evolving Themes in Rural Development 1950s-2000s. Development Policy Review, 19(4), 437-448.
- European Commission, 2010. Europe 2020: A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. COM(2010) 2020 final. Retrieved from http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2010:2020:FIN:EN:PDF
- 6. Janković, S. (2009). Evropska unija i ruralni razvoj Srbije. Beograd: Institut za primenu nauke u poljoprivredi.
- 7. Knickel, K., & Renting, H. (2000). Methodological and Conceptual Issues in the Study of Multifunctionality and Rural Development. Sociologia Ruralis, 40(4), 512-528.
- 8. Marsden, T., Banks, J., Renting, H., & Van der Ploeg, J.D. (2001). The Road Towards Sustainable Rural Development: Issues of Theory, Policy and Research Practice. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 3(2), 75-83.
- 9. National Sustainable Development Strategy, Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia, No. 57/2008.
- 10. Pejanović, R. (2007). Dileme oko koncepta našeg agrarnog razvoja. Agroekonomika, 36(36), 6-24.
- 11. Pejanović, R. (2009). Razvojni problemi poljoprivrede Republike Srbije. Agroekonomika, 41-42(41-42), 5-23.
- 12. Pejanović, R. Vujović, S. (2008). Ruralni razvoj i agroturizam. Agroekonomika, 37-38(37-38), 5-14.
- Reardon, T., & Vosti, S. (1995). Links between Rural Poverty and the Environment in Developing Countries: Asset Categories and Investment Poverty. World Development, 23(9), 1495-1506.
- 14. Ristić, L. (2013). Strategijsko upravljanje održivim ruralnim razvojem u Republici Srbiji. Ekonomski horizonti, 15(3), 229-243.
- 15. Scheyvens, R. (1999). Ecotourism and the empowerment of local communities. Tourism Management, 20(2), 245-249.
- 16. Strategy of Agriculture and Rural Development of the Republic of Serbia for the Period between 2014 and 2024, Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia, No. 85/2014.
- UN General Assembly. (2015).Transforming our World : the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, 21 October 2015, A/RES/70/1, Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html

- 18. Van der Ploeg, J.D., Renting, H., Brunori, G., Knickel, K., Mannion, J., Marsden, T., . . . Ventura, F. (2000). Rural Development: From Practices and Policies towards Theory. Sociologia Ruralis, 40(4), 391-408.
- 19. Vasilevska, Lj. (2010). Rural development and regional policy conceptual framework. Facta Universitatis Series: Architecture and Civil Engineering, 8(3), 353-359.
- 20. Veselinović, J. (2009). Normativno regulisanje ruralnog razvoja kod nas i u uporednom pravu. Agroekonomika, 41-42(41-42), 53-68.

1.14. SMALL ENTERPRISES AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF ECO-TOURISM AS AN OPPORTUNITY FOR ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - THE CASE OF THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

Marija Magdincheva–Sopova¹

University Goce Delcev, Faculty of Tourism and Business Logistics, Gevgeija, Republic of Macedonia

Kiril Postolov²

Ss. Cyril and Methodius, University, Faculty of Economics, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Dejan Metojieski³

University Goce Delcev, Faculty of Tourism and Business Logistics, Gevgelija, Republic of Macedonia

Risto Elenov⁴

SS. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences and Food – Skopje

OBJECTIVES

Providing evidence in the potential that the Republic of Macedonia has in the process of development of the eco-tourism and confirmation of the basic hypothesis that the representation of SMEs in the eco-tourism sector, it is a development concept that enables achieving sustainable economic development. Small enterprises can create an appropriate eco-supply and take advantage of natural conditions.

METHODOLOGY

To collect, analyse and process data, a practical research was conducted to test the implementation and development of eco-tourism as an alternative form for tourism development, whether there is an opportunity and willingness for eco-

¹ Assistant Professor, PhD, e-mail: marija.magdinceva@ugd.edu.mk

² Full Time Professor, e-mail: kirilp@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

³ Associate Professor, PhD, e-mail: dejan.metodijeski@ugd.edu.mk

⁴ Assistant Professor, PhD, e-mail: risteelenov@agropin.com.mk

tourism development.

As The method of the research, a survey questionnaire was used. "Survey of the possibilities for development of eco-tourism and achieving sustainable economic development through small enterprises in the Republic of Macedonia". The questionnaire consists of 15 questions. The survey was conducted in 70 small enterprises that perform a certain tourist activity in the period from 01.01.2017. Until 30.06.2017 On the territory of the Republic of Macedonia.62 companies, out of the 70 small enterprises surveyed showed interest and answered questions from the questionnaire.

RESULTS

Research includes 62 companies. After research, conclusions are following:

- 1. Need for promoting eco-tourism
- 2. Inform enterprises about the benefits and the potential it has.
- 3. Enterprises responded that are not informed about the country's support for eco-tourism development.
- 4. Need for an institutional help and support in the process of ecotourism development.
- 5. Smaller portion of the respondents stated that they have the opportunity and capacity to invest in the eco-tourism sector.

IMPLICATIONS

Eco-tourism has the potential for rapid sustainable economic development; area linking environmental protection, local culture with revenue generation and job creation has high potential for expansion and achieving sustainable economic development. Its main goal is to create conditions for people to acquire knowledge about nature, historical and cultural characteristics of the region by maintaining integrity and encouraging the development of the local community.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Prerequisite for development of eco-tourism is the existence of the entrepreneurial initiative and culture in creating the offer in this sector and the various contents that are an integral part of the tourist offer. Opportunities for development of eco-tourism are perceived through an analysis of the situation in terms of the general demand and supply in this sector. To build a sustainable concept of development, it is necessary to create an appropriate business model and competitive strategy.

KEY WORDS

Eco-tourism, small and medium enterprises, nature, sustainable economic development, tourist's needs

- 1. Buckley, R. ed., (2004) Environmental impacts of ecotourism, CAB International.
- 2. Butcher, J. (2007) Ecotourism, NGOs and development: A critical analysis, Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- 3. Fennell, D. (2002) Ecotourism programme planning, CAB International.
- 4. Hill, J., Gale, T. (2009) eds., Ecotourism and environmental sustainability: principles and practice, Abingdon, UK: Routledge.
- 5. Honey, M., (2008) Ecotourism and Sustainable Development, Washington, USA: Island Press.
- 6. Maksin, M., et al. (2009) Menadzment prirodnih i kulturnih resursa u turizmu, Beograd, Singidunum: Srbija
- Suarez, F., Lanzolla, G. (2017,October 3). The half-truth of first mover advantage. Retrieved rom http:// static1.squarespace.com/static/5654eb6ee4b0e19716ec5a92/t/56be95b686db43b54 89cb0bd/1455330748283/2005_HBR_The+Half+Truth+of+First+Mover+Advantage.pd f
- 8. Wearing, S., Neil, J. (2009) Ecotourism: Impacts, potentials and possibilities, Oxford, UK: Butterorth-Heinemann.

1.15. WASTE ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT RECYCLING: SOCIOECONOMIC AND INSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN SERBIA

Mladen Krstić¹ University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia

Ksenija Denčić-Mihajlov² University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The contemporary consumer society creates a plethora of different kinds of waste. The goal is to create a modern integrated waste management system with a recycling process that provides implementation of modern Circular Economy (CE) as an alternative to current liner business model. In the area of Electrical and Electronic Equipment (EEE) product lifespan is decreasing rapidly which creates a large amount of Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment that puts WEEE under the fastest growing waste stream in the world. The purpose of this paper is to provide an overview of institutional framework and process of implementation of financial stimulation policy for recycling WEEE in Serbia as a part of global environmental, socioeconomics & business challenges for sustainable waste management.

METHODOLOGY

This paper is based on desk research for analyzing the past and present market situation, the current issues as well as future projects in the field of WEEE recycling. On a second step, in order to evaluate financial and socioeconomics impact that WEEE recycling has on environment itself, we realize a case study, i.e. we examine a company which is dealing with WEEE recycling business in Serbia. Furthermore, a number of interviews were conducted with other companies related to the waste business, support organizations, professional associations and official bodies to gather feedback from the field.

¹ M.Econ, e-mail: mlkrsta@gmail.com

² Prof. PhD, e-mail: ksenijadm@gmail.com

RESULTS

Serbia has a large comparative advantage in developing recycling industry in the field of WEEE due to large base end of life electrical and electronic equipment. Implementation of legislative system in combination with financial stimulation policy resulted in putting as much as possible WEEE into waste streams and substantial increasing of its collecting rate. That also ensures hitting the EU targets in the field of recycling e-waste mentioned in the EU Directive 2012/19/EU. Further development of the work will be towards measuring economics and social benefits from recycling WEEE which multiple overcomes pure financial profit. Main limitation lies in the fact that implementation of the new legislative system on waste management along with stimulation policy at the company perspective follows great difficulties because unlike EU, Serbian institutions are insufficiently matured and capable to adopt this regulations on expected level.

IMPLICATIONS

Practical experience in implementation of institutional framework at the company level, from which some stakeholders (policy makers, citizens, companies) will have important benefits and feedback is key added value of this paper. Implementation of the WEEE recycling process in current institutional ambient will provide precious feedback to the policy makers enabling them further developing of the legislative system. Citizens, on other hand will be more selfaware about socio-economic benefits from WEEE recycling and importance for environmental protection itself and they could active take a roll in the WEEE collecting process. Other companies will be able to overview the whole system of recycling and realize key problems in order to extend their future business in the field of WEEE recycling, and further towards sustainability.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper structurally presents the area of electrical and electronic equipment waste. It offers a short insight into understanding of the e-waste problem, its threats and challenges. The results of the research are expanding existing empirical literature in the field of analysis of the relationship between national competitiveness, development WEEE recycling industry and sustainable growth in developing countries and transition economies, focusing the analysis of this relationship in Serbia, where so far, this topic is poorly known and researched.

KEY WORDS

WEEE, sustainability, circular economy, recycling, financial stimulation

- Djordjević Lj., Radovanović N., Redžić N. (2017), Waste management in Republic of Serbia for period 2011-2016, Ministry of environmental protection, Republic of Serbia, available online: http://www.sepa.gov.rs/download/NRIZ_podaci/Otpad2011-2016.pdf_last accessed August 2017
- 2. European commission, (2012), Directive on waste electrical and electronic equipment WEEE, 2012/19/EU
- 3. European Commission, (2001), List of wastes, Commission Decision 2001/118/EC,
- 4. European Commission, (2008), Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC,
- Florin-Constatin M., Maria-Grazia G. (2016). *E-waste Management as a Global Challenge* (Introductory Chapter), E-Waste in Transition From Pollution to Resource, Dr. Florin-Constantin Mihai (Ed.), InTech, DOI: 10.5772/64596
- Krstić M., Milenković-Kerković T. (2017), Comparative analysis of Serbian and European legislation in the area of waste management, Economics themes 55 (2) 5, p. 217-241
- Kusch S., Lazarin L. (2015), E-Waste management framework and the importance of produces responsibility and proactive hackerspaces, The 4th Electronic International Interdisciplinary Conference, August, 10. - 14. 2015,
- 8. Law on Waste Management, (2009), "Official Gazette of RS" no. 36/2009.
- 9. Manuel Gonzalez X., Rodriguez M., Pena-Boquete Y. (2017), *The social benefits of WEEE re-use schemes. A cost benefit analysis for PCs in Spain, Waste Management*, Volume 64, p. 202-213
- Menikpura S.N.M., Hotta Y., Santo A. Sustainability Assessment of Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Recycling in Japan, (2014), 5th International Conference on Sustainable Build Environment 2014, Kandy, Sri Lanka, 12th to 15th December 2014
- 11. Menikpura S.N.M., Hotta Y., Santo A., Jain A. (2016), *Socio-economic and environmental attributes of Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) recycling in Asia*, International Journal of Science and Technology Special Issue Volume 2, Issue 1, p 183-199,
- Public competition for distribution of incentives no 401-00-1038/16-15, Ministry of environmental protection, Republic of Serbia, available online: http://www.eko.minpolj.gov.rs/wp-content/uploads/konkursi/JAVNI_KONKURS_-_RECIKLERI_ZA_2016.pdf, last accessed Avgust 2017
- 13. Rulebook on adjusted values of stimulation funds for reuse, recycling and utilization certain kinds of waste, (2017), "Official Gazette of RS", no. 43/2017,
- 14. S. Schwarzer, A.D. Bono, P. Peduzzi, G. Giuliani, and S. Kluser (2005), E-waste, the hidden side of IT equipment's manufacturing and use. UNEP Early Warning on

Emerging Environmental Threats No. 5, Switzerland, United Nations Environment Program,

- 15. Smol M., Avdiushchenko A., Kulczycka J. (2016), *Circular economy (CE) assumptions in WEEE management: Polish case study*, Economic and Environmental Studies, Vol.16 No.4 (40/2016), p 531-549,
- 16. Unger N., Beigl P., Hoggerl G., Salhofer S. (2017), The greenhouse gas benefit of recycling waste electrical and electronic equipment above the legal minimum requirement: An Austrian LCA case study, Journal of Cleaner Production 164, p.1635-1644,
- 17. Waste Management Strategy for the Period 2010-2019, (2009), "Official Gazette of RS" no. 29/2010.

1.16. ENVIRONMENTAL TAX AND COMPETITIVENESS OF EUROPEAN COUNTRIES THROUGH THE LENS OF PORTER HYPOTHESIS

Vladimir Nedić¹

School of Applied Engineering Studies, Kragujevac, Serbia

Slobodan Cvetanović²

Faculty of Economics – University of Niš, Serbia

Danijela Despotović³

Faculty of Economics – University of Kragujevac, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In accordance with Porter hypothesis (PH), the paper investigates empirical proofs of positive relation between current environmental taxes on the example of 34 European countries and their innovation capacity. The aim of the paper is to examine the connection between a) environmental taxes as one of the forms of strict ecological regulation in European countries and b) innovation capacity of the countries expressed by the values of sub-index GCI - Innovation and sophistication factors. In accordance with the proposed model this would imply testing of the socalled weak part of PH.

METHODOLOGY

In accordance with the defined objectives, the method of multiple regression analysis of panel data for European countries during the period 2006-2015 was selected. Namely, we wanted to see how a dependent variable (in this case innovation capacity of countries) changed under the influence of independent variables. (Transport taxes, Energy taxes and Other environmental taxes (Pollution, Resource etc.)).

¹ PhD, Professor of Applied Studies, Research Associate, e-mail: vnedic@kg.ac.rs

² PhD, Full-time Professor, e-mail: slobodan.cvetanovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

³ PhD, Associate Professor, e-mail: ddespotovic@kg.ac.rs

In order to achieve the quality research, two control binary variables, economic crisis and economic background (old market economies vs market economies after the transition period) were used in addition to independent and dependent variables

In order to obtain appropriate econometric model it is assumed that environmental taxes in one year have their positive effect on the level of innovativeness after a certain period, hence the original data are configured with the lag of dependent variable of 1 year.

RESULTS

The obtained results refer to the conclusion that environmental taxes have statistically significant but contradictory influence of the sub-index GCI - Innovation and sophistication factors in European counties during the selected time interval. While Energy taxes have a slightly negative influence, the other two independent variables a) Transport taxes and b) Other environmental taxes have somewhat stronger positive effect on the innovation component of global compettiveness as a dependent variable.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of research at this stage show that it is possible to generate the initial model for explanation of the effect of environmental taxes on the innovation potential of European countries. Nevertheless, this phase is characterised by a relatively small time series as well as a small granulation of the presented environmental taxes as independent variables. However, the results are preliminary and further research is necessary for generalisation of conclusions in accordance with PH. In addition, too wide dispersion of the variable Other environmental taxes demands additional calibration of the model in further research together with possible transformation of data. One of the main implications of this study is that the initial model can serve as a productive framework for further study of accuracy of PH at more detailed level.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The confirmation of this hypothesis can be significant for the creators of economic policies, especially in the light of current ecological and also wider aspirations towards the sustainable development (ecological policies in EU). Also, it specifically confirms the accuracy of the so-called weak Porter hypothesis that ecological regulations positively influence innovativeness, which is the first step in

testing of strong Porter hypothesis, which assumes that the innovativeness generated in this manner will eventually have positive effect on competitiveness.

KEY WORDS

Porter hypothesis, environmental tax, environmental policy, innovation, sophistication

- 1. Ambec, S., Cohen, M. A., Elgie, S., & Lanoie, P. (2013). The Porter hypothesis at 20: can environmental regulation enhance innovation and competitiveness?. Review of environmental economics and policy, 7(1), 2-22.
- Costantini, V., & Mazzanti, M. (2012). On the green and innovative side of trade competitiveness? The impact of environmental policies and innovation on EU exports. Research policy, 41(1), 132-153
- 3. Cvetanović, S., Nedić, V., Despotović, D. Internalizacija eksternih efekata kao posledica zagađenja životne sredine, Ecologica, 2017.
- 4. Despotovic, D., Cvetanovic, S., Nedic, V., & Despotovic, M. (2016). Economic, social and environmental dimension of sustainable competitiveness of European countries. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 59(9), 1656-1678.
- 5. Despotović, D., Cvetanović, D., Milićević, S. Rastući značaj očuvanja životne sredine u vođenju ekonomske politike. Ecologica, 2017.
- 6. Ederington, J. (2009). Should trade agreements include environmental policy?. Symposium:
- Ederington, J., & Minier, J. (2003). Is environmental policy a secondary trade barrier? An empirical analysis. Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue canadienne d'économique, 36(1), 137-154.
- Environmental tax statistics. (n.d.). Retrieved June 10, 2017, from http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Environmental_tax_statistics#Environmental_taxes_by_categor y. EuroStat.
- 9. Environmental Taxes, A Statistical Guide. 2013 edition (2013). Eurostat/European Union.
- 10. Esty, D. C., & Porter, M. E. (2005). National environmental performance: an empirical analysis of policy results and determinants. Environment and development economics, 10(4), 391-434.
- 11. GCI Country/Economy profiles. (n.d.). Retrieved August 04, 2017, from http://reports.weforum.org/global-competitiveness-index/country-profiles/
- 12. Gelübcke, W., John, P., & Stoever, J. (2016). Environmental regulation and sustainable competitiveness: Evaluating the role of firm-level green investments in the context of the Porter hypothesis.
- 13. International Trade and the Environment. University of Kentucky Libraries.

- 14. Jaffe, A. B., & Palmer, K. (1997). Environmental regulation and innovation: a panel data study. The review of economics and statistics, 79(4), 610-619.
- 15. Johnstone, N. (2005). The innovation effects of environmental policy instruments. In Indicator systems for sustainable innovation (pp. 21-41). Physica-Verlag HD.
- 16. Kemp, R., & Pontoglio, S. (2011). The innovation effects of environmental policy instruments—A typical case of the blind men and the elephant?. Ecological Economics, 72, 28-36.
- 17. Lanoie, P., Laurent-Lucchetti, J., Johnstone, N., & Ambec, S. (2011). Environmental policy, innovation and performance: new insights on the Porter hypothesis. Journal of Economics & Management Strategy, 20(3), 803-842.
- 18. Porter, Michael E., and Claas Van der Linde. "Toward a new conception of the environment-competitiveness relationship." The journal of economic perspectives 9, no. 4 (1995): 97-118.
- 19. Torres-Reyna, O. (2007). Panel data analysis fixed and random effects using Stata (v. 4.2). Data & Statistical Services, Priceton University.
- Your key to European statistics. (n.d.). Retrieved June 10, 2017, from http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-GQ-13-005. Environmental taxes - A statistical guide - 2013 edition

1.17. SOIL QUALITY AS A FACTOR OF ORGANIC FARMING – A CHANCE FOR THE LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Dragan Miletić¹

Foundation "Center for young talents", Novi Sad, Serbia

Violeta Mickovski Stefanović²

PSS Institut Tamiš, Serbia

Radmila Pivić³

Institute of Soil Science, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is to show how significant the quality of soil is as a factor of organic farming, and also to point out to the effects of organic agriculture on the local economic development. After processing available data on the size and distribution of arable and non-arable agricultural land per each region in the Republic of Serbia, the cost-effective methods of organic farming will be proposed with the activities that should be carried out in order to use the non-cultivated land for organic agriculture.

METHODOLOGY

The results obtained in the previous studies of the soil suitable for organic farming and the evaluation results for the soil pollution at some localities have been used. Preparatory activities included on-site visits and recording of potential locations to be observed. Available satellite images and GPS technology have been used for geospatial identification of the sampled soil and vegetation material. Field works included sampling of soil and vegetation material found at observed sites. Collected samples have been analyzed using laboratory methods from the available scientific literature. For data processing the basic descriptive statistics have been used, together with the correlation method. Cartographic data

¹ PhD, Research Associate, e-mail: dragan.miletic@cmt.edu.rs

² PhD, Research Assistant, e-mail: vikivms15@gmail.com

³ PhD, Principal Research Fellow, e-mail: rradmila@pivic.com

processing has been carried out by using GIS Arc View 8.3 software. Case studies have also been applied, as well as comparison methods, statistical data by relevant institutions, and absolute and relative numbers. The obtained results are presented in tabular and graphical forms.

RESULTS

The Republic of Serbia has significant areas of cultivated and non-cultivated agricultural land suitable for organic farming. On this land it is necessary to develop a methodology for the preparation of the soil for organic farming. At certain sites a different level of limitations has been observed so the measures have been proposed to monitor these areas with the objective to include them in future organic farming. These activities represented the basis for identifying the economic development opportunities for the local communities.

IMPLICATIONS

Proper soil management, which implies regular soil fertility control and adherence to the basic principles of fertilizers application and agro-technical practices, may maintain the productive capacity of the soil with minimal environmental impacts. Local economic development offices should raise the farmers' level of consciousness on the economic and ecological significance of organic farming and support their activities in order to achieve higher overall economic and social development of the local communities.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality value of this paper lies in its pointing out that agricultural producers and their local communities in the Republic of Serbia may with adequate farming practices applied to the soil being a factor of organic farming successfully achieve multiple goals – in productivity and ecology: development of organic crop growing and cattle breeding in such a way to preserve and improve the environment; as well as social and economic goals: to boost employment and improve the living standard of the local people. write here max 500 characters

KEY WORDS

Organic farming, local development, soil pollution

- Analiza lanca vrednosti organskih proizvoda specifičnih za Regione u Srbiji. (2012). Na adresi: http://www.serbiaorganica.info/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/P08SR-Analizalanca-vrednosti-organskih-proizvoda-specifičnih-za-Regione-u-Srbiji-GCPSRB001HUN.pdf
- 2. Babović, J. (2009). Menadžment farme u održivoj proizvodnji. Novi Sad: Fakultet za ekonomiju i inženjerski menadžment.
- 3. Bojović, J. (2010). Lokalni ekonomski razvoj priručnik za praktičare. Beograd: The Urban Institute.
- 4. Dugalić, G., Gajić, B. (2012). Pedologija. Kragujevac: Univerzitet; Čačak: Agronomski fakultet.
- 5. Grupa autora. (2013). Inventarizacija neobrađenih poljoprivrednih površina u Braničevskom i Pomoravskom okrugu. Beograd: Institut za zemljište.
- 6. Grupa autora. (1997). Metode istraživanja i određivanja fizičkih svojstava zemljišta. Novi Sad: JDPZ.
- 7. Grupa autora. (1971). Priručnik za ispitivanje zemljišta. Knj. 5, Metode istraživanja fizičkih svojstava zemljišta. Beograd: JDPZ.
- 8. Grupa autora. (2011). Projekat Ispitivanje prisustva opasnih i štetnih materija u poljoprivrednom zemljištu na najvažnijim ratarskim i povrtarskim kulturama u zoni autoputa E 75. Beograd: Institut za zemljište.
- 9. Grupa autora. (2013). Projekat Potencijali Republike Srbije u pogledu kvaliteta zemljišta za organsku poljoprivrednu proizvodnju. Novi Sad: Institut za ratarstvo i povrtarstvo.
- 10. Macura, A., ... et al. (2016). Knjiga preporuka Nacionalnog konventa o Evropskoj Uniji 2015. Beograd: Evropski pokret u Srbiji.
- 11. Miletić, D. (2015). "Uticaj sektorske pripadnosti na tokove gotovine preduzeća u Republici Srbiji". Revizor, 18(72): 91–102.
- Mickovski Stefanović, V., Ugrenović V., Bačić J. (2013). "The presence of heavy metals in the non-agricultural soil in the localities of "PETROHEMIJA" and "AZOTARA" in Pančevo". III Congress of Serbian Society of Soil Science, the First International Land-Water-Plant, 23–26. 09. 2013. Belgrade.
- Mickovski Stefanović, V., Ugrenović V., Bačić J., Ljubomirović D. (2013). "The results of fertility control in the municipality of Pančevo". U: XIII Congress of Serbian Society of Soil Science, the First International Land-Water-Plant, 23–26. 09. 2013. Belgrade.
- Stefanović-Mickovski, V., Filipović, V., Ugrenović, V., Glamočlija, Đ., Popović, V. (2012). "Mutacija toksičnih metala u vegetativnim delovima pšenice (The mulation of toxic metals in the vegetative parts of wheat)". Selekcija i semenarstvo (Selection and Seed Production), 18(2): 31–39.
- 15. Opštine i regioni u Republici Srbiji. (2015). Beograd: Republički zavod za statistiku.
- Strategija poljoprivrede, vodoprivrede i ruralnog razvoja Republike Srbije (2014– 2024): nacrt. (2013). Beograd: Ministarstvo poljoprivrede, šumarstva i vodoprivrede Republike Srbije.

- 17. Tanasijević, Đ. i sar. (1966). Pedološki pokrivač zapadne i severozapadne Srbije. Beograd: Institut za proučavanje zemljišta u Topčideru.
- 18. Popis poljoprivrede. Knj. 1 i Knj. 2. Na adresi: www.stat.gov.rs
- 19. "Pravilnik o dozvoljenim količinama opasnih i štetnih materija u zemljištu i vodi za navodnjavanje i metodama njihovog ispitivanja". (1994). Službeni glasnik RS, br. 23.
- WRB. (2014). "A framework for international classification, correlation and communication". World Reference Base for Soil Resources, Food and agriculture organization of the UN. Rome. Na adresi: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3794e.pdf

1.18. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INCOME AND ENVIRONMENT IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES: THE IMPORTANCE OF TAX POLICY MEASURES

Sabina Silajdžić¹

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Eldin Mehić²

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

OBJECTIVES

Specifically, an attempt is made to investigate the role played by environmental policy and its specific tax policy measures in comprehending the incomeenvironment relationship. in this paper we analyse the existence of Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC) hypothesis in the context of transition economies.

METHODOLOGY

The empirical analysis covers ten Central and Eastern European countries in the period from 1995 to 2013. The latest data on environmental taxes are available only from 1995. We used Prais-Winsten regression with panel-corrected standard errors as estimation strategy to account for heteroscedasticity and cross-sectional dependence in the data.

RESULTS

The results of this analysis provide rather weak evidence in support of an inverted U-shaped relationship between economic growth and the environment. We find evidence on the existence of inverse-U shaped relationship only when additionally controlling for the differences in the levels of technological sophistication across countries. The results are, however, not robust to different specification method, which seems compelling.

¹ PhD, e-mail: sabina.silajdzic@efsa.unsa.ba

² PhD, e-mail: eldin.mehic@efsa.unsa.ba

IMPLICATIONS

This paper advances our understanding on the underlying mechanisms that explain the relationship between income and pollution, by incorporating environmental policy factors that have not been empirically investigated in previous literature, and by reflecting econometric issues suggested to be taken into consideration in empirical investigation of the EKC hypothesis.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

We contribute to recent literature in two respects. First we study this relationship in an integrated and dynamic framework in which we take into account the effects of structural and technological change, and investigate their influence on pollution. Second, we refer to the sample of transition economies, and analyse the impact of environmental tax policy measures on CO2 emissions. Given this, the paper advances our understanding on the effectiveness of tax policy measures in curbing CO2 emissions, on which we have scarce empirical evidence.

KEY WORDS

Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC) Hypothesis, environmental policy, pollution, CO2 emissions, transition countries

- 1. Akbostancı, E., Türüt-Aşık, S., & Tunç, G. İ. (2009). The relationship between income and environment in Turkey: Is there an environmental Kuznets curve?. Energy policy, 37(3), 861-867.
- 2. Barros, F. G., Mendonca, A. F., & Nogueira, J. M. (2002). Poverty and environmental degradation: The Kuznets environmental curve for the Brazilian case. Department of Economics Working Paper Series, No. 267, Universidade De Brasília.
- Caviglia-Harris, J. L., Chambers, D., & Kahn, J. R. (2009). Taking the "U" out of Kuznets: A comprehensive analysis of the EKC and environmental degradation. Ecological Economics, 68(4), 1149-1159.
- 4. Costantini, V., & Martini, C. (2009). A modified environmental Kuznets curve for sustainable development assessment using panel data. International Journal of Global Environmental Issues, 10(1-2), 84-122.
- 5. Deschenes, O., Greenstone, M., & Shapiro, J. S. (2012). Defensive investments and the demand for air quality: Evidence from the nox budget program and ozone reductions (No. w18267). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- 6. Dutt, K. (2009). Governance, institutions and the environment-income relationship: a cross-country study. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 11(4), 705-723.

- 7. Galeotti, M., Lanza, A., & Pauli, F. (2006). Reassessing the environmental Kuznets curve for CO 2 emissions: a robustness exercise. Ecological economics, 57(1), 152-163.
- Liddle, B., & Messinis, G. (2015). Revisiting sulfur Kuznets curves with endogenous breaks modeling: Substantial evidence of inverted-Us/Vs for individual OECD countries. Economic Modelling, 49, 278-285.
- 9. Lleras-Muney, A. (2010). The needs of the army using compulsory relocation in the military to estimate the effect of air pollutants on children's health. Journal of Human Resources, 45(3), 549-590.
- 10. Silajdzic, S., & Mehic, E. (2016). Absorptive capabilities, FDI, and economic growth in transition economies. Emerging Markets Finance and Trade, 52(4), 904-922.
- 11. Silajdzic, S., & Mehic, E. (2017). The Impact of Environmental Taxes on Competitive Performance of Pollution-Intensive Industries Among Transition Economies: Evidence from Panel Analysis. In Financial Environment and Business Development (pp. 155-169). Springer International Publishing.
- 12. Walker, W. R. (2013). The transitional costs of sectoral reallocation: Evidence from the Clean Air Act and the workforce. The Quarterly journal of economics, 128(4), 1787-1835.
- 13. Wang, Y. C. (2013). Functional sensitivity of testing the environmental Kuznets curve hypothesis. Resource and Energy Economics, 35(4), 451-466.

1.19. RENEWABLE ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND CO² EMISSIONS: AN EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS OF EU-28 COUNTRIES

Sabina Silajdžić¹

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Eldin Mehić²

School of Economics and Business, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

OBJECTIVES

The main goal of this paper is to analyse the relationship between renewable energy consumption and CO^2 emissions in EU-28 countries.

METHODOLOGY

The empirical analysis covered 28 European Union countries in the period from 2004 to 2012. The principal variable of interest is share of energy from renewable sources in total consumption. We used fixed-effect panel data estimates with PCSE panel-corrected standard errors.

RESULTS

The empirical results show that renewable energy consumption decreases CO2 emissions. Overall, the empirical results support the hypothesis that there is a significant and negative effect of the use of energy gained from renewable sources and CO² emissions in European Union countries. All variables included in the models have the expected sign. The only exception is the environmental tax variable that has a positive sign. This could be because higher revenues from environmental taxes are not necessarily linked to higher tax rates and more likely with high consumption of lightly taxed goods.

IMPLICATIONS

The important policy implications that emerge from the empirical evidence of this study reflect on the importance of integrated support policy measures to enhance

¹ PhD, e-mail: sabina.silajdzic@efsa.unsa.ba

² PhD, e-mail: eldin.mehic@efsa.unsa.ba

production from renewable energy resources. Public support measures in this context do seem to pay off via promoting cleaner environment.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The results of this study reflect on the significant contribution to knowledge, since it provides econometric evidence on the relationship between renewable energy consumption and CO^2 emissions in EU-28 countries. To the best of our knowledge, the impact of renewable energy sources on CO^2 emissions on a full sample of EU28 countries has not been previously investigated.

KEY WORDS

Renewable energy consumption, pollution, CO2 emissions, EU-28

- 1. Abolhosseini, S., Heshmati, A., and Altmann, J. (2014). The effect of renewable energy Development on Carbon Emission Reduction: An Empirical Analysis for the EU-15 Countries. IZA Discussion Paper, 7989(1), 4-29.
- 2. Akella, A., Saini, R., and Sharma, M. (2009). Social, economical and environmental impacts of renewable energy systems. Renewable Energy, 34(2), 390-396.
- Amponsah, N., Troldborg, M., Kington, B., Aalders, I., and Hough, R. (2014). Greenhouse gas emissions from renewable energy sources: A review of lifecycle considerations. Renewable And Sustainable Energy Reviews, 39, 461-475.
- 4. Angelis-Dimakis, A., Biberacher, M., Dominguez, J., Fiorese, G., Gadocha, S., and Gnansounou, E. et al. (2011). Methods and tools to evaluate the availability of renewable energy sources. Renewable And Sustainable Energy Reviews, 15(2), 1182-1200.
- Arrow, K., Bolin, B., Costanza, R., Dasgupta, P., Folke, C., and Holling, C. et al. (1995). Economic growth, carrying capacity, and the environment. Science, 268(5210), 520-521.
- 6. Azhar Khan, M., Zahir Khan, M., Zaman, K., and Naz, L. (2014). Global estimates of energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions. Renewable And Sustainable Energy Reviews, 29, 336-344.
- 7. Chiu, C., and Chang, T. (2009). What proportion of renewable energy supplies is needed to initially mitigate CO2 emissions in OECD member countries? Renewable And Sustainable Energy Reviews, 13(6/7), 1669-1674.
- 8. Iqbal, M., Azam, M., Naeem, M., Khwaja, A., and Anpalagan, A. (2014). Optimization classification, algorithms and tools for renewable energy: A review. Renewable And Sustainable Energy Reviews, 39, 640-654.

9. Jägemann, C., Fürsch, M., Hagspiel, S., and Nagl, S. (2013). Decarbonizing Europe's power sector by 2050 — Analyzing the economic implications of alternative decarbonization pathways. Energy Economics, 40, 622-636.

Part II. GREEN ECONOMY AND VULNERABILITY OF ECONOMIC GROWTH: ECONOMIC PILLAR

2.1. INNER POTENTIAL AND BACKGROUND FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF SMALL CITIES

Viola Larionova¹

Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russia

Darko Vuković²

Geographical Institute "Jovan Cvijic" of Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The object of our research is Ekaterinburg agglomeration which includes one of the biggest Russian cities and its nearest city-satellites. All these cities are different in population, industry scale and level of socio-economic development. Most of them are old industrial cities. The crisis of old industrial areas caused by technological changes of the early 21st century, has led to the bankruptcy of their enterprises and population outflow from these cities, which still have considerable technical, industrial potential and significant natural and human resources.

METHODOLOGY

Urban agglomeration is a complex multicomponent dynamic system with different economic relations, transport and cultural bonds. It is stated in many international researches that highly urbanized area consists of one or few larger cities, which have additional advantages due to increasing returns to scale (Krugman 1991). Polycentric type of agglomerations is widely spread in Europe (Lisbon, Paris). The well-known agglomerations in Russia (Moscow, St.-Petersburg) were created on the basis of a rigid monocentric model.

Empirical studies have confirmed that certain number of small cities have significant agglomeration effects as well. According to Partridge (2008) small urban areas play a key role in the explanations of urban systems' development. The focus of the present research is to study agglomeration potential of small

¹ PhD, e-mail: viola-larionova@yandex.ru

² PhD, e-mail: vdarko@hotmail.rs

cities around Ekaterinburg and determine a possible form of Ekaterinburg agglomeration. To measure the level of agglomeration economies in small cities we used the Cobb-Douglas model, which allows estimating elasticities of supply of labor and capital in the cities (Lugovskyy 2003).

RESULTS

On the basis of official statistic data on municipal development we studied the time-dependences of socio-economic development indicators for all cities of Ekaterinburg agglomeration. We used the related indicators: labor per capita, volume of retail trade per capita, built residential area per capita etc. to make a comparative analysis of the cities and calculate an integrated rating for them. According to the calculation results we divided all cities into 3 groups. The first one contains two cities: Ekaterinburg and Zarechnyi which have shown the increasing returns to scale

IMPLICATIONS

What is more important to state is that Ekaterinburg agglomeration on the whole does not show agglomeration effects in spite of big population. It is the questions for our further study, but now we can state that the agglomeration of Ekaterinburg should be polycentric. The results of the research can be used by the cities' administrative bodies to find the most appropriate and effective form of interaction between municipalities. In the case of successful realization of this project, the experience can be successfully used in other regions of Russia.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Agglomeration effects can be observed at different levels of aggregation. Large cities provide greater opportunity for economies of scale, availability of quality human capital, cluster effects, innovation processes and knowledge spillover, but under certain conditions smaller cities can also achieve some of the effects of agglomeration and can play an important role in territory development.

KEY WORDS

Agglomeration, small cities, industrial cities, statistic analysis

REFERENCES

1. Krugman, P. (1991), Increasing Returns and Economic Geography, Journal of Political Economy 99, 483-499.

- Partridge, M., Rickman, D., Ali, K., Olfert., M. R. (2008). Lost in Space: Population Growth in the American Hinterlands and Small Cities, Journal of Economic Geography, 8, 727-757. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbn038
- Lugovskyy, V. (2003). Monopolistic Competition and Optimal Product Diversity with Heterogeneous Firms. Institute for Research in the Behavioral, Economic, and Management Sciences, Paper No. 1163, June 2003. Krannert graduate school of management, Purdue University West Lafayette, Indiana

2.2. ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT TAX FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL AGRIBUSINESS

Somai Miklós¹

Institute of World Economics, Centre for Economic and Regional Studies HA, Budapest, Hungary

OBJECTIVES

This paper tries to draw the outline of a new concept for product taxation ("ecological footprint tax" or EFT) whereby two of the main problems for millions of people in developed and semi-developed countries could, if not be solved, be at least mitigated: mass unemployment (especially in rural areas) and deterioration of the nature. The concept can be developed to cover the whole economy, but as a first experimental step, this paper suggests to introduce it in agriculture and food industry.

METHODOLOGY

The proposal for alleviating the above problems is based on the concept of ecological footprint, developed by UBC scholars in 1995. The essence of the concept is that it is possible to estimate how much ecologically productive land is needed for a defined population at a given technological level to support both the production of goods and services they consume and the assimilation of all their wastes sustainably. On further considering the matter and adopting a narrower version of the original concept, it is possible in theory to estimate how many global hectares are needed for the individual products (or services) to be brought throughout their entire lifecycle, from invention to degradation or recycling. Based on the above, it becomes possible for the tax system to undergo a radical change whereby the amount of the tax paid on goods and services would be proportional to their need in nature.

RESULTS

When determining the level of EFT, we have to resort to considerable simplification by considering only factors in strong correlation with ecological

¹ PhD, e-mail: somai.miklos@krtk.mta.hu

footprint. We take into account first, the geographical distance between the place of food production and consumption, by using arctan function; second, whether the product is organic or conventional, by dividing the result by a constant; and third, whether the product is transported by airplane or not, by multiplying the result by a constant.

IMPLICATIONS

The implications of the paper for policy makers are evident, as the proposed tax could boost local production and employment, reduce harm through transportation to nature, while conforming to the principle of social justice, and lowering the costs to the national health service. The new tax should be combined with the reduction of other taxes (e.g. VAT) which would enable local foodstuffs to be not only more competitive against imports, but also more affordable for customers.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

EFT would boosts preference for local food production without breaking WTO rules, ensure a fair allocation of tax charges (rich big-consumers having to pay much higher tax than low-polluter average people), and allow a healthier diet (as with local production there is no more need for the food products to be stuffed with preservatives). By only one measure (EFT) could be reached multiple goals (social, rural development, employment, environmental).

KEY WORDS

Eco-tax, local economy, employment, public health

- 1. Csutora, M., Tabi, A., & Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2011). A magyar háztartások ökológiai lábnyomának vizsgálata. (*Investigation of the Hungarian households' ecological footprint*)
- Frey, S., & Barrett, J. (2007, May). Our health, our environment: the ecological footprint of what we eat. In *International Ecological Footprint Conference, Cardiff* (Vol. 8, No. 10).
- 3. Jungbluth, N., Tietje, O., & Scholz, R. W. (2000). Food purchases: impacts from the consumers' point of view investigated with a modular LCA. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, *5*(3), 134-142.

- 4. Kerkhof, A. C., Nonhebel, S., & Moll, H. C. (2009). Relating the environmental impact of consumption to household expenditures: an input–output analysis. *Ecological Economics*, *68*(4), 1160-1170.
- 5. Pálfi, E. (2015). Az élelmiszer-ipari adalékanyagok által kiváltott tünetek (Symptoms caused by food additives). *Élelmezés* 2015/January-February
- 6. Rees, W., & Wackernagel, M. (1996). Urban ecological footprints: why cities cannot be sustainable—and why they are a key to sustainability. *Environmental impact assessment review*, *16*(4-6), 223-248.
- 7. Vetőné Mózner, Z. (2014). A fenntartható élelmiszer-fogyasztás lehetőségei. (Possibilities for sustainable food consumption) *Magyar tudomány*, *175*(6), 730-739.
- 8. Wackernagel, M., & Rees, W. (1998). *Our ecological footprint: reducing human impact on the earth* (No. 9). New Society Publishers.

2.3. ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT – THE ROLE OF GREEN MARKETING¹

Ivana Domazet²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Milica Kovačević³

Mediterranean University, Montenegro Business School, Podgorica, Montenegro

OBJECTIVES

All forms of business have (positive or negative) impacts on the environment. Companies, in addition to the rights to use renewable and non-renewable natural resources, must also have the obligations related to their use and protection of nature. Business operations should not be focused solely on profits, which means that companies have to be socially responsible and have to take care of the environment. The question is whether business can assume ecological and social responsibility and stay profitable at the same time? The aim of this paper is to show that this is feasible, and one of the ways to achieve it, and even benefit from this challenge, is to apply green marketing - a leverage that contributes to socially responsible business. The issue of sustainable development through green marketing, and generally through green economy, must be incorporated into the company's business strategy.

METHODOLOGY

Given that the paper deals with the analysis of the impact of green marketing on achieving sustainable development, the existing literature dealing with this issue is primarily analyzed. There is a significant number of articles and other papers on this topic, but they are mostly related to foreign markets. When it comes to Serbia

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² PhD, e-mail: ivana.domazet@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ MSc, e-mail: milica.kovacevic@unimediteran.net

and Montenegro, there are not many scientific papers in this area. There are sporadic studies of certain areas of green marketing application and activities that contribute to sustainable development, which are, in many cases, carried out by non-governmental and international organizations, and less by the scientific community. This paper aims to deepen the knowledge, as well as analyze the advantages and difficulties of implementing green marketing in achieving sustainable development. The empirical analysis in the paper is based on several aspects – where the position of the main subject in this area (consumers, companies and the state) was examined. For this purpose, the "meta" analysis was applied - that is, the results and conclusions of this paper were obtained using secondary sources of data from existing empirical researches. The aim of the paper is to give recommendations and examples of good practice of green marketing implementation in companies, and a case study analysis method.

RESULTS

Benefits of companies applying the concept of green marketing are multiple (creating a positive business image, promoting the concept of a socially responsible company, improving business efficiency, creating new market potentials and penetrating existing markets, etc.). These benefits can be viewed at a macro level as such action leads to sustainable development (e.g. through energy savings, reduced waste etc.). Compared to developed countries, consumers in developing countries have less ecological awareness, but there are also significant differences between them. For example, compared to other countries in the region, consumers from Montenegro are considerably less involved in environmentally responsible purchasing, and are not sufficiently informed how they can contribute to the preservation of the environment.

IMPLICATIONS

In spite of the global framework of the analysis, the focus of the work was on the operations of companies from Montenegro and the Western Balkans region, so that examples and recommendations can be of paramount importance for companies in Montenegro planning to incorporate an ecologically and socially responsible component into their business. The paper can also be used at faculties, in marketing and green marketing studies - theoretically and through case study analysis.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of the work is reflected in the analysis of the current literature and conducted researches in the fields of green marketing, sustainable development and their connection. A special contribution is in presenting a comparative analysis of Montenegro and the countries of the region, primarily in the area of ecological awareness of consumers. The added value is reflected in case study analysis and recommendations for green marketing application in an efficient way, which can contribute to improving business operations and sustainable development of the economy and society as a whole in the long run.

KEY WORDS

Green marketing, sustainable development, social responsibility, ecological awareness

- 1. Bhaskar H. L. (2013). Green Marketing: A Tool for Sustainable Development. International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management, 4 (6), 142-145.
- 2. Fowler A. R. and Close A. G. (2012). It aint easy being greed: Macro, Meso, and Micro Green Advertising Agendas. Journal of Advertising, 41 (4), 119-132.
- 3. Garg A. (2015). Green Marketing for Sustainable Development: an Industry Perspective. Sustainable Development, 301-316.
- 4. Gheorghiu A, Vidraşcu P.A. and Niculescu M.D. (2013). The Deveopment of the Ecomarketing, Green Performance and Corporate Responsibility in a Competetive Economy. Quality - Access to Success, p. 373.
- Gliedt T. and Parker P. (2007). Green community entrepreneurship: creative destruction in the social economy. International Journal of Social Economics, 34 (8), pp.538-553.
- 6. Jotanović S.R. (2017). Marketing sa društvenim ciljem i ekološki odgovorno ponašanje potrošača sa prostora bivše Jugolsavije (doktorska disertacija). Ekonomski fakultet, Subotica.
- 7. Mishra P. and Sharma P. (2014). Green Marketing: Challenges and Opportunities for Business. Management Edge, 7 (1), 78-86.
- 8. Ottman J. A. (2011). The New Rules of Green Marketing: Strategies, Tools, and Inspiration for Sustainable Branding. Greenleaf Publishing, UK.
- 9. Padhy N. and Vishnoi P. (2015). Green Marketing Mix and Sustainable Development. International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management, 34-37.
- 10. Saha A. and Briš P. (2013). Synchronization of Green Marketing Communication: A Strategic Approach. Multidisciplinary Academic Conference.

- Singh P, Singh R. and Sharma S. (2016). Emergence of Green marketing Strategies and Sustainable Development in India. Journal of Commerce & Management Thought, 7 (4), pp 693-710.
- 12. Smith D. and Darrin C. (2010). What to do about Sustainability: Applying The Green Imperative. Happi: Household & Personal Products Industry, 47 (1), p. 42.
- Sungchul C. and Alex N. (2011). Environmental and Economic Dimensions of Sustainability and Price Effects on Consumer Responses. Journal of Business Ethics, 104 (2), p. 269.
- 14. Tolušić Z, Dumančić E, Bogdan K. (2014). Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i zeleni marketing. Agroeconomia Croatica, 4 (1), 25-31.
- 15. UNDP (2015). Istraživanje o nisko-karbonskom turizmu u Crnoj Gori.
- 16. Wasik J. F. (1996). Green marketing management a global perspective. Blackwell Publishing, UK.
- Zaharia C., Zaharia I. and Tudorescu N. (2010). Ecological Economics, Sustainable Deveopment and Environmental Justice. Economics, Management, and Financial Markets, 5 (2), 297–303.
- 18. Zhang J. (2010). Green Marketing Strategy Analysis of Real Estate Based on Low-Carbon Economy. International Journal of Business & Management, 5 (12). p. 177.

2.4. SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING AND GENDER DIVERSITY – EVIDENCE FROM SERBIAN POLLUTERS

Goranka Knežević¹

Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

Vladan Pavlović²

University of Pristina, Faculty of Economics, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In this research we try to correlate whether gender diversity influence CSR reporting practice of Serbian heavy polluters. We contemplate that companies with more female members of supervisory board will show more detailed CSR information in their reports and on website. This paper is important for academicians, managers of those companies and policymakers especially in the light of new EU Directive 2014/95 that requires non-financial and diversity information to be published by large entities.

METHODOLOGY

As descriptive researchers we use content analysis to capture the data for the research. Content analysis is used to examine the content of CSR and board gender information in the website of Serbian polluters and their respective CSR reports (if published). To gather the data we formulate CSR index consisting of several variables used to measure CSR practice of Serbian companies. Content analysis is applied to gather the data for each variable used in the creation of CSR index and we express data in form of Likert scale or in form of dichotomous scale. This method is reliable because similar one used for the creation of CSR index by Montecchia, Giordano, Grieco (2016) on a sample of Italian companies. The same content analysis method is used to gather the data regarding number of female in the supervisory board. This information can be found in the website or in annual report (Management report specifically). Among statistical methods for this analysis we use simple linear regression and Pearson correlation statistics. Sample is composed of Serbian companies polluters from the polluters list of companies

¹ Associate Professor, e-mail: gknezevic@singidunum.ac.rs

² Full Professor, e-mail: vladan.pavlovic@pr.ac.rs

having some environmental conflicts (https://ejatlas.org/country-of-company/serbia)

RESULTS

In our research we believe that gender diversity of the Serbian polluters board of directors matters when dealing with CSR reporting issues. Other studies show that there is a high positive correlation between number of women in the board of directors and CSR. Research is not longitudinal by nature which is considered to be its primary limitation.

IMPLICATIONS

This research has implication on academicians, policymakers and managers of Serbian heavy polluters. Academicians may benefit from the research in respect that it shed some light on problem that women are more sensitive and emphatic towards sustainability issues. Policymakers may benefit in terms that imposing gender quotas to Serbian heavy polluters may enable them to show more environmental and social awareness. For the male managers, this research reveal that they can benefit from delegating CSR decisions to female members of the management team.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This is according to our knowledge first paper correlating gender diversity issues and CSR reporting in Serbia. The uniquness of this research is in sample itself. There are no papers trying to find the evidence of the existence of this relationship in Serbian big polluting companies. This paper shed some light on CSR issues by relating them to female board members and showing that the increase in the number of women in board will increase CSR reporting efficacy.

KEY WORDS

Gender diversity, CSR reporting

- Nadeem, M, Zaman, R., Saleem, I. Boardroom gender diversity and corporate sustainability practices: Evidence from Australian Securities Exchange listed firms, *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2017, 149, 874-885
- 2. Hyun, E. Yang, D., Jung, H., Hong, K. Women on Boards and Corporate Social responsibility, *Sustainability* 2016, 8, 300, 1-26

- Bear, S., Rahman, N., Post, C. The Impact of Board Diversity and Gender Composition on Corporate Social Responsibility and Firm Reputation, *Journal of Business Ethics* 2010, 97, 207–221
- 4. Harjoto, M., Laksmana, I., Lee, R. Board Diversity and Corporate Social Responsibility, *Journal of Business Ethics* 2015, 132, 641–660
- Boulouta, I. Hidden Connections: The Link Between Board Gender Diversity and Corporate Social Performance, *Journal of Business Ethics* 2013, 113, 185–197. DOI 10.1007/s10551-012-1293-7
- 6. Campbell, K. Minguez-Vera, A. (2008) Gender Diversity in the Boardroom and Firm Financial Performance, Journal of Business Etics, 83: po.435-451
- Carter, D.A., D'Souza, F., Simkins, B. J., W., Simpson, G. W. (2010) The Gender and Ethnic Diversity of US Boards and Board Committees and Firm Financial performance, Corporate Governance; An international review 18(5), pp.396-414

2.5. ORGANIC PRODUCT LABELLING: CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND IMPACT ON PURCHASING DECISION

Ivana Lečovski¹

Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Isidora Ljumović² Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is on one hand to analyse attitudes of the consumers towards the organic products and on the other to determine the level of confidence they have towards the legally established label for organic products. There are about 2,000 organic producers in Serbia and around 15,000 ha under organic crops with a tendency of growth due to the increasing demand on the domestic and foreign markets. In order to distinguish the organic product they must be marked with a specific label, which each country defines.

METHODOLOGY

This research uses questionnaires designed specifically to obtain customer-level data in order to evaluate their attitudes towards organic products and labelling. Having in mind identified constrains and literature review, we structured questionnaires that we used in the research. Questions included were stipulated in a way that allows statistical analysis. The questionnaire consisted of two parts. In the first part, respondents gave answers to the questions that determined their basic characteristics and identity. The second part of the questionnaire contained questions used to test their opinion about organic food and basic criteria when opting for groceries. We also tested whether consumers are willing to pay more for the organic products. Last part of the questionnaire tested the connection between organic labelling and confidence in grocery purchasing. Each question in questionnaire is given with concise explanation, in order to eliminate possible errors and ambiguities. Data analysis was performed using MS Office Excel and SPSS.

¹ MSc, e-mail: ivana.lecovski@gmail.com

² PhD, e-mail: isidora.ljumovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

Our results show that a large number of consumers (85.4%) think that the food is not safe for the consummation and they are ready to allocate more money to buy organic products due to their quality, safety and nutrition. Their basic criteria when opting for groceries is food composition, followed by recommendation and price. Only 2.5% of respondents value products based on trademark and organic labelling. This indicates a relatively small significance of organic labelling for consumers in the Republic of Serbia.

IMPLICATIONS

There is a lot of unfair competition and misuse of certain expressions in the product name that are offered on the market as healthy and organic but they have not undergone a rigorous process of control of competent institutions. This can mislead buyers in terms of quality and safety. The state has important role in the process of promoting organic products and raising awareness about it. Research in several countries has shown that trust in organic food labelling is the highest in countries with a significant state participation.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This research extends the scope of current consumer research about organic production in Serbia and provides new insight in the analysis of attitudes towards the organic products and the level of confidence in labelling system.

KEY WORDS

Consumer attitudes, organic products, organic production, organic certification process, national organic label

- 1. Bonnet, C., Bouamra-Mechemache, Z. (2016). Organic Label, Bargaining Power, and Profit-sharing in the French Fluid Milk Market. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 98(1): 113-133, January 1, 2016. Oxford University Press.
- 2. Cohrssen, J., Miller, H. (2016). The USDA's meaningless organic label. Regulation, Spring2016, Vol. 39 Issue 1, p24-27.4p. 1 Black and White Photograph.
- 3. Kjærnes, U., & Holm, L. (2007). What causes change in food consumption? Buying organic food in Denmark and not in Norway. Paper presented at the annual ESA conference 2007.

- 4. Hughner, R. S., McDonagh, P., Prothero, A., Schultz, C. J., II, & Stanton, J. (2007). Who are organic food consumers? A compilation and review of why people purchase organic food. Journal of Consumer Behavior, 6, 94–110.
- 5. Hjelmar, U. (2011). Consumers' purchase of organic food products. A matter of convenience and reflexive practices. Appetite 56 (2011) 336-344.
- 6. Honkanen, P., Verplanken, B., & Olsen, S. O. (2006). Ethical values and motives driving organic food choice. Journal of Consumer Behavior, 5, 420–430.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations (FAO) Priručnik za organsku proizvodnju – za poljoprivredne proizvođače, Projekat TCP/MNE/3201: Organska poljoprivreda u Crnoj Gori: Zajednička podrška malim proizvođačima u organskoj poljoprivredi, Podgorica 2011.
- Kim, R., Suwunnamek, O., Toyoda, T. (2008) Consumer Attitude towards Organic Labeling Schemes in Japan. Journal of International Food&Agribusiness Marketing Vol.20, issue 3, 2008. pp.55-71.
- 9. Laroche, M., Bergeron, J., Barbaro-Forleo, G.(2001). Targeting consumers who are willing to pay more for environmentally friendly products. Journal of consumer marketing, vol.18 No. 6 2001, pp.503-520, MCB University Press, 0736-3761.
- 10. Stojković, Lj., El Bilali, H., Berjan, S., Despotović, A.(2011). Protected Geographical Indications as a tool for valorising traditional and typical agro-food products and improving rural livelihoods in Serbia: Case of "Pirotski Kachkaval" cheese from Stara Planina region. Proceedings. 46th Croatian and 6th International Symposium on Agriculture, February 14-18, 2011, Opatija, Croatia.
- 11. FiBL Research Institute of Organic Agriculture. Activity Report 2016 Switzerland, Germany and Austria, www.fibl.org,
- 12. Paraušić V., Cvijanović D., Hamović V.(2008) Organska proizvodnja u Republici Srbiji: Analiza stanja i pravci razvoja, Ekonomika poljoprivrede, 4(339-432), 2008.
- 13. Spisak ovlašćenih kontrolnih organizacija za obavljanje poslova kontrole i sertifikacije u organskoj proizvodnji za 2017. godinu, Službeni glasnik RS, broj 96/16 od 2. decembra 2016. godine.
- 14. Pravilnik o dokumentaciji koja se dostavlja ovlašćenoj kontrolnoj organizaciji radi izdavanja potvrde, kao i o uslovima i načinu prodaje organskih proizvoda, Službeni glasnik RS, broj 88/16 od 28. oktobra 2016. godine.
- 15. Organic Agriculture Worldwide 2016: Current Statistics, Helga Willer and Julia Lernoud, Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL), Frick, Switzerland, BIOFACH 2016.
- Sonderskov, K.M., Daugbjerg, C. (2010). The state and consumer confidence in ecolabeling in Denmark, Sweden, The Unitef Kingdom and The United States. Agriculture and Human Values December 2011, Volume 28, Issue 4, pp 507-517.
- 17. Van Doorn, J., Verhoef, P. (2011). Willingness to pay for organic products: Differences between virtue and vice foods. Intern.J. of Research in Marketing 28 (2011) 167-180.

2.6. SMART INNOVATION CAPACITY: THE EXPERIENCE OF CROATIAN LARGE CITIES

Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović¹

The Institute of Economics, Zagreb, Croatia

Mislav Šagovac²

The University of Zagreb, the Faculty of Economics and Business, Zagreb, Croatia

OBJECTIVES

The research studies show that key decisions in Croatian large cities (defined as urban settlements with more than 35,000 inhabitants, as well as county centres) have mostly been made without much strategic consideration, being primarily reduced to setting ad hoc goals, activities and measures for their achievement. The objective of this research is to examine the implementation of the Smart City concept and to construct good indicators that describe local innovation capacity of Croatian large cities.

METHODOLOGY

To overcome the lack of strategic orientation in Croatian large cities, this research will follow the methodology developed by Giffinger's et al. (2007) under the European Smart Cities project. We will identify the most important indicators for measuring development of economy at Croatian large cities' level. Publicly available databases do not contain indicators for such measurement. The first task will be the collection of a set of data for 25 large cities from national and local sources for database formation. We will use web scraping techniques to collect publicly available data (data obtained from the Urban Audit database, the Croatian Bureau of Statistics data at city level, local database and interviews with experts in 25 Croatian cities, etc.) to measure indicators that represent the degree of development of economy at Croatian large cities' level in several dimensions: innovation, entrepreneurship, economic image and trademarks, productivity, flexibility of labour market and international integration. Finally, we will use 19

¹ PhD, e-mail: djurlina@eizg.hr

² PhD candidate, e-mail: mislavsagovac@yahoo.com

indicators to compare 25 Croatian large cities and to assess their comparative advantage in a wider international context.

RESULTS

Establishing a comparable dataset by cities through creation of indicators will give sources to analyse the role of Croatian large cities in smart specialization and make the comparison among Croatian large cities. We will provide an explanation for every city ranking by analysing the structure of our city-level data. All results will be available through a web application designed by authors of this research. We will also estimate city development index using principal component analysis, which will allow us to rank cities by the degree of economic development

IMPLICATIONS

The implications of this research, as a type of evaluation of local policies, should serve policy decision-makers in proposing decisions for the adoption of appropriate measures to promote smart, locally led development. This research will pave the way to future investigation through which we will measure five other dimensions of Smart City concept - smart people, smart governance, smart mobility, smart environment and smart living - aiming to emphasize the use of Smart City components for evidence-based monitoring of economic and social development of Croatian large cities.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

There are three main contributions of this paper. First, we will use web scraping techniques to collect, clean and harmonize annual data that are not usually available from national statistical institutions. Second, we will use the estimated index of economic development for every city. Third, our analysis and comparison of competitiveness of Croatian large cities will be made available through a web application that should encourage key decision-makers to use available information and apply it in preparation and implementation of their Smart City forward looking strategies.

KEY WORDS

Smart city, indicators, innovation capacity, large cities, Croatia

- 1. Anthopoulos, Leonidas G., 2017, Understanding Smart Cities: A Tool for Smart Government or an Industrial Trick? Cham: Springer.
- 2. Đulabić, Vedran; Manojlović, Romea, 2011, Administrative Aspects of Regional and Cohesion Policy in Croatia: In Search of a Better Coordination of Parallel Process. Croatian and Comparative Public Administration, 11(4), 1041-1074.
- 3. European Commission, Europe 2020 A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/european-semester/framework/europe-2020-strategy_en.
- 4. European Commission, The European Innovation Partnership on Smart Cities and Communities, https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/europeaninnovation-partnership-smart-cities-and-communities-general-assembly-2016.
- 5. European Commission, The Urban Agenda for the EU, http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/policy/themes/urban-development/agenda/.
- 6. European Commission and UN-HABITAT, The State of European Cities Report 2016. Cities leading the way to a better future, http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/sources/policy/themes/citiesreport/state_eu_cities2016_en.pdf.
- 7. Giffinger, Rudolf et al., 2007, Smart cities. Ranking of European medium-sized cities. Final report. Vienna: The Centre of Regional Science, Vienna University of Technology.
- 8. Johnson, Björn, 2008, Cities, systems of innovation and economic development, Innovation: Organization & Management, 146-155.
- 9. Jurlina Alibegović, Dubravka; Blažević, Ljiljana, 2010, Pokazatelji uspješnosti i upravljanje lokalnim razvojem: Primjer Fonda za obnovu i razvoj Grada Vukovara, Ekonomski pregled, 61(11), 631-665.
- 10. Jurlina Alibegović, Dubravka; Slijepčević, Sunčana, 2010, Uloga vijećnika u upravljanju i razvoju gradova u Hrvatskoj. Hrvatska i komparativna javna uprava, 10(2), 399-426.
- 11. Komminos, Nicos, 2002, Intelligent cities: Innovation, knowledge systems and digital spaces. London and New York: Routledge.
- 12. Maleković, Sanja; Puljiz, Jakša; Polić, Mario, 2007, Institutional Capacity for Regional Development in Croatia on the County Level, Croatian International Relations Review, 12(44/45), 139-148.
- 13. Perko Šeparović, Inge, 2006, Izazovi javnog menadžmenta. Dileme javne uprave. Zagreb: Golden marketing – Tehnička knjiga.
- 14. Petak, Zdravko, 2008, Policy pristup reformi javne uprave, u Pusić, Eugen (ur.), Hrvatska državna uprava: stanje i perspektive, Zagreb: Hrvatska akademija znanosti i umjetnosti, 155-169

2.7. AN INQUIRY INTO THE COMPETITIVENESS-RESILIENT GROWTH NEXUS

Srđan Marinković¹

University of Niš, Faculty of Ecoomics, Niš, Serbia

Marija Džunić² University of Niš, Faculty of Ecoomics, Niš, Serbia

Nataša Golubović³

University of Niš, Faculty of Ecoomics, Niš, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In this paper, we underline that a resilient economy should equally be able to prevent destabilizing forces to develop internally, as it is expected to cope with external destabilizing forces. More specifically, we address the issue of the lost international competitiveness of Southern Europe EMU countries trying to relate it to the wage-productivity developments. We also tackle the issue of the real convergence within EMU and why it seems to be lagging behind the real convergence across some other parts of the world.

METHODOLOGY

We start with differences of the concept of resiliency in natural and social systems, before we give a short review of causes of economic crises, that would help us to discuss the roots of ongoing economic crisis. Then we go on to explore theoretical and empirical regularities concerning the links between labour costs (labour productivity/compensation) and trade imbalances, with a special focus on the recent crisis in Southern Europe EMU countries. The empirical part of the paper is based on regression analysis.

¹ PhD, e-mail: srdjan.marinkovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

² PhD, e-mail: marija.dzunic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

³ PhD, e-mail: natasa.golubovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

RESULTS

The empirical analysis, based on recent data and international comparisons, indicates close ties between unit labour costs and trade imbalances, with a potential to explain the lost momentum in economic growth. By decomposing unit labour costs into labour productivity and labour compensation indicators we found the wage policy a factor that contributes to the lost competitiveness of Southern EMU countries vis-à-vis a group of large exporting countries.

IMPLICATIONS

The episode that we have studied here points out some policy fallacies. The first one is that ongoing monetary integration per se helps achieving pre-conditions necessary for creating one such integration, especially in terms of relative size of output shocks and their synchronization (Karras and Stokes, 2001). Secondly, it is a pitfall that adjustment mechanism that goes through divergent price and wage trajectories, if needed, will operate well (automatically) and at costs that societies readily accept.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper builds on contributions coming from the theory of economic crises and the theory of international competitiveness, within a novel framework of economic resiliency. The empirical part of the paper contains original calculations based on data from official sources (OECD). The paper also discusses main policy dilemmas and some policy options' implications.

KEY WORDS

National competitiveness, resilient growth, labour productivity, financial crises

- 1. Abdon A, Bacate M, Felipe J, Kumar U (2010) Product complexity and economic development. Working Paper 616. Levy Economics Institute of Bard College, Annandale-on-Hudson (NY).
- 2. Balassa B (1964) The purchasing power parity doctrine: A reappraisal. Journal of Political Economy, 72(6): 584–596.
- 3. Ceglowski J, Golub S (2012) Does China still have a labor cost advantage? Global Economy Journal 12 (3), doi: 10.1515/1524-5861.1874.
- 4. Dornbusch R, Fisher S, Samuelson P (1977) Comparative advantage, trade, and payments in a Ricardian model with a continuum of goods. American Economic Review 67(5): 823–839.

- 5. Felipe J, Kumar U (2011) Unit labor costs in the eurozone: The competitiveness debate again. Working Paper No. 651. Levy Economics Institute of Bard College, Annandale-on-Hudson (NY).
- Flassbeck H (2016) Macroeconomic theory and macroeconomic logic: The case of euro crisis. (pp. 3-22) In Karasavvoglou Anastasios, Dimitrios Kyrkilis, Goergios Makris, Persefoni Polychronidou (Eds.) Economic crisis, development and competitiveness in Southeastern Europe. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland.
- Frankel J, Saravelos G (2012) Can leading indicators assess country vulnerability? Evidence from the 2008-09 global financial crisis. Journal of International Economics 87: 216–231.
- 8. Hume M, Sentence A (2009) The global credit boom: Challenges for macroeconomics and policy. Journal of International Money and Finance 28(8): 1426–1461.
- 9. Jordà Ò, Schularick M, Taylor A (2010) Financial crises, credit booms, and external imbalances: 140 years of lessons. Working Paper 16567, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge (MA), December.
- Kaldor N (1978) Causes of the slow rate of economic growth in the United Kingdom. (pp. 100–138) In Kaldor Nicholas (Ed.) Further essays on economic theory. Holmes & Meyer, New York.
- 11. Karras G, Stokes H (2001) Time-varying criteria for monetary integration: Evidence from the EMU. International Review of Economics and Finance 10: 171–185.
- Kyrkilis D, Makris G, Hazakis K (2016) Economic crisis and national competitiveness: Does labor cost link the two? The case of the South Eurozone states. (pp. 23–39) In Karasavvoglou Anastasios, Dimitrios Kyrkilis, Goergios Makris, Persefoni Polychronidou (Eds.) Economic crisis, development and competitiveness in Southeastern Europe. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland.
- 13. Rogoff K (2005) The euro at five: short-run pain, long-run gain? Journal of Policy Modeling 27(4): 441–443.
- 14. Mundell R (1961) A theory of optimum currency areas. American Economic Review 51(4): 657–665.
- 15. Munitlak-Ivanović O, Zubović J (2017) From the Millennium Development Goals to the resilience consept: Theoretical similarities and differences (pp. 7–29). In Malović Marko and Kartik Roy (eds.) The state and the market in economic development: In pursuit of Millennium Development Goals. The International Institute for Development Studies, Australia.

2.8. INVESTMENTS IN SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT AS A GREEN ECONOMY DRIVER - CASE STUDY BOKA BAY

Slađana Lazarević¹

UNDP, Montenegro

Saša Popović²

Faculty of Economy, Podgorica, Montenegro

OBJECTIVES

How sustainable investments in the tourism sector lead improving local and global economy and help a green economy development? Growing urbanization has very important impacts on the everyday life and cities' economies. It is very well known that the amount of money our cities spend on energy directly influence local economies. That is why touristic cities must work on protection of cultural landscape by achieving sustainable goals through its valorization and sustainable reused. Sustainable transport modes are very important for reaching sustainable urban and rural development, thus investments in sustainable transport is one of the key green economy driver in tourism sector. The case study, the pilot project for four touristic cities (Kotor, Tivat, Herceg Novi and Old Royal Capital Cetinje) is showing how different investments in sustainable transportation in tourism sector can directly contribute to economically justified sustainable development. It is not just efficient way of transforming touristic cities in sustainable developed places, but economically justified, what is a key element for green economy growth. It is important to use smartly the potential of the natural landscapes by sustainable investments. In this paper, we are discussing about a possible model of the integrated sustainable urban mobility as instrument for sustainable urban and rural development in non-developed countries who valorize its natural potential on the sustainable way. In the touristic cities, this is exactly what could help decreasing consumptions of energy, safe money for local governments and improve a quality of life while attracting the large number of tourists whose impacts will strength both, the local and the global green economy.

¹ Project Coordinator, e-mail: sladjana.lazarevic@undp.org

² Professor, e-mail: sasa@t-com.me

METHODOLOGY

This paper is result of research work done through the project Toward Low Carbon Tourism in Montenegro, implemented by UNDP Montenegro office and funded by GEF. In the framework of this project Polycentric Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan for Boka Bay and Cetinje is developed. The results of this case study, used for the research in this paper, provides some concrete measures for improvement of transport system until 2020 what we found out as sustainable and economic justified way for green economy development and reaching the sustainable urban development.

RESULTS

The results we achieved in Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan are 24 concrete measures where some concrete investments directly contribute to a green economy development. The case study is the main method used in the paper while results previously obtain through development of the Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan for Boka Bay and Cetinje were analyzed as driver for achieving sustainable goals and reaching sustainable urban development. We are showing how investments in integrated sustainable transport could be a real key green economy driver. The integrated sustainable urban and rural mobility and implementation of concrete measures especially in the tourism sector could directly support green economy.

IMPLICATIONS

On one hand, the results of this paper will show how green economy could be achieved through investments in sustainable transport but also to improve the attractiveness and quality of the urban environment in local centers and key transport corridors but also to reduce energy consumption and reduce greenhouse gas emissions, with a focus on the tourism sector, what helps local and global economy. This project will be useful to the local government decision makers and tourism sector as well in making its own green economy drivers that could be presented in their further policies and politics.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

For the development of the Sustainable Mobility Urban Plan a new EU methodology is used, but what is an originality value is that this methodology is improved with wide frameworks of analyses (surveys and measurements prepare for this pilot case) which gave some concrete investments data and numbers to be

used for further researches. The continuation of the started research work will be reflected in the implementation of the varies measures for improvement of sustainability of the transportation system of these four touristic cities which directly influence in achieving economically benefits. Measures which should be tested until 2020 are mostly connected with improvement of non-motorized existing and constructing of the new corridors and increasing usage of renewable resources for motorized transport.

KEY WORDS

Investments, sustainable transport, green economy, urban mobility, urban development, Boka Bay

- 1. Alice Bows & Kevin L. Anderson (2007). *Transport Policy, Volume 14, Issue 2, March 2007, Pages 103–110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2006.10.002*
- 2. Berg Insight, 2015, ITS in Public Transport, www.berginsight.com/ReportPDF/ProductSheet/bi-its4-ps.pd
- Campbell R., Wittgens M., (2014), The Business Case for Active Transportation, The Economic Benefits of Walking and Cycling, http://thirdwavecycling.com/pdfs/at_business_case.pdf
- 4. Cullen G. (2001). Gradski pejzaž, Građevinska knjiga, Beograd
- 5. Castex J. & Depaule J. & Panerai P.(2003) Urbane forme, Građevinska knjiga, Beograd
- 6. Emeli, Adell & Caroline Ljungberg, Trivector (2014), Polycentric Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan, Grant Agreement No IEE/11/057/SI2.615924, The Poly-SUMP Methodology. How to develop a Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan for a polycentric region. Retrieved from: http://www.poly-sump.eu/
- 7. European Commission (2013), *Guidelines Developing and Implementing a Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan, Retrieved from: http://www.eltis.org/mobility-plans*
- 8. Expeditio, BAS Programme of EBRD (2012). Feasibility Study for development of the sustainable, maritime and public transport with solar catamarans in Boka Bay of Montenegro
- 9. Minsitartvo odrzivog razvoja i turizma Crne Gore (2015) Prostorni Plan Posebne Namjene za Obalno Područje Crne Gore, Nacrt plana. str.137
- 10. Pucar M. & Pajević M. & Jovanović-Popović M. (1994), Bioklimatsko planiranje i projektovanje-urbanistički parametri, IP"Zavet", Beograd
- 11. Radović R. (2003). Forma grada, STYLOS, Novi Sad
- 12. Road Transport Externalities, Economic Policies And Other Instruments For Sustainable Road Transport (2010) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2010.03.002
- 13. Saarinen E. (1972). Gradovi, njihov razvitak, njihovo propadanje, njihova budućnost, »Svjetlost «, Sarajevo

- 14. Swart, R. & Raes, F. (2011). Making integration of adaptation and mitigation work: mainstreaming into sustainable development policies. p.288-303, doi:10.1080/14693062.2007.9685657
- Thomas, Mourey &Dagmar, Köhler POLIS European Cities and Regions networking for innovative transport solutions (2016). *Thematic Guidelines 2016, European Mobility Week. Retrieved from https://www.portugal2020.pt/Portal2020/Media/Default/Docs/NOTICIAS2020/Them atic_Guidelines_2016.pdf*
- 16. Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy in cooperation with Contemporary Transport, Erasmus University Rotterdam, TAEM Urbanistai, University of the West of England, Urban Planning Institute of the Republic of Slovenia (2014) How urban transport projects are appraised: current practice in the EU. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/energy/intelligent/projects/en/projects/evidence

2.9. THE PRODUCTION OF INDUSTRIAL MINERALS AND ROCKS IN SERBIA-AN ECONOMETRIC INVESTIGATION¹

Vladimir Andrić²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jelena Minović³ Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Ljubiša Andrić⁴

ITNMS, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the paper are: i) to detect major turning points in the dynamics of industrial minerals and rocks in Serbia between 1973 and 2015; ii) to assess whether, how and to what extent the dynamics of industrial minerals and rocks in Serbia was influenced by overall business cycle fluctuations; iii) to argue in favor of higher infrastructure spending in Serbia as the most effective tool for the revival of industrial minerals and rocks production

METHODOLOGY

We implement the ordinary least squares (OLS) change point regression methodology outlined in Bai and Perron (1998, 2003a, 2003b) to detect and model structural breaks in the dynamics of industrial minerals and rocks in Serbia between 1973 and 2015. In particular, we use a following 3-step algorithm to estimate linear OLS model with multiple structural changes: first, we specify the upper bound for the number of breaks *M* by setting the value of trimming percentage ϵ =15%; second, we test the null hypothesis of no structural break

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² Research Assistant, e-mail: vladimir.andric@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ Research Fellow, e-mail: jelena.minovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁴ Principal Research Fellow, e-mail: lj.andric@itnms.ac.rs

against the alternative of up to 5 potential breaks; 3) third, we estimate the change point regression model via OLS method by allowing for autocorrelated and heterogeneous disturbances across breaks.

RESULTS

Our multiple structural breaks tests identify 5 change points in the intercept and linear time trend of industrial minerals and rocks extraction: 1980, 1989, 1995, 2003 and 2009. The estimated break dates correspond to the major turning points of the business cycle fluctuations in Serbia between 1973 and 2015. In addition, estimated intercept and trend coefficients from an OLS model with multiple structural changes are in great accordance with major stylized facts of the business cycle in Serbia in the last 40 years. The results are preliminary, and they encompass only aggregates extraction, as in Andrić et al. (2017a, 2017b). Further investigation is in progress for other types of industrial minerals and rocks.

IMPLICATIONS

The main policy implications of our paper are: 1) the extraction of industrial minerals and rocks was largely affected by the overall economic activity in Serbia between 1973 and 2015; 2) the slowdown of activity in the extraction of industrial minerals and rocks is evident from the onset of the Great Recession; 3) the increase in infrastructure public spending can have an effect on the extraction of industrial minerals and rocks.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

We construct a novel time series data set for industrial minerals and rocks in Serbia between 1973 and 2015. Behrens et al. (2007) acknowledge how present data for industrial minerals and rocks are fragmentary and incomplete. We also present reduced form econometric estimates for the behaviour of industrial minerals and rocks, contrary to Humphreys and Biggs (1983) and Humphreys (1991). Humphreys and Biggs (1983) only provide descriptive statistical analysis in the case of UK between 1945 and 1980, while Humphreys (1991) provides the same type of analysis for the US between 1960 and 1989.

KEY WORDS

Industrial minerals and rocks, aggregates, Serbia, structural breaks, change point regression

- 1. Andrić, V., Andrić, Lj., Radulović, D. (2017a). *Aggregates Extraction in Serbia-Multiple Structural Breaks Analysis*. Under review for the XVII Balkan Mineral Processing Congress.
- 2. Andrić, V., Andrić, Lj., Radulović, D. (2017b). *The Extraction of Aggregates in Serbia*, 1973-2015-A Statistical Exploration. Under review at Mining and Metallurgy Engineering Bor.
- 3. Andrić, V., Arsić, M., Nojković, A. (2016a). Fiscal Reaction to Interest Payments-The Case of Serbia. *Industrija*, 44 (3), 117-144.
- 4. Andrić, V., Arsić, M., Nojković, A. (2016b). Public Debt Sustainability in Serbia Before and During the Global Financial Crisis. *Economic Annals, XVI (210)*, 47-78.
- 5. Arsić, M., Mladenović, Z., Petrović, P. (2001). *Macroeconomic Stabilization in the FRY*. WIIW Balkan Observatory Working Paper No. 9, Vienna: The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies.
- 6. Aschauer, D.A. (1989). Is Public Expenditure Productive? *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 23 (2), 177-200.
- 7. Bai, J., Perron, P. (1998). Estimating and Testing Linear Models with Multiple Structural Changes. *Econometrica*, *66* (1), 47-78.
- 8. Bai, J., Perron, P. (2003a). Computation and Analysis of Multiple Structural Change Models. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, *18* (1), 1-22.
- 9. Bai, J., Perron, P. (2003b). Critical Values for Multiple Structural Change Tests. *Econometrics Journal, 6 (1),* 72-78.
- 10. Behrens, A., Giljum, S., Kovanda, J., Niza, S. (2007). The material basis of the global economy: Worldwide patterns of natural resource extraction and their implications for sustainable resource use policies. *Ecological Economics*, *64* (2), 444-453.
- Bićanić, I., Deskar-Škrbić, M., Zrnc, J. (2016). A Narrative Explanation of Breakpoints and Convergence Patterns in Yugoslavia and its Successor States 1952-2015. WIW Balkan Observatory Working Paper No. 122, Vienna: The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies.
- 12. Elliott, G., Rothenberg, T.J., Stock, J.H. (1996). Efficient Tests for an Autoregressive Unit Root. *Econometrica*, *64* (*4*), 813-836.
- 13. Humphreys, D. (1991). Similarities and differences in the economics of metals and industrial minerals. *Resources Policy*, *17* (*3*), 184-195.
- 14. Humphreys, D., Briggs, D. (1983). Mineral consumption in the UK, 1945-1980-A Statistical Analysis. *Resources Policy*, *9* (1), 4-22.
- 15. Moore, D.J., Tilton, J.E., Shields, D.J. (1996). Economic growth and the demand for construction materials. *Resources Policy*, *22* (*3*), 197-205.
- 16. Nelson, C.R., Kang, H. (1984). Pitfalls in the Use of Time as an Explanatory Variable in Regression. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, 2 (1), 73-82.
- 17. Ng, S., Perron, P. (2001). Lag Length Selection and the Construction of Unit Root Tests with Good Size and Power. *Econometrica*, *69* (*6*), 1519-1554.

- Petrović, P. (2004). Serbia: *Macroeconomic Stabilization and Reform, 2001 to 2003*. WIIW Balkan Observatory Working Paper No. 36, Vienna: The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies.
- 19. Petrović, P., Bogetić, Ž., Vujošević, Z. (1999). The Yugoslav Hyperinflation of 1992-1994: Causes, Dynamics, and Money Supply Process. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 27 (2), 335-353.
- 20. Petrović, P., Vujošević, Z. (2000). Monetary accommodation in transition economies: econometric evidence from Yugoslavia's high inflation in the 1980s. *Journal of Development Economics*, *62* (2), 495-513

2.10. ILLIQUIDITY RISK OF POLLUTING ENTERPRISES IN SERBIA¹

Slavica Stevanović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Grozdana Marinković³ Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is to analyze the liquidity risk of selected polluting enterprises in Serbia using the accrual liquidity indicators as compared to the cash flow liquidity indicators and net working capital as a financial tool which represents corporate liquidity. The specific objective of the paper relates on the comparison of polluting medium enterprises liquidity risk with liquidity of medium enterprises sector and Serbian economy.

METHODOLOGY

Illiquidity risk assessment is determined by liquidity indicators, net working capital and cash flow statement. The accrual and cash flow approaches of liquidity analysis are used in the paper as complementary approaches. Research methodology is based on the financial, descriptive, comparative and statistical analysis. The research is conducted on the group of 48 polluting medium-sized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia. The sample of the enterprises was selected from the Pollutant Release and Transfer Register in Serbia (PRTR register of large sources of pollution), reported by the Serbian Environmental Protection Agency. The liquidity analysis includes the comparison between polluting medium enterprises, the sector of medium

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² PhD, Research Associate, e-mail: slavica.stevanovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ DED. Assistant Desfaces a maile mandate manifeliaria Ohio adu

³ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: grozdana.marinkovic@bba.edu.rs

enterprises and Serbian economy over a six-year period, on annual and average level. Selected liquidity indicators are determined by financial statements information disclosed by Serbian Business Registers Agency. The quantitative and qualitative analysis covers the period from 2010 to 2015.

RESULTS

The values and trends of liquidity indicators of the polluting medium enterprises group, recorded during the period 2010-2015, represent an unfavorable assumption for their short-term financial stability. However, it is still a more favorable than liquidity indicators values and trends in the Serbian economy. The cash flow liquidity indicator shows a weaker liquidity position than is indicated by the accrual liquidity indicators. Positive net working capital shows that polluting medium enterprises are able to continue their business and they have sufficient long-term fund to cover long-term assets and the part of their inventories.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of the analysis based on the accrual liquidity indicators is best compared against the cash flow liquidity indicator before reaching any conclusions regarding the liquidity risk of enterprises. This research can be accepted in academic and industry practice. The research results can be of interest to a variety of enterprises stakeholders, including financial analysts, policy makers, and researchers.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Illiquidity problem in Serbian economy makes it difficult for enterprises to doing business. The key originality value of this paper is in the fact that the assessment of the illiquidity risk is based on the selected liquidity indicators for medium-sized enterprises whose plants are the major sources of environmental pollution in Serbia.

KEY WORDS

Illiquidity risk, cash flow analysis, polluting enterprises, medium enterprises, Serbian economy

REFERENCES

- 1. Belopavlović, G. and Stevanović, S. (2012) Računovodstveni aspekti zaštite životne sredine, in monography Ekonomski aspekti ekološke politike, Institute of economic sciences, Belgrade and Belgrade banking academy, p. 359-375.
- 2. Brealey, R.A., Myers, S.C. and Allen, F. (2006) Corporate finance, Mc Graw Hill/Irwin, New York.
- 3. Damodaran, A. (2007) Korporativne finansije, teorija i praksa, MODUS Center for Statistical Research and Forecasts, Podgorica, Montenegro.
- 4. European Movement in Serbia, Vodič kroz EU politike Životna sredina, retrieved from: http://www.emins.org/sr/publikacije/epus_studentima/Zivotna_sredina.pdf.
- 5. Figlewicz, R.E. and Zeller, T.I. (1991) An Analysis of Performance, Liquidity, Coverage and Capital Ratios from the Statement of Cash Flow, Acron Business and Economic Review, Vol. 22, No. 1, p. 64-91.
- 6. Giacomino, D.E. and Mielke, D.E. (1993) Cash Flows: Another Approach to Ratio Analysis, Journal of Accountancy, Vol. 175, No. 3, p. 55-58.
- Official Gazette, Republic of Serbia, Zakon o zaštiti životne sredine, No. 135/2004; 36/2009; 72/2009; 43/2011; 14/2016.
- 8. Malinić, D. and Milićević, V. (2012), Overcoming Financial Structural Disorders as a prerequisite for strengthening the competitiveness of Serbian economy, Ekonomika preduzeća, No. 1-2/2013, Serbian Association of Economists, Belgrade, p. 317-328.
- 9. Malinić, D. (2009) Prepoznavanje bilansnih rizika, Tajne bilansa: menadžerski pristup, Ekonomika preduzeća, special issue, Serbian Association of Economists, Belgrade, p. 156-173.
- 10. Mulford, C. and Comiskey, E. (2005) Creative Cash Flow Reporting: Uncovering Sustainable Financial Performance, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Ranković, J. and Ilić, G. (1997) Analiza rentabiliteta i finansijskog položaja privrede SRJ, Ekonomika preduzeća, No. 3-4, Serbian Association of Economists, Belgrade, p. 407-424.
- 12. Serbian Business Registers Agency, Registar finansijskih izveštaja pravnih lica i preduzetnika, retrieved from: http://www.apr.gov.rs.
- Serbian Environmental Protection Agency, Dostavljanje podataka za Nacionalni registar izvora zagađivanja, retrieved from: http://www.sepa.gov.rs/DostavljanjePodataka/Default.aspx (10/07/2017).
- 14. Serbian Environmental Protection Agency, PRTR registar u Republici Srbiji, retrieved from: http://www.sepa.gov.rs/index.php?menu=20169&id=20005&akcija=ShowXlinked&se

http://www.sepa.gov.rs/index.php?menu=20169&id=20005&akcija=ShowXlinked&se arch=0&page=1 (20/02/2017).

- 15. Stevanović, S. and Belopavlović, G. (2011) Merenje pokazatelja finansijske sigurnosti preduzeća, Računovodstvo, No. 7-8, Serbian Association of Accountants and Auditors, Belgrade, p. 67-78.
- 16. White, G., Sondhi, A. and Fried, D. (2003) The Analysis and Use of Financial Statements, John Wiley & Sons Inc, Hoboken, New Jersey

2.11. MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURE OF ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY IN THE CASE OF ISLAMIC BANKS¹

Aida Hanić²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is to examine the level of disclosure among Islamic banks regarding the environmental protection. In other words, are Islamic banks environmentally responsible? Islamic banking is derived from Islamic law, Sharia, which regulates every aspect of human life including the attitude towards the environment. In that aspect, the concept of environment protection is considered as inseparable part of Islam because the public interest (Masleha) is defined as a priority which means that every financial institution that operates under the Sharia rules, must consider environment protection in their activities.

METHODOLOGY

Banks as financial institutions indirectly affect the environment through their lending activities. In that aspect the public is more interested in actions carried out by a certain financial institution because such institutions are expected and required to be socially responsible. That means the amount of data disclosured in their annual reports regarding the non-financial parameters such as environmental protection.

By using the Ethical Identity Index, developed by authors Haniffa and Hudaib (2007), it is possible to quantify the extent of Islamic banking activities in every aspect of its social inclusion, including the environment. Index is based on the principles of content analysis and uses annual reports of Islamic banks. Primarily it analysis 78 indicators grouped into 8 dimensions: vision and mission statement,

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² Research Assistant, e-mail: aida.hanic@ien.bg.ac.rs

BOD and top management, product, Zakah, charity and benevolent loans, employees, debtors, community, Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB).

In the case of environment, according to (Darus, Yusoff & Mohd Azhari, 2013), dimensions are: Conservation of Environment; Protection of Endangered Wildlife, Mitigation of Environmental Pollution, Environmental Education, Environmental Products/Process, Environmental Audit/Independent Verification Statement and Environmental Management System (EMS)/Policy.

The Index is calculated as follows:

EEI Index_j =
$$\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{n_j} x_{ij}}{n_j}$$

Where:

EEI Indexj – Ethical Identity Index for dimension j and period t;

Xijt is variable X (1,... n) for dimension j and time t and has value 1 if the item is disclosed or 0 if othervise.

nj is the number of variables/ statements and in this case the maximum number is seven

RESULTS

This paper is focused on theorethical background considering the measurement and disclosure practice among Islamic banks, especially in environmental protection. Research done by authors Farook, Hasan &Lanis (2011); Yahya, Abul Rahman &Tayib (2005); Darus, Yusoff & Mohd Azhari (2013); shows that practice of disclosure, including environment activites, among Islamic banks varies from region or certain country. One of the reason is that Islamic banking is still developing and it demands different reporting standards considering the basics such as prohibition of interest (Riba), prohibition of speculative activities (uncertainty or Gharar), prohibition of gambling (Maysir) and the promotion of risk sharing. On the other hand, ethical and social values, including the environment protection, are considered as one part and not sperated, like in the case of conventional banking.

IMPLICATIONS

This work could be useful for researchers to investigate and compare the process of measurement and disclosure of non-financial data by comparing Islamic and conventional banks. In that aspect, an analysis of corporate responsibility, especially in the field of environmental protection, could be done among banks in a certain banking system. This would give an insight into the banking practice, including an overview of the standards and rules that banks lead when deciding whether to finance a particular project in terms of its impact on the environment.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Although the economist and researchers began to show interest in Islamic banking, when the process of decolonization started, in the 1950s, there are many areas considering Islamic economy and its basics that are not explored enough. One such example is the area of measurement and disclosure of non-financial data including the field of environmental protection. It is also important to consider the fact that most of the banking systems in the world are based on conventional banking whose principles and rules are quite different in relation to Islamic banking. This is important because social values in terms of environmental responsibility in Islamic banking are considered obligatory as opposed to conventional banking.

KEY WORDS

Islamic banking, environment protection, disclosure, ethical identity index

- 1. Aribi, Z. A., & Gao, S. S. (2012). Narrative disclosure of corporate social responsibility on Islamic financial institutions. Managerial Auditing Journal, 27(2), 199–222.
- Berrone, P., Surroca, J., & Tribó, J. A. (2007). Corporate ethical identity as a determinant of firm performance: A test of the mediating role of stakeholder satisfaction. Journal of Business Ethics, 76(1), 35–53. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-006-9276-1
- 3. Chapra, M. U. (1996) What is Islamic Economics?, Training. doi: 10.4337/9781782544159.00011.
- Darus, F., Yusoff, H. and Mohd Azhari, N.K. (2013). Environmental disclosure of Islamic financial institutions (IFIs): Preliminary evidence from Malaysia, Journal of Energy Technologies and Policy, 3, 11 (2013) Special Issue for ICEESE 2013, ISSN (Paper): 2224-3232 ISSN (Online) 2225-0573, 433-439.

- 5. Daykin, T. (2006). The Role of Internal Auditing in Sustainable Development and Corporate Social Reporting, 1–12.
- Farook, S., Hassan, M.K., and Lanis, R., (2011) Determinants of corporate social responsibility disclosure: the case of Islamic banks, Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research, Vol. 2 Iss: 2, pp.114 – 141.
- 7. Gray, E., Balmer J. M. T. (2001) Ethical Identity: What Is It? What of It?', Working Paper No. 01/15, April (Bradford University School of Management).
- 8. Gray, R., Owen, D., and Maunders, K. (1987), Corporate Social Reporting Accounting & Accountability, Prentice-Hall, UK.
- Haniffa, R., and Hudaib, M., (2007), Exploring the Ethical Identity of Islamic Banks via Communication in Annual Reports, Journal of Business Ethics, Vol 76, Issue 1, pp. 97-116.
- 10. Yahya, M.A., Abul Rahman, A. and Tayib, M. (2005), The relationship between corporate social disclosure and Islamic unit trust shareholding, Accounting, Commerce and Finance: The Islamic Perspective Journal, Vol. 9 No. 1.

2.12. ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF THE STATE REGULATION IN THE FIELD OF EXPLOITATION, PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION OF THE NATURAL RESOURCES IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA¹

Mihajlo Đukić²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Duško Bodroža³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Dejana Pavlović⁴

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

This paper investigates economic aspects of the exploitation, preservation and protection of the natural resources that have been envisaged within the strategic documents of the Republic of Serbia. The focus will be on the economic analysis of the current regulative in the field, achieved progress and potential constraints for implementation of the current policy solutions in terms of economic costs for the economy as a whole.

METHODOLOGY

The aim of the research is to systematize economic measures and their potential effects regarding the protection and sustainable use of the environment and to verify the economic efficiency of the applied fees and charges for the use of natural resources on a sustainable basis. The research will be carried out using

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU), OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements) and TR 31005 (Modern Biotechnological Approach to Solving the Problem of Drought in Agricultural of Serbia), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² PhD, e-mail: mihajlo.djukic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ PhD, e-mail: dusko.bodroza@ien.bg.ac.rs

⁴ MSc, e-mail: dejana.pavlovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

classical research methods, whereby as part of the empirical research it will be used desk research method based on the data obtained from the national statistical databases as well as data published within the Action plan of the National strategy for sustainable use of natural resources and goods. The research analysis will particularly take into account the requirements set out for Serbia for the purpose of harmonization with the EU policies regarding the environment under Chapter 27 and the national regulative - Law on Environmental Protection, The Law on the Environmental Protection Fund, Law on Waste Management, Law on Packaging and Packaging Waste, National Environmental Program for the period 2015-2019 and related Action Plan.

RESULTS

Preliminary research performed in this paper provided solid arguments in favour of change of the current regulative concerning fees currently being paid for the exploitation of natural resources. Lack of data and unavailability of the official reports on achieved results as well as undeveloped practice of the evaluation of strategic documents, limited research contribution. Further research in the field should result in proposal consisting specific corrective measures concerning the amount of fees, dynamics of using (i.e. quantities) and valuation of natural resources.

IMPLICATIONS

The research results should provide support for the improvement of economic instruments for the sustainable use of natural resources or values.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Current economic research in the country provides lack of practical data which could be used to support formulation of the specific policy measures in the field of protection of natural resources. Contribution of this research could be to initiate debate on the efficiency of economic fees on the exploitation of the economic resources.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, natural resources, fees, taxes, environment, exploitation, protection

- 1. Barde, J. P. (1997), Economic instruments for environmental protection: Experience in OECD countries, Applying market-based instruments to environmental policies in China and OECD countries, OECD, Paris, p. 31-58.
- 2. Draskovic, B., Tornjanski, A. (2015), Problems relating to budget revenue from benefits and rents for natural resources utilization, Finansije 1-6/2015, p. 116 147.
- Eurostat (2017), Environmental Protection Accounts, http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Environment, date of access: Oct 7, 2017.
- Eurostat (2017), Monitoring sustainable development, http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Monitoring_sustainable_development, date of access: Oct 7, 2017.
- 5. Government of the Republic of Serbia (2012), National strategy for sustainable use of natural resources and goods, http://www.gs.gov.rs/lat/strategije-vs.html
- Government of the Republic of Serbia (2014), The law on fees for use of public goods, http://www.parlament.gov.rs/upload/archive/files/lat/pdf/predlozi_zakona/4978-13Lat.pdf
- 7. Stojanovic, M., Djordjevic, M. (2016), The role of environmental taxes in Serbian tax system, Ekonomika, Vol. 62, october-december 2016, No. 4, p. 75-84.
- Tews, K. et al. (2002), The diffusion of new environmental policy instruments, FFUreport 01-2002, http://www.diss.fuberlin.de/docs/servlets/MCRFileNodeServlet/FUDOCS_derivate_00000001465/rep_ 02-01.pdf, date of access: Oct 7, 2017.

2.13. INFORMATION, CONSUMERISM AND SUSTAINABLE FASHIONE

Mirela Holy¹

VERN' University, Zagreb, Croatia

OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the paper are:

- to investigate in which extent were articles regarding sustainable / green fashion represented in the electronic editions of Croatian daily newspapers with national coverage (Večernji list, Jutarnji list, 24sata, Novi list, Slobodna Dalmacija) and how this topic was elaborated in the media;
- to examine whether Croatian fashion designers (members of the Croatian Designers' Society) are familiar with the concept of sustainable fashion, what they think about this concept, and whether media coverage of this subject affects their attitudes.

METHODOLOGY

Quantitative and qualitative research methods will be used for the needs of this work. The analysis of selected Croatian electronic media will be conducted through a method of quantitative and qualitative analysis of the media content on green / sustainable fashion. It will quantify the number of articles in each publication, the length of the texts, the authors of the texts, the presence of key words and the number of mouse clicks if they are available. A qualitative analysis of the media content will be carried out by analysis of the value orientation of articles regarding topic of sustainable / green fashion, by analysis of the media context of the articles (the sections in which they are published), and by analysis of the manner in which the topic is being processed and the values it promotes, if promotes. Research of the attitudes of the fashion designers will be carried out through a qualitative method of in-depth interviews. The introduction of the work will present theoretical elaboration of the sustainable fashion and its relation to the concept of sustainable development and circular economy.

¹ PhD, e-mail: mirela.holy@vern.hr

RESULTS

The initial hypotheses are:

During 2017. Croatian media published the texts on sustainable fashion at small extent

Texts were not published in serious columns (economy or politics), but superficially in the life style rubrics

Croatian designers are not well acquainted with the concept of sustainable fashion, and those who are reduce this concept on the usage of organic materials

Media processing of this topic affects the (non)interest of designers, because no necessary public pressure is imposed on designers.

IMPLICATIONS

In view of the abovementioned, much more intensive and serious processing of the topic of sustainable fashion in the Croatian media is needed. On that way Croatian public and fashion designers will be better acquainted with the concept as well as with the social, economic and environmental effects of application of the concept. Political elites are also responsible, and it is suggested the implementation of a national public campaign regarding circular economy whose segment would be sustainable fashion.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Given the fact that this topic is poorly represented in the academic field of the region and that empirical research (both quantitative and qualitative method) will be applied in the work, expected result is the original scientific paper.

KEY WORDS

Information, media, consumerism, sustainable fashion, circular economy

- 1. Cline, Elizabeth L. 2012. Over-Dressed. New York: Peguine
- 2. Fletcher, Kate. 2008. Sustainable Fashion and Textiles: Design Journeys. Oxford: Routledge.

- 3. Gwilt, Alison. 2011. Shaping Sustainable Fashion: Changing the Way We Make and Use Clothes. London:Earthscan.
- 4. Hethorn, Janet i Ulasewicz, Connie. 2009. Sustainable Fashion: Why Now. New York: Fairchild Books.
- 5. Hoskins, Tansy E. 2015. Zašiveno do bola. Zagreb: Sandorf & Mizantrop

2.14. GREEN ECONOMY AND INDICATORS OF SUSTAINABLE AND ECOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

Zoran Todorović¹

The Institute Certified Accontants of Montenegro, The Institute of Chartered Appraisers of Montenegro

OBJECTIVES

The need for global economic growth has raised the level of living standards around the world, and following this aspiration, all countries, both developed and developing countries, look at the growth rate of gross domestic product as a critical indicator of success and prosperity. The actions aimed at continuously increasing consumption have had a devastating impact on the global environment, exploiting natural resources without sufficiently considering the consequences that this exploitation leaves in the environment.

METHODOLOGY

The method of compilation is the process of taking other people's results from scientific research work, that is, other people's perceptions, attitudes, conclusions, and cognitions. The descriptive method is applied at the initial stage of scientific research, and it represents a procedure for simple description of facts, processes and objects in nature and society and their empirical affirmation of relationships and relationships. The method of analysis is the process of scientific research and explaining reality through the breakdown of complex thought constructions (concepts, judgments, and conclusions). Method of synthesis is the process of scientific research and explanation of reality by joining simple thought constructs into complex, linking segregated elements, phenomena, processes and relationships into a unique The whole in which its parts are interconnected. Methods of analysis and synthesis are mutually assumed and supplemented, passing to each other in scientific work. The case study is a qualitative research method by which it seeks to capture comprehensive information on the determination of the group or category of phenomena, and draw conclusions from them.

¹ Professor, e-mail: zorannt@t-com.me

RESULTS

We can conclude that environmental protection and the provision of sufficient quantities of safe food for mankind are two major challenges of the twenty-first century. The entire world population is confronted with problems that are largely a consequence of man's activities and a desire for profit, a higher standard and a better quality of life.

Climate change, economic and energy crisis and other problems impose the need for radical socio-economic changes in the cities of the 21st century, in the direction of encouraging and developing the so-called "green economy".

IMPLICATIONS

Prerequisites for changes in national regulations, policies, subsidies and support systems, as well as changes in the international market, in international trade and development aid, represent the necessary conditions for the development of the green economy. It is clear that the existing environment is much more suited to the development of traditional and the use of energy from fossil fuel-based economies. If subsidies for fossil fuels are retained, which at a global level exceed a figure of \$ 650 billion a year, renewable energy sources within the greening of the economy will be insufficient.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The national level, as far as the most responsible for the implementation of the Green Agenda, will have to make appropriate changes in fiscal policy, through the reform and elimination of subsidies that can be considered less favorable from the environmental aspects. A major step in this direction may be the adoption of policies and procedures for green public procurement and green accounts. At the supranational level, further efforts must be made to improve the situation on world markets, to promote the rules of free trade and the flows of international development assistance, and to further encourage international cooperation.

KEY WORDS

Green economy, sustainable development, environmental performance indicators, green economy policy, traditional economy, sustainable development indicators

- Bossel, H. (2001). Assessing Viability and Sustainability: A Systems-Based Approach for Deriving Comprehensive Indicator Sets. http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol5/iss2/art12/.
- EC EUROPA (2012). http://ec.europa.eu/environment/emas/pdf/guidance/guidance08_en.pdf.
- 3. International Network for Environmental Compliance and Enforcement (2012). http://inece.org/.
- 4. IUCN International Union for Conservation of Nature (1991). Caring for the Earth, A Strategy for Sustainable Living. Gland, Switzerland.
- 5. Tickell, C. (1997). The human species: A suicidal success' in Goudie. A. (ed.) The Human Impact Reader: Readings and Case Studies, Oxford, Blackwell: str. 450-460.
- 6. UNCED (1992). Agenda 21: Programme of Action for Sustainable Development. Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, N.Y.: United Nations.
- 7. WCED World commission on Environment and Development (1987). Our Common Future The Bruntdland Report. Oxford University Press.
- 8. World Bank (2003). Sustainable development in a dynamic world: Transforming institutions, growth, and quality of life. Washington and New Yor, Oxford University Press.
- 9. Nataša Petrović¹, Dragoslav Slović², Marko Ćirović³ Univerzitet u Beogradu, Fakultet organizacionih nauka- Indikatori ekoloških performansi kao smjernice ka održivosti
- 10. Dnevni list "Pobjeda"
- 11. Forex.com. Adaptacija International Trading School d.o.o. Beograd
- 12. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, Synthesis Report, p 10 http://www.millenniumassessment.org/documents/document.356.aspy.pdf

2.15. MANAGEMENT AND PROMOTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL OPPORTUNITIES IN ENTERPRISES AS A DRIVING FORCE FOR SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Marija Magdincheva-Sopova¹

University Goce Delcev, Faculty of Tourism and Business Logistics, Gevgeija, Republic of Macedonia

Kiril Postolov²

Ss. Cyril and Methodius, University, Faculty of Economics, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Risto Elenov³

Ss. Cyril and Methodius, University, Faculty of Economics, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Simona Gjurevska⁴

University Goce Delcev, Faculty of Tourism and Business Logistics, Gevgeija, Republic of Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The main goal of this paper is to point out the opportunities that the enterprises have from the benefits of effective environmental management through the possibilities for reducing the costs achieved through effective initiatives for waste and energy return, the need for implementation of the ISO 14001 standard for protection, storage and improving the environment, as well as increasing the awareness of the citizens about the rational utilization of natural and limited resources.

METHODOLOGY

Within the research possibilities, and the willingness of enterprises to find the necessary services, the type of business activities, the financing of the introduction of innovations in the field of sustainable economic development, implementation of appropriate standards, training programs for the employees,

¹ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: marija.magdinceva@ugd.edu.mk

² Full Time Professor, e-mail: kirilp@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

³ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: risteelenov@agropin.com.mk

⁴ Master student, e-mail: Simona.172703@student.ugd.edumk

new ways of work that will link management approach, environmental protection, and revenue generation.

The practical research in this paper was conducted to perceive the real situation in terms of informing the employees about the environmental possibilities and strategy for waste management and sustainable development.

A survey method was used to collect data on how employees in different enterprises are informed about the promotion and development of environmental opportunities through the creation of a waste management strategy, the implementation of the ISO 14001 standard and sustainable development. The survey consisted of 10 questions, in addition we elaborated the answers.

RESULTS

The obtained results confirm the basic hypothesis that the implementation of the ISO 14001 standard by the environmental protection enterprises has a positive impact since it offers many opportunities and benefits for developing their business and making profit.

Companies have implemented ISO 14001 standard because of a legal obligation and regulation, and to make it easier to perform on the international market.

Employees know how the functioning of this standard affects the environment.

IMPLICATIONS

The survey was conducted in order to perceive the real situation in terms of employee awareness of the implementation and the importance of ISO certification in the utilization of environmental opportunities and achieving longterm economic development. Managers need to understand the nature of the impact of problems, the way they have emerged, can develop a strategy to solve them, and develop the strategic direction of the organization.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The original value of this paper is confirmed through the obtained results from the conducted research that confirmed the fact that the successful management of the environmental challenges faced by the enterprises is a modern concept that enables achieving sustainable development and achieving significant economic

benefits, strengthening the economy at the local level, encouraging the development of the green economy and promoting environmental protection.

KEY WORDS

Economic crisis, enterprises, innovation, sustainable development, environmental management

- 1. Bagad, A. (2009) *Environmental Studies*, Pune, India: Technical Publications Pune.
- 2. Channing, J. (2014) Safety at work, Abingdo, UK: Routledge
- 3. Guinee, J. (2004) *Handbook on Life Cycle Assesment- Operational Guide to the ISO Standards,* Doodrecht, Holland: Kluwer Academic Publisher.
- 4. Lawrence, A.T., Weber, J., Post, J.E. (2016) *Business and Society: Shareholders, Ethics and Public Policy*, Columbus, Ohio, USA: McGraw-Hill Education.
- 5. Sachs J., (2015) *The age of sustainable development,* New York, New York: Colombia University.

2.16. GREEN SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT PRACTICES IN THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

Lidija Pulevska Ivanovska¹

University Ss. Cyril and Methodius, Faculty of Economics-Skopje, Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Negative changes in the environment represent a worldwide problem. A major factor in these changes are businesses that operate non-ethical and without paying attention to environmental pollution. This course of events are leading to the need for finding alternative types of production, replacement of materials with new environmentally friendly materials and change of views regarding the financial gain from the products.

Green supply chain management means integrating environmental issues into supply chain management. A company can differentiate itself in the eyes of their competitors and increase its chances for success by applying green supply chain management practices.

The purpose of this paper is to propose alternative ways for Macedonian companies to work, and help them to implement green supply chain management. Also, it reviews the current status in which Macedonian companies are, regarding the greening of the working process, and it provides guidance for ways to get better, faster and cheaper, while protecting the environment in which they operate.

The subject of this research is the current situation in the Macedonian companies regarding their care for the environment and the application of the environmental standards in the day-to-day functioning of the companies. On the one hand, buyers were taken as the main drivers of the process, which through their conscience and knowledge of the problem can contribute to the improvement of the general ecological situation. On the other hand, there were suppliers who had to make drastic changes in their work in order to meet their expectations. It is common knowledge for Macedonian companies that they apply Western practice

¹ Full time Professor, e-mail: lidijap@eccf.ukim.edu.mk

more slowly. The goal was to determine if companies are following world trends and to what extent. The plan was to show all the spheres of daily work that can be intervened and significantly improve the results. It begins with designing the product when it is necessary to pay attention to which materials will be used for its preparation and availability. When purchasing the materials, the most favorable bidder should be selected, in addition to the price, the time and method of delivery should be the key. During production, special care must be taken in order to reduce the pollution caused by machinery, as well as the quantity of material that is produced during production. When this is complete, the product should be environmentally packaged and delivered to the final consumers with the least amount of pollution

The most important goals of this research are the following:

- Examining the need for introducing high environmental standards in the operation of companies;
- The level of knowledge of companies with the green supply chain and the mood for its application;
- Examining areas in which environmental standards can be applied;
- Analysis of the barriers to the implementation of the green supply chain;
- Examining future trends in companies' environmental performance;
- Creating strategies for implementing environmental operations in everyday processes.

METHODOLOGY

For the purpose of this research, a questionnaire as a primary research method was used. The survey questionnaire collected data that were later reviewed and interpreted.

Using the website www.kwiksurveys.com, a survey questionnaire was prepared to meet the needs of the interviewer. The site enables the creation of a questionnaire, recording the answers to the questions, reporting on the state from which the questionnaire, time, etc. of the respondent is filled in. The collected data are later stored for up to 6 months from the date of commencement of the examination. The answering of the questionnaire was anonymous.

In the introductory part of the questionnaire, it was pointed out that the persons interviewed should be persons who are in active employment, or until recently

had been employed, based on the territory of the Republic of Macedonia. It was filled in by 42 respondents who met the conditions.

Regarding the structure of the questionnaire, it was divided as follows:

- Introductory part General information about the organization in which you work: The purpose of this section is to obtain information about the organization in which the surveyed works. To get more detailed information about the size, financial power, the scope of work of the company, etc. These data would later help interpret the results in terms of getting information whether larger and more powerful companies are more careful and invest in environmental performance than smaller ones.
- Part 1 Corporate Responsibility and Greening Your Daily Work: The goal
 of this section is to see the level of employee awareness of the term
 corporate responsibility and the greening of day-to-day operations. It will
 also be possible to notice the employees' opinions on the corporate social
 responsibility of their company and whether it makes everyday efforts to
 preserve the working environment in which it operates.
- Part 2 Green Supplier Network: The goal of this section is to see the level of employee awareness with the ability of green suppliers. Also, through the questions, it will be possible to see if companies use some of the benefits of the green suppliers, i.e. whether they work smart to reduce their costs and preserve the environment, or are still working in a conventional way, using dangerous, harmful and obsolete materials during the preparation of its products and packaging for the same.
- Final part Consumer experience: The purpose of this section is to see the level of awareness of the people themselves, outside of the companies. In fact, this section intents to discover the habits of people who live and work in the Republic of Macedonia. Through the questions it is easy to notice how the financial situation affects their decision to buy environmentally friendly products, i.e. products with environmentally-friendly packaging, etc.

As it can be noted, the questionnaire is divided into 4 parts, that is, a total of 28 questions. It is a question mark where the respondent chooses one (and only one) answer from the offered ones. This approach was used, because my goal was to see what they first notice, that is, which answer is first selected by the respondents. The possibility of choosing just one correct answer accurately shows which information is most easily quickly reached the respondent. It also allows for no hesitation and ambiguity of the answers.

RESULTS

Thanks to modern society, the media that all connect us, the rapid access to information, people gradually become aware of the importance of planet Earth and its preservation. Large corporations are beginning to accept the advice and guidance from environmental experts. So the idea of greening the everyday business was born. In this improvement, the competitive side of companies is again coming to the fore, where now instead of big profits, they compete for better image, brand and better system for environmental operation and environmental protection. Naturally, they do all this for getting closer to buyers.

The Republic of Macedonia is a relatively young country. Such practices from the West are slowly reaching us. A large number of citizens, due to their lack of information and lack of interest, are not familiar with the problems that can arise if certain steps are not taken regarding the preservation of the environment. Research shows that too few Macedonian companies manage in any way to introduce environmentally friendly materials in their work. The main reason for this has been shown to be several key factors. The most notable is the poor information of the Macedonian companies for greening the operations. Macedonian managers are not familiar with the advantages and opportunities offered by green operations. As a second, the same important factor is the finances. Of course, for the initial implementation of greening in the operation, financial resources are needed, which Macedonian companies are most likely not ready to invest. The weak regulation of this issue in the Republic of Macedonia is the third important factor. If we have a more serious motivation system, as well as punishing the non-compliance with the standards, I think that Macedonian companies will have to "find" a way and means for green operation. In the long term, this is a worthwhile investment, both for the companies themselves and for the whole society. The goal of every Macedonian company should be to design a product according to world standards, to fulfill the standards for ecological operation, to produce it with minimal pollution, to pack the finished product in an environmentally friendly packaging, which would later be reused or recycled.

IMPLICATIONS

We are all witnesses of today's events. It would be selfish to say that we are not concerned about the problems that occur everywhere in the world, and they concern global pollution. The main driver of pollution we are people with the things we do. Pollution begins with every individual. Each of us has the opportunity to change something to improve the general situation for all of us.

The beginnings of this issue date back to the early 1980s, and from day to day it is becoming more and more the topic of research and work. The causes of pollution and ways to deal with pollutants are becoming more and more profound. One of the reasons for the pollution can be found in products that are being manufactured and used today. Also, the very path of the product from plain raw material to processing, processing, packaging, dispatch to the customer, creates waste material that additionally pollutes the environment. By increasing the awareness of producers and buyers, we can reduce this pollution to a minimum. Green Supply Chain Management is a way for a company to differentiate itself from competition and increase its chances of success. Companies that will succeed in introducing ecological standards in their supply system and greening the whole process mean that they have set up modern working standards, and therefore deserve more respect from the environment..

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Today's globalization increases customer opportunities. If buyers focus on improving the environment, this will lead to an increase in the efforts that suppliers make in meeting their requirements, which means that they will reduce costs and risk, while improving public image for companies and at the same time the social goal for healthier environment. Manufacturers should constantly cooperate with their suppliers of raw materials to create environmentally friendly products. With the purchasing power they own, manufacturers can set new criteria with their suppliers. The ultimate goal should be the greening of the entire supply system.

The concept of green supply chain management is a relatively new concept that emerges in recent literature. Because of this, it is still poorly represented in the world and access to information about it is limited. Its main goal is to raise awareness of environmentally responsible consumption, produce environmentally friendly products, reduce poverty and achieve economic growth, by improving health, working conditions and sustainability.

KEY WORDS

Supply chain management, corporate responsibility, environment, environmentally friendly materials, green suppliers

- 1. Bansal, P. and Roth, K. (2000), "Why companies go green: a model of ecological responsiveness", Academy of Management Journal, 43, pp. 717-736.
- 2. Bowen, F., Cousins, P., Lamming, R., & Faruk, A. (2001). "The role of supply management capabilities in green supply". Production and Operations Management, 10(2), pp. 174-189.
- 3. Faruk, A.C., Lamming, R.C., Cousins, P.D. and Bowen, F.E. (2002), "Analyzing, mapping, and managing environmental impacts along supply chains", Journal of Industrial Ecology 5(2), pp. 13–36.
- Hu, A.H., Chia Wei. H. (2006) "Empirical Study in the Critical Factors of Green Supply Chain Management (GSCM) Practice in the Taiwanese Electrical and Electronics Industries", International Conference on Management of Innovation and Technology, Volume 2, pp. 853 – 857.
- 5. Kamigaki, K. (2009), "Generation of green brand", Asian Electrical and Electronic Green Society International Conference, 7-9 October, Thailand.
- Kemppainen, K. & Vepsäläinen, A.P.J. (2003), "Trends in industrial supply chains and networks", International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, 33(8), pp. 701-719.
- King, A.A. and Lenox, M.J. (2001), "Lean and green? An empirical examination of the relationship between lean production and environmental performance", Production and Operations Management, Volume 10, Issue 3, pages 244–256, September 2001.
- 8. Laruche M., Bergeron J., Barbaro F., (2001). "Targeting Consumers who are willing to pay more for environmentally friendly products", Journal of Consumer Market, 18(6), 503-520.
- 9. Ninlawan C., Seksan P., Tossapol K., and Pilada W. (2010), "The Implementation of Green Supply Chain Management Practices in Electronics Industry", Proceedings from the International Multiconference for Engineers and Computer Scientists, Vol. III, Hong Kong.
- Salam, M.A., "Green procurement adoption in manufacturing supply chain", Proceedings of the 9th Asia Pasific Industrial Engineering & Management Systems Conference (APIEMS2008), 3-5 December 2008, Indonesia, pp.1253-1260.
- 11. Sarkis, J. (2003), "A strategic decision framework for green supply chain management", Journal of Cleaner Production, vol.11, 2003, pp.397-409.
- 12. Sarkis, J. (ed.) (2001). Greener Manufacturing and Operations: From Design to Delivery and Back. Sheffield: Greenleaf.

2.17. THE CO-CREATING OF SUSTAINABILITY-ORIENTED VALUE IN SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Beba Rakić¹

Faculty of Business Studies, John Naisbitt University, Belgrade, Serbia

Mira Rakić²

Faculty of Business Studies, John Naisbitt University, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Co-creating of value in supply chain plays an important role for the sustainability. Focal firms, voluntarily and/or under the pressure coming from consumers, the public and other stakeholders, have embedded sustainability in their value chains, supply chains and, more broadly observed, their business as a whole. The focal firm cannot create a value on its own, so that, in the paper, an analysis is conducted of the co-creating of the value in the context of sustainability. The main objective of the paper is to present integrated framework for embedding sustainability in the supply chain.

METHODOLOGY

We have conducted the content-based literature review method. It started from searches of electronic databases, such as: Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), Emerald Management Xtra (Emerald), EBSCO Academic Search Premier, EBSCO Business Source Complete, Google Scholar, Scopus & Science Direct (Elsevier), Springer/Kluwer and Wiley Online Library (Wiley) (the databases are listed in alphabetical order).

RESULTS

The paper concentrates on the co-creating of sustainability-oriented value in the supply chainas the pathway for sustainability. The result is integrated framework for embedding sustainability in the supply chain.

¹ PhD, e-mail: brakic@gmail.com

² PhD, e-mail: rakic.mira@gmail.com

IMPLICATIONS

The paper presents several solutions to co-creating of value in supply chain. Transformation from sustainable value to sustainability-oriented value is one solution. The second solution is transformation from the generic value chain to the sustainability-oriented internal value chain.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Co-creating of value in the sustainability-oriented supply chain management is the pathway for sustainability.

KEY WORDS

Co-creating value, sustainability-oriented value, supply chain management, sustainability-oriented supply chain management

- 1. Arnold, M. (2017). Fostering sustainability by linking co-creation and relationship management concepts. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140(1), 179–188.
- Axsen, J., &Kurani, K. 2013. Developing sustainability-oriented values: Insights from households in a trial of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles. *Global Environmental Change*, 23, 70–80.
- Chou, C., C Chen, C., & Conley, C. (2015). Creating Sustainable Value Through Service Offerings - Creating sustainability-led service offerings requires integrating customer context with sustainability values. *Research-Technology Management*, March-April, 48–55.
- 4. Clark, G., Kosoris, J., Hong, L. N., &Crul, M. (2009). Design for sustainability: Current trends in sustainable product design and development. *Sustainability*, 1(3), 409–424.
- 5. Gobble, M.M. (2012). Resources: Innovation and sustainability. *Research-Technology Management*,55(5), 64–67.
- Hart, S.L., & Milstein, M. B., (2003). Creating Sustainable Value. Academy of Management Executive, 17(2), 56–67.
- Ind, N., Fuller, C., &Trevail, C. (2012). Brand Together How co-creation generates innovation and re-energizes brands. London, Philadelphia, New Delhi: Kogan Page Limited.
- 8. Johnson, S. (2010). *Where good ideas come from: The natural history of innovation.* London: Allen Lane.
- 9. Kotler, P., & Keller, K. (2012). *Marketing Management*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 10. Lacoste, S., (2016). Sustainable value co-creation in business networks, *Industrial Marketing Management*, 52, 151-162.

- 11. Lozano, R. (2012). Towards better embedding sustainability into companies' systems: an analysis of voluntary corporate initiatives. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 25, 14–26.
- Luchs, M.G., Naylor, R.W., Irwin, J.R., &Raghunathan, R. (2010). The Sustainability Liability: Potential Negative Effects of Ethicality on Product Preference, *Journal of Marketing*,74 (5), 18–31.
- 13. Payne, A.F., Storbacka, K., &Frow, P., (2008). Managing the co-creation of value. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 36, 83–96.
- 14. Rakic, B., &Rakic, M. (2015a). Holistic management of sustainability marketing in the process of sustainable development. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*,14 (4), 887–900.
- 15. Rakic, M., &Rakic, B. (2015b). Sustainable Lifestyle Marketing of Individuals: the Base of Sustainability, *Amfiteatru Economic*, 17 (40), 891–908.
- 16. Rakic, B., &Rakic, M. (2017a). From Marketing Myopia to Contemporary Marketing: Transformations in Marketing in the Context of Digitalization and Sustainability (Integration of Traditional, Digital, Co-Creative and Sustainability-Oriented Mindsets Inside Actors in Contemporary Marketing). Digital Book, available at eBook retailers: Amazon.com - Kindle Store, etc.; Kindle Edition, ASIN: B06WGV26DT, Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/Marketing-Myopia-Contemporary-Through-Evolutions-ebook/dp/B06WGV26DT/ref=sr_1_2?s=digitaltext&ie=UTF8&qid=1487803402&sr=1-2&keywords=marketing+myopia
- Rakic, B., &Rakic, M. (2017b). Sustainability-Oriented Mindset: Revolutionary Role of Sustainability Marketing as the Driver of Transformations for Sustainability, Digital Book, available at eBook retailers: Amazon.com - Kindle Store, etc. Kindle Edition, ASIN: B071X9H1XK, Retrieved from

https://www.amazon.com/dp/B071X9H1XK/ref=sr_1_1?s=digital-

text&ie=UTF8&qid=1497462123&sr=1-1&keywords=Sustainability-

Oriented+Mindset%3A+Revolutionary+Role+of+Sustainability+Marketing+as+the+Driv er+of+Transformations+for+Sustainability

- 18. Ramaswamy, V. (2009). Co-Creation of Value Towards an Expanded Paradigm of Value Creation. *Marketing Review St. Gallen*, 6, 11–17.
- Ramirez, E. (2013). The Consumer Adoption of Susta inability-Oriented Offerings: Toward a Middle-Range Theory. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 21(4), 415– 428.
- Vargo, S.L., Maglio, P.P., & Akaka, M.A. (2008). On value and value co-creation: A service systems and service logic perspective. *European Management Journal*, 26(3), 145–152.

2.18. ASSESSMENT OF ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY OF ACCEPTANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS IN THE FIELD OF AN URBAN ECOLOGY

Kseniia Lapshina¹

Voronezh State Technical University, Russia

Natalia Bakaeva²

Southwest Federal University, Russia

Očga Sotnikova³

Voronezh State Technical University, Russia

OBJECTIVES

The current problem of society is creation of conditions for keeping development of the cities for the benefit of saving the necessary quality level of life of present and future generations of mankind. But economic expenses are required to be restricted reasonably. The purpose of the research is development of scientific bases of control of ecological safety of one of city infrastructures from the item of biospheric compatibility and progressive development of the urbanized territories.

METHODOLOGY

Most often as criterion of efficiency of functioning of the transport systems serves receiving profit and extension of scales of business, but not balance and stability of the urban environment on the basis of priorities of resource-saving, environmental friendliness and safety. As a result deterioration in ecology, growth of consuming of the non-renewable natural resources, harmful bursts and not utilized waste are stated. The analysis of the modern methods of support of ecological safety of MTS as an infrastructure component of municipal economy is made; technologies of support of ecological safety of MTS are created etc. Practical recommendations about support of ecological safety and perspective

¹ Ee-mail: Kseniia_lapshina@mail.ru

² E-mail: natbak@mail.ru

³ E-mail: hundred@vgasu.vrn.ru

development of MTS are developed, methods of their implementation in programs and projects of development of the city with assessment of economic efficiency of the offered actions are justified.

RESULTS

The principles of support of ecological safety of MTS of the large cities which are based on provisions of a paradigm of biospheric compatibility are developed. The offered conceptual model of ecological safety is based on system representation of MTS of the city as the sum of technical, natural, social and economic components. The offered techniques and algorithms use models of assessment, prediction and criteria on the basis of balance of bio-, noo- and technosphere.

IMPLICATIONS

The offered principles of monitoring are intended for use by city municipalities, educational and scientific communities, practicians, experts in the field of assessment of quality of life of the population for the purpose of overcoming the negative consequences caused by features and contradictions of process of the modern urbanization.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The new principles of monitoring of ecological safety of MTS of the city which are based on accounting of the internal and external directions, including economic estimate are offered. Criteria for evaluation, models and algorithms of prediction and control of ecological safety of MTS are developed, the experimental and numerical studies including environmental monitoring, prediction, justification and economic assessment of efficiency of acceptance of administrative decisions are executed.

KEY WORDS

Economic efficiency, city infrastructure, transport systems, economic assessment, ecological safety, urban ecology

- 1. Jeremy Rifkin (2013), "The Third Industrial Revolution". VII,233-242
- 2. Brand, Ulrich (2012), "Green Economy the Next Oxymoron? No Lessons Learned from Failures of Implementing Sustainable Development. GAIA 21(1): 28-35.

- 3. Kennet M., and Felton J.,(2012)The Green Built Environment: A Handbook. The Green Economics Institute.
- 4. Kennet M., and Courea E, Pepinyte (2011) Handbook of Green Economics. The Green Economics Institute.
- 5. Kennet M., (2012) The Green Economics Reader. The Green Economics Institute.
- 6. Shmelev S., ed. (2017) Green Economy Reader. Lectures in Ecological Economics and Sustainability. Springer, 463 pp. https://www.springer.com/gb/book/9783319389172
- 7. Shmelev S. (2012) Ecological Economics: Sustainability in Practice. Springer, 248 pp. https://www.springer.com/gb/book/9789400719712
- 8. Shmelev S., Shmeleva I.A., eds. (2012) Sustainability Analysis: An Interdisciplinary Approach. Palgrave, 335 pp. https://www.springer.com/gb/book/9780230355248
- 9. United Nations Division for Sustainable Development (UNDESA) (2012), "A guidebook to the Green Economy".
- 10. United Nations Environment Programme (2010), Developing Countries Success Stories. http://www.unep.org/pdf/GreenEconomy_SuccessStories.pdf
- United Nations Environment Programme (2010), A Brief for Policymakers on the Green Economy and Millennium Development Goals. http://www.unep.org/greeneconomy/Portals/30/docs/policymakers_brief_GEI &MDG.pdf
- United Nations Environment Programme (2010), Driving a Green Economy Through Public Finance and Fiscal Policy Reform. http://www.unep.org/greeneconomy/Portals/30/docs/DrivingGreenEconom y.pdf

2.19. SUSTAINABILITY OF ORGANIC AND CONVENTIONAL SOYBEAN PRODUCTION SYSTEMS: EVIDENCE FROM VOJVODINA

Danilo Đokić¹

University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

Ljubica Komazec²

University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

Slavica Tomić³

University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In Serbia, there are two systems of soybean production: organic and conventional. It is clear that the environmental performances of organic production are useful for society, but the question is whether it is economically sustainable. The use of energy is now considered as one of the key indicators of sustainable development (Bailey, A. P. et al., 2003). Therefore, greater energy efficiency means greater contribution to sustainable development. Aim of this paper is comparison of two systems of soybean production from the standpoint of economic performances and energy efficiency.

METHODOLOGY

The subject of this study is comparison of sustainability of conventional and organic soybean systems. Comparison was based on two key indicators: gross margin and energy efficiency in organic and conventional soybean production in Vojvodina. Data were collected on a sample of 12 farms in Vojvodina randomly, of which 6 in the organic production system, and 6 farms in the conventional production system. All farms are family farms and soybean production was carried out in areas of less than 10ha.

¹ Research Fellow, e-mail: danilo.djokic@ef.uns.ac.rs

² Full Professor, e-mail: ljkomazec@ef.uns.ac.rs

³ Associate Professor, e-mail: tomics@ef.uns.ac.rs

Energy efficiency is calculated as a ratio of energy output and energy input according to the following formula (Mandal, K. G. et al., 2009):

Energy efficiency (MJ/ha)= Energy output (MJ/ha) Energy input (MJ/ha)

The energy output is obtained based on the energy values of achieved yields per hectare. Total energy input is calculated as the sum of energy values for each of the inputs in the soybean production. Energy value of inputs and outputs are aproximated based on energy equivalents. Gross margins (the difference between total revenue and variable costs) have been calculated as an indicator of economic sustainability

RESULTS

Average coefficient of energy efficiency in organic soybean production is 5.61, while in conventional production recorded a lower level of energy efficiency (5.27). Also, average gross margin is higher in organic soybean production. Based on these results it can be concluded that organic soybean production in Vojvodina is more sustainable than conventional.

Limitations of this study are:

- a relatively small sample,
- the results apply only to one production a year,
- the results apply only to small farms,
- questionable application of the results in the long term

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this study can be interesting for: farmers, agricultural policy makers and researchers. The study shows that small farms that produce organic soybeans realize higher gross margin than conventional. Farmers with limited resources can be reoriented to this production in order to achieve better economic results. Better economic results, as well as higher energy efficiency, may be a signal to the creators of the agricultural policy that the organic soybean production is more sustainable. Because of that, it should be subject of government support.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The main result of this study suggests that organic soybean production is more sustainable than conventional in Vojvodina. These results are related only to small soybean producers. Limitations of this study indicate that there is room for further research to examine in detail sustainability of conventional and organic soybean production. Therefore, the results of this study can provide basic guidance to other researchers in this field. Corrective measures will be the subject of future studies.

KEY WORDS

Sustainability, soybean, organic, conventional, energy efficiency, gross margin

- 1. Bailey, A. P., Basford, W. D., Penlington, N., Park, J. R., Keatinge, J. D. H., Rehman, T., Yates, C. M. (2003). A comparison of energy use in conventional and integrated arable farming systems in the UK. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 97*(1), 241-253.
- 2. Barut, Z. B., Ertekin, C., & Karaagac, H. A. (2011). Tillage effects on energy use for corn silage in Mediterranean Coastal of Turkey. *Energy*, *36*(9), 5466-5475.
- 3. Bruinsma, J. (2009). The resource outlook to 2050. In *Expert meeting on how to feed the world in* (Vol. 2050, pp. 1-33).
- 4. Demircan, V., Ekinci, K., Keener, H. M., Akbolat, D., Ekinci, C. (2006). Energy and economic analysis of sweet cherry production in Turkey: a case study from Isparta province. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *47*(13), 1761-1769.
- 5. Gündoğmuş, E. (2006). Energy use on organic farming: A comparative analysis on organic versus conventional apricot production on small holdings in Turkey.*Energy conversion and management*, *47*(18), 3351-3359.
- 6. Kitani, O. (1999). CIGR handbook of agricultural engineering. Vol, V, Energy and Biomass Engineering. ASAE publication, ST Joseph, MI.
- Lansink, A.O., Pietola, K., Backman S. (2002): Efficiency and productivity of conventional and organic farms in Finland 1994-1997, European Review of Agricultural Economics, 29 (1), 51-65.
- 8. Mandal, K. G., Hati, K. M., Misra, A. K. (2009). Biomass yield and energy analysis of soybean production in relation to fertilizer-NPK and organic manure. *Biomass and bioenergy*, *33*(12), 1670-1679.
- 9. Pimentel, D., Hepperly, P., Hanson, J., Douds, D., & Seidel, R. (2005). Environmental, energetic, and economic comparisons of organic and conventional farming systems. *BioScience*, *55*(7), 573-582.
- Popović, R., Đokić, D., & Kleut, Ž. (2016). Efficiency Improvement of Soybean Production in Serbia. in: (Eds. Tomić D., Lovre K., Subić J., Ševarlić M.) Emerging Technologies and the Development of Agriculture, Thematic Proceedings, Serbian

Association of Agricultural Economists, Faculty of Economics in Subotica, University of Novi Sad, Institute of Agricultural Economics, Novi Sad, 203-217.

- 11. Poudel, K. L., Johnson, T.G., Yamamoto, N., Gautam, S., Mishra, B. (2015): *Comparing technical efficiency of organic and conventional coffee farms in rural hill region of Nepal using data envelopment analysis (DEA) approach,* Organic Agriculture, 5 (4), 263-275.
- 12. Sahm, H., Sanders, J., Nieberg, H., Behrens, G., Kuhnert, H., Strohm, R., & Hamm, U. (2013). *Reversion from organic to conventional agriculture: A review.* Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 28(3), 263-275.
- 13. Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia, 2017. (webrzs.stat.gov.rs)
- 14. Singh, J. M. (2002). On farm energy use pattern in different cropping systems in Haryana, India. *Master of Science, International Institute of Management University of Flensburg, Germany*, 50-58.
- 15. Turhan, S., Ozbag, B. C., Rehber, E. (2008). A comparison of energy use in organic and conventional tomato production. *J. Food Agric. Environ*, *6*(3-4), 318-321.
- Zhang, L. W., Feike, T., Holst, J., Hoffmann, C., Doluschitz, R. (2015). Comparison of energy consumption and economic performance of organic and conventional soybean production—A case study from Jilin Province, China. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 14(8), 1561-1572.

2.20. THE IMPACT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL COMPONENT ON THE ECONOMIC VALUE OF THE COMPANY

Tatjana Stevanović¹

University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Niš, Serbia

Marija Petrović-Randjelović² University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Niš, Serbia

Vesna Janković-Milić³ University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Niš, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is that on case of the company Titan Cement Kosjerić shows that respecting the principles of corporate social responsibility in the field of environment can help to increase operational efficiency and environmental sustainability of the company.

METHODOLOGY

The methods used in this paper are the method of analysis, synthesis, descriptive statistics and correlation analysis.

RESULTS

The obtained results show that the improvement of non-financial performances of the company Titan Cement Kosjerić is a result of the activities and commitment of the company's management towards the realization the activities in domain of the implementation of corporate social responsibility practice, particularly concerns about environmental protection, which is in the period from 2011 to 2015 reflected on the increase of the economic value of the company.

¹ PhD, Associate Professor, e-mail: tatjana.stevanovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

² PhD, Associate Professor, e-mail: marija.petrovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

³ PhD, Associate Professor, e-mail: vesna.jankovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

IMPLICATIONS

Increase corporate awareness of the importance of the integration of sustainable development into business strategies, policies and processes contributed to the wide acceptance of this concept in the context of the corporate sector, policy makers, and practitioners.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The main contribution of this paper is to highlight the importance of the realization of the project that contribute to environmental protection and improving socially responsible business dimensions of the analyzed company.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, environment, social responsibility, economic value

- 1. Bossell, H. (1999). *Indicators for sustainable development: theory, method, applications, a Report to the Balaton Group*. Hartmut Bossel. Manitoba.
- 2. Carroll, A., Buchholtz, A. K. (1996). *Business & Society Ethics and Stakeholder Management*. South-Western College Publishing. Ohio.
- 3. Holmberg, J. (1992). *Making development sustainable*, chapter 1. Island Press. Washington, DC.
- 4. Schaltegger, S., Wagner, M. (2006) Managing and Measuring the Business Case for Sustainability Capturing the Relationship between Sustainability Performance. *Business Competitiveness and Economic Performance*. Greenleaf Publishing. Germany.
- Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2010) Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i održivi razvoj,http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/TCK_CSRS_Report_2010_srp.pdf (15.03.2017.)
- Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2011) Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i održivi razvoj,http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/Titan_CSR_Prikaz_SRP_web2.pdf (15.03.2017.)
- Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2012) Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i održivi razvoj,http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/2012_Titan_CSR_Report_SRB.pdf (15.03.2017.)
- Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2013) Društveno odgovorno poslovanje i održivi razvoj,http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/TITAN_2013_SRP_web.pdf (15.03.2017.)
- 9. Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2014) Izveštaj o društveno odgovornom poslovanju i održivom razvoju,

http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/TITAN_DOPIzvestaj_2014_SRB_web.pdf (15.03.2017.)

10. Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2014) Izveštaj o društveno odgovornom poslovanju i održivom razvoju,

http://www.titan.rs/public/uploaded_files/TITAN_2015_Izvestaj_o_DOP_i_OR.pdf (15.03.2017.)

- 11. Titan Cementara Kosjerić (2017a), http://www.titan.rs/home/page/0/O-nama (15.02.2017.)
- 12. United Nations Conference on Environment & Development, https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/Agenda21.pdf (15.03.2017.)

2.21. NEW JOBS IN EUROPEAN ECONOMIES – SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY PERSPECTIVE

Marina Savković¹

Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

Nataša Stanišić² Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

Nikica Radović³

Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

We shall attempt to provide an answer to question as to what sort of jobs the application of the concept of sustainable development creates, i.e. the development of the sustainable economy at a national level. The European Union is deemed a leader in sustainable development and creation of green jobs. Therefore it is important to understand in what manner the new jobs and sources of work posts in the sustainable economy have been encompassed by the policies of sustainable development at the level of member states of the European Union.

METHODOLOGY

The analysis of the existing data and literature shall provide an overview of the jobs which support the sustainable development, whereby accentuating green and digital jobs. We shall apply the frequency qualitative analysis as the basic research method, to the contents of national strategies of sustainable development of the EU member states. Special attention shall be paid to the analysis of the Strategy of Sustainable Development of the Republic of Serbia, within a comparative context against other analyzed documents. The subject of analysis, the strategy of sustainable development, shall include the employment issues as well and the sources of new work posts within sustainable economies. The analysis of indicators of sustainable development, at a national level, shall supplement the results of this research. The research includes only sustainable

¹ PhD, e-mail: msavkovic@singidunum.ac.rs

² MBA, e-mail: natasastanisic@singidunum.ac.rs

³ PhD, e-mail: nradovic@singidunum.ac.rs

development strategies, and not other developmental strategies, within which the issues of new work posts in the context of sustainable development have, potentially been presented.

RESULTS

The results of contents analysis indicate to significant differences in the manner in which employment issues have been included as well as sources of work posts, within the analyzed strategies. The general conclusion is that the employment issues have been relatively modestly presented in the analyzed strategies. Room for improvement of these policies has been found from the analyzed perspective, as well as good examples which should be looked upon. We have paid special attention to the applicability of recommendations, in case of small and open economies.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of this analysis can be useful for academic and professional community, both for further analysis of the labor market in the context of sustainable development and promoting long-term development policies at the national level.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This analysis presents a comprehensive overview of the European strategies of sustainable development which deal with employment issues and the sources of new work posts, both in the current and the developmental context.

KEY WORDS

New jobs, sustainable development, sustainable development strategies, green jobs, digital jobs, Labour market

- 1. CEDEFOP (2010), 'Skills for green jobs', European synthesis report, Cedefop (2010), 'Skills for green jobs', European synthesis report, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Colijn, B. (2014), Green Jobs in Europe and The Increasing Demand for Technical Skills, NEUJOBS Working Paper No 4.2, dostupno na: http://www.neujobs.eu/sites/default/files/publication/2014/02/Neujobs_Del4.2_270 12014%20.pdf (decembar 2014)

- Emas, R. (2015), The Concept of Sustainable Development: Definition and Defining Principles, Brief for GSDR 2015, dostupno na: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5839GSDR%202015_SD_ concept_definiton_rev.pdf (maj 2016)
- 4. European Commission (2013), A Decent Life for All: Ending poverty and giving the world a sustainable future, Brussels.
- 5. European Commission (2012), European Vacancy and Recruitment Report, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union
- 6. European Commission (2014), Green Employment Initiative: Tapping into the job creation potential of the green economy, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, COM(2014) 446 final, Brussels.
- European Parliament (2016), The Future of Work: The Digitalisation in the US Labour Market, Compilation of Briefings for the EMPL Committee, Directorate-General for Internal Policies; available at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2016/578959/IPOL_BRI(2016) 578959_EN.pdf
- 8. Godin, A. (2012), Green Jobs for Full Employment, in Murray M, Forstater M (2012), Employment Guarantee Schemes . Job Creation and Policy in Developing Countries and Emerging Markets, Palgrave MacMillan
- 9. ILO, IIFLS (2012), Eurozone Job Crisis Trends and Policy Responses, Studies on Growth and Equity, Geneva.
- 10. Jaeger, C. ed. (2011), A New Growth Path for Europe Generating Prosperity and Jobs in the Low-Carbon Economy, Postdam: European Climate Forum.
- 11. O'Reilly, J. (group of authors), (2015), Five Characteristics of Youth Unemployment in Europe: Flexibility, Education, Migration, Family Legacies, and EU Policy, SAGE Open, January-March 2015, pp. 1-19
- Pisano, U., Lepuschitz, K., Berger, G. (2013), National Sustainable Development Strategies in Europe 2013 – Tracking stock and exploring new developments, ESDN Quarterly Report No 29, Vienna: European Sustainable Development Network.
- 13. SustainLabour (2013), Green Jobs and related policy frameworks An overview of the European Union, Madrid: International Labour Foundation for Sustainable Development.
- 14. The Federal Government of Germany (2012), 10 Years of Sustainability "made in Germany", National Sustainable Development Strategy Nachhaltigkeitsstrategie fuer Deutschland, Berlin.
- 15. Tomić I. (2016), What drives youth unemployment in Europe, EIZ Working Papers, No EIZ-WP-1601, Zagreb: The Institute of Economics.
- 16. United Nations (2012), The future we want final outcome document, available at: http://rio20.net/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/N1238164.pdf
- 17. World Bank (2012), World Development Report 2013 Jobs, Washington, DC: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

- 18. World Bank Group (2016), World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends, Washington DC
- 19. World Economic Forum (2016), The Future of Jobs: Employment, Skills and Workforce Strategies for the Fourth Industrial Revolution, Global Challenge insight report, January 201

*Additionally to the given references, we have a list of analysed National Sustainable Development Strategies and Sustainable Development Indicators lists and reports, available upon request

2.22. RECONCEPTUALISATION AND STRATEGIC ADOPTION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: SERBIAN CASE – YESTERDAY, TODAY AND TOMOROW

Petar Đukić¹

Faculty of Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Redefinitions and clarifications of the content of the concept of sustainable development. Concretization of the relationship between certain aspects of sustainability. The emergence and evolution of the idea and practices of sustainability. Redefining and operationalization of economic and technological systems of sustainable energetics. The overlap of economic and environmental objectives - intergenerational justice. The so-called three pillars and three areas of sustainable development. Institutions, Technology and Resources - additional principles and adjustments.

METHODOLOGY

This theme study is characterized by an interdisciplinary approach. Sustainable development is subject to the evolution of theory and practice which in the descriptive part of the approach is to be studied by a comparative, analytical and synthetic, deductive and inductive method. Within this approach specific and special scientific methods such as content analysis of documents and case study analysis will be applied. For the processing of empirical data statistical analysis will be used and for the applied project approach cost-benefit analysis of the economic, environmental and social feasibility of projects and measures of public interest, or private projects with strong external effects.

RESULTS

The evolution of the concept of sustainable development. Old and new controversy. Elements for innovative and integrated understanding of sustainable development in the case of Serbian energetics. The duration and evaluation of the theory of sustainable development through international and local conferences.

¹ Full Professor, e-mail: djukic@tmf.bg.ac.rs

The extension of the meaning, the content and the goals of sustainable development. The analysis of externalities and the use of cost-benefit analysis can help in redefining and operationalization of sustainability. Climate action and management of natural resources. The future of the concept of sustainability in small countries.

IMPLICATIONS

A better understanding of the controversies related to sustainable development contributes to defining practical environmental policy. Better perception of theoretical and practical operationalization of the concept of sustainable energetics. The application of scientific results for redefinition and operationalization of sustainability of the development policy of Serbia. Sustainability and pragmatic goals of economics and politics in a view of short and long term. Energetics and economy in the focus of sustainable development. Social and environmental implications of energy markets. Application analysis and new methodology of understanding of integral sustainability - an opportunity for quality growth and sustainable development.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Unconventional approach. Criticism of controversy of sustainability at an early stage of the concept, an attempt to harmonize general and specific objectives and principles of sustainability. Weaknesses and overcoming of the concept based on three pillars and three areas. Economic objectives and results of short, medium and long term. Changing of the content and contemporary manifestations of (un)sustainability. The dynamics of technological change and the new postulates and principles of sustainability.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, sustainability pillars, indicators, energy efficiency, sustainable energy, greening economy, climate changes, cost-benefit alalysis

- 1. Ayres R, Kneese A., *Externalities: Economics and Thermodinamics,* New York 1989.
- Djukanovic S., Djukic, P.,(2014) "The speading of Sollar Cels Aplication in Serbia", GRAND RENEWABLE ENERGY 2014 Proceedings, P-Po-11, 27 July - 1 August, 2014, Tokyo, Japan

- Djukic P., Djukanovic S., (2011) The Challenges of Sustainable Energy in Serbia, , in ISES Solar World Congress Proceedings, Chapter "Renewable Energies and Society", August 28 - September 2, 2011, Cessel, Germany (<u>www.swc2011.org</u>) p.p. 261-270
- 4. Drašković B., (red.), (2013), Upravljanje resursima zaštićenih podučja u Srbiji, Institut ekonomskih nauka i BBA, Beograd 2013
- 5. Đukić M. P., Đukanović S., (2015) *Održivi razvoj ekonomsko-ekološki izazovi*, Tehnološko-metalurški fakultet, Univerzitet u Beogradu, Beograd
- Đukić M. P.,(2011), "Ekonomske konsekvence klimatskih promena održivi odgovor, - u zborniku *Pravni i ekonomski izazovi klimatskih promena*, (ur. S. Lilić), Pravni fakultet Univerziteta u Beogradu, 2011, Centar za izdavaštvo i informisanje str. 11.-40
- 7. lvezić, D., Živković, M. *Energetika i održivi razvoj indikatori održivosti,* Rudarsko geološki fakultet Beograd, 2015.
- 8. Jantzen, J. and Pesic, R. Assessment of the Economic Value of Environmental Degradation in Serbia EAR & DHV. 2004.
- 9. Mishan E. J., (1976), The Costs of Economic Growth, Stapples Press, London 1976.
- Munitlak Ivanovic, O., Golusin, M. Environmental taxation as a Tool for Sustainable Devlopment Policy-State Comparison of Serbia and Aplication of Ecological Taxation Reform in European Union, Economic Analysis, Vol 45, No.1-2, Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, 2012, pp. 32-44
- Munitlak-Ivanović, O., Jovanović, L., Mitić, P. (2014): Ekonomske posledice upotrebe standarda u međunarodnoj trgovini – Serija standarda ISO 14000, ECOLOGICA, Vol. 21, No. 76, str. 623-628
- 12. Ostrom, E., (2006), Upravljanje zajedničkim dobrima: evolucija institucija za kolektivnom delovanje, Naklade Jesenski i Turk, Zagreb 2006.
- 13. Pešić R., (2010)*Ekonomika životne sredine i prirodnih resursa*, Poljoprivredni fakultet Univerziteta u Beogradu, Beograd, 2010.
- 14. Solow R., 1986), "On the Intertemporal Allocation Of Natural Resources", *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, Vol. 88, No.1, 1986.
- 15. Gidens Entoni (2010) Klimatske promene i politika, CLIO, Beograd
- 16. Ichimura Shinichi, *Japan i Azija*, (2016), Evropski centar za mir i razvoj Univerziteta za mir Ujedinjenih nacija, Beograd
- 17. STERN REVIEW: The Economics of Climate Change (2006), http://mudancasclimaticas.cptec.inpe.br/~rmclima/pdfs/destaques/sternreview_repo rt_complete.pdf
- 18. Джукич Петар, Джуканович Славиша, (2016) РУССКО-СЕРБСКИЕ ОТНОШЕНИЯ И СТРАТЕГИИ ВО ВЗГЛЯДЕ НА УСТОЙЧИВУЮ ЭНЕРГЕТИКУ",. КОНГРЕСС REENCON – XXI ВОЗОБНОВЛЯЕМАЯ ЭНЕРГЕТИКА XXI ВЕК» 2016, стр. 10-15. Возобновляемая энергетика XXI век: Энергетическая и экономическая эффективность, // Материалы Международного конгресса REENCON-XXI «Возобновляемая энергетика XXI век: Энергетическая и экономическая эффективность». 13-14 октября 2016г./ Под ред.к.ф.-м.н Д.О. Дуникова, д.т.н. О.С. Попеля - Москва: ОИВТ РАН.2016. -261с. 10-15.

19. Клименко Владимир Викторович (2016) "Парижская конференция по климату 2015 – поворотный пункт в истории мировой энергетики", Возобновляемая энергетика XXI век: Энергетическая и экономическая эффективность, // Материалы Международного конгресса REENCON-XXI «Возобновляемая энергетика XXI век: Энергетическая и экономическая эффективность». 13-14 октября 2016г./

2.23. THE IMPACT OF FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT ON SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

Tatjana Stefanović¹

Research Associate, Independent, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this paper is to try to shade a light on the impact of financial development on sustainable economic growth during and after the 2008. Global financial crisis. The indicators of financial development such as: market capitalization of listed companies as a percent of GDP, listed domestic companies, stock traded total value as a percent of GDP and stock traded turnover ratio will be analyzed for representative group of countries. GDP growth rates and GDP per capita growth rates data for representative panel will be also analyzed as dependable variables. The aim of the paper is to try to make a modest contribution in the finance - growth research area by using panel data approach for relatively short contemporary time span.

METHODOLOGY

A cross - country panel data analysis will be used in order to make relevant conclusions. To achieve the aim of the paper, an observation of relevant growth parametars and parametars of financial development in panel will be exploated.

A cross - country data series analysis of relevant indicators is quantitative method that enables reliable comparision of finance - growth market dynamic in respective time frame. By comparision of indicators of financial market development and GDP growth rates for countries in the panel, a reliable conclusion of the impact of financial deepening on growth can be drawn

RESULTS

The key limitation of the results presented is very short time frame. This is the obstacle caused by research objective that can not be avoided. The work is planned as follows: in the first part a short observation of the implications of the

¹ PhD, e-mail: tanja.ss@orion.rs

latest financial crisis on economic activity of the panel countries will be presented. In the second part an explanation of the panel countries' division into specific groups will be given. Third part of the paper will deal with the specification of financial indicators and definition of growth rates time span. Finally, a corellation between financial market development indicators and GDP growth rates will be presented together with conclusion.

IMPLICATIONS

The latest 2008. Global financial crisis was the first global crisis that started in the financial sector. Crisis in financial sector has spread over real sector with an inevitable decline of GDP growth rates in majority of developed and developing countries. Answering the question how financial market and financial indicators contribute to GDP growth in general and during the crisis is of a great importance for the researches of finance - growth nexus, academics and policy makers. Possible answer is especially valuable for the creation of future policy measures and buffers. The paper will try to, hopefully, make the contribution for the further finance - growth nexus analysis.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Finance growth nexus have been researched for several decades. The methodology employed in researching the problem vary from dynamic panel approach and Granger causality to cross - country and (or) historical panel data time series analysis of financial development indicators and their contribution to GDP growth. The originality of the research paper is derived from the specification of the countries in the panel as well as from the attempt to find corellation between finance - growth nexus and the latest global financial crisis.To the knowledge of the author there is no literature so far that deals with the connection of finance - growth nexus and the global financial crisis for panel that will be presented and in a way explained in this survey.

KEY WORDS

Finance – growth nexus, financial development, financial indicators, GDP growth rates, financial crisis

- 1. Ritab, S., 2007. "Financial sector development and sustainable economic growth in regionally co-integrated emerging markets issues in corporate governance and finance", Advances in Financial Economics, 12, pp. 345-360.
- 2. Calderon, C: and L. Liu, 2003. "The direction of causality between financial development and economic growth", *Journal of Development Economics*, 72 (1), pp. 321-334.
- 3. King, R.C. and R. Levine, 1993. "Finance and Growth: Schumpeter might be right. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 108(3), pp. 717-736.
- 4. Liu, W: and C: Hsu, 2006. "The role of financial development in economic growth: The experiences of Taiwan, Korea and Japan", *Journal of Asian Economics*, 17(4), pp. 667-690
- 5. King, R.G., and Levine, R: (1993). "Finance, entrepreneurship and growth". Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 32, pp. 30-71.
- 6. Pradhan, R.P., 2009. "The nexus between financial development and economic growth in India: Evidence from Multivariate VAR model", *International Journal of Research and Reviews in Applied Sciences, 1(2), pp. 141-151.*
- 7. Gurgul, H. and Lach, L., 2014. "Globalization and economic growth: evidence from two decades of transition in CEE. *Economic Modeling, vol. 36, pp. 99-107.*
- 8. World Bank Open Data World Bank, https://data.worldbank.org
- 9. Database Eurostat, ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database
- 10. World Federation of Exchanges database, https://www.world-exchanges.org
- 11. Stefanović T., 2017., "Towards the more inclusive growth: External Capital Flows and Inequality", Paper presented at the International Scientific Conference "Economic Policy for Smart, Inclusive and Sustainable Growth", hosted by Faculty of Economics Belgrade, 15-17 June 2017.
- Stefanović T., Golubović N., 2010. "Recession, Financial Sector Recovery and Policy Response: Evidence from Serbia", paper published in Proceedings: "Forces driving the Revival of the Companies and Economy", Belgrade, Megatrend University Belgrade for the 8th Scientific Conference, December, 3rd, 2010
- Stefanović T., Golubović N., 2011."Financial Globalization, Integration and Emerging European Economies", paper published fort the 9th International Scientific Conference hosted by International Economics Department and Economic Faculty of Donetsk National University held in Donetsk, Ukraine, 23-26- May, 2011.
- 14. Abu-Bader, and Abu-Qarn, A.S., 2008." Financial development and economic growth: the Egyptian experience". *Journal of policy Modeling, Vol. 30, pp. 887-898.*
- 15. Deb, S.G. and Mukherjee, J. (2008)." Does stock market development cause economic growth? A time series analysis for Indian economy", *International Research Journal of Finance ad Economics, Vol. 21, pp. 142-149.*
- 16. Chen, K.C:, Wu, L., and Wen, J., 2013, "The relationship between finance and growth in China". *Global Finance Journal, Vol. 24, pp. 1-12*

- 17. Zang, H. and Y.C. Kim, 2007. "Does financial development precede growth? Robinson and Lucas might be right". *Applied Economics Letters, Vol. 14, pp 15-19.*
- Zhang, J., L. Wang and S: Wang, 2012. "Financial development and economic growth: recent evidence from China". Journal of Comparative Economics, Vol. 40(3), pp., 393-412
- 19. Shan, J.Z., A.G. Morris and F. Sun, 2001. "Financial development and Economic growth: An egg and chicken problem". *Review of International Economics, Vol. 9(3), pp.443-554.*
- 20. Mercan, M. and G. Ismet, 2013." The effect of financial development on economic growth in BRIC countries: Panel data analysis". *Journal of Economics and Social Studies, Vol. 3(1), pp. 199-218*

2.24. COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIP PARADIGM IN THE SUSTAINABILITY-ORIENTED SUPPLY CHAIN AS THE WAY TO SUSTAINABILITY

Mira Rakić¹

Faculty of Business Studies, John Naisbitt University, Belgrade, Serbia

Beba Rakić²

Faculty of Business Studies, John Naisbitt University, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The New Agenda for Sustainable Development emphasizes the need for "transforming our world". Embedding sustainability into the supply chain is part of the holistic perspective of sustainability. From the aspect of sustainability, the "golden thread" connecting all actors and influencing relationships between actors in the supply chain is the sustainability orientation. The main objective of the paper is to present collaborative partnership paradigm in the sustainability-oriented supply chain as the way to sustainability.

METHODOLOGY

We have conducted the content-based literature review method. It started from searches of electronic databases, such as: Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), Emerald Management Xtra (Emerald), EBSCO Academic Search Premier, EBSCO Business Source Complete, Google Scholar, Scopus & Science Direct (Elsevier), Springer/Kluwer and Wiley Online Library (Wiley) (the databases are listed in alphabetical order.

RESULTS

Sustainability results from the complementary effect of numerous actors' behaviors, so this study suggests the sustainability-oriented collaboration paradigm as a way to sustainability. This study extends research into power in the supply chain on the basis of three "patterns". The first one is the "pattern of

¹ PhD, e-mail: rakic.mira@gmail.com

² PhD, e-mail: brakic@gmail.com

sustainability". The second one is the "pattern of sustainability-oriented actors". The third one is the "pattern of sustainability-oriented collaboration".

IMPLICATIONS

These three patterns of embedding sustainability in the supply chain can also be observed as the three stages of the transformation of the supply. In the first stage of embedding sustainability in the supply chain, actors voluntarily and/or under pressures accept some sustainability initiatives. In the second stage, the number of sustainability-oriented actors behaving sustainably increases. The sustainability-oriented supply chain and the achievement of the goals of the sustainable development require the sustainable behavior of all (or at least) the majority of actors and sustainability-oriented collaboration.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Embedding sustainability in actors' behavior is one part of the holistic perspective of the sustainable development. Sustainability-oriented actors in the supply chain influence the sustainability of individuals, companies and countries. For that reason, sustainability-oriented collaboration and the application of the "pattern of sustainability-oriented collaboration" are needed.

KEY WORDS

Sustainability, sustainable development, supply chain, sustainability-oriented actors, sustainability-oriented supply chain, collaborative partnership paradigm, sustainability-oriented collaboration, transformation

- 1. Beske, P., Land, A., & Seuring, S. (2014). Sustainable supply chain management practices and dynamic capabilities in the food industry: A critical analysis of the literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 152, 131–143.
- Fawcett, S. E., Wallin, C., Allred, C., Fawcett, A. M., & Magnan, G. M. (2011). Information technology as an enabler of supply chain collaboration: A dynamiccapabilities perspective. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 47(1), 38–59.
- 3. Gold, S., Seuring, S., & Beske, P. (2010). Sustainable supply chain management and inter-organizational resources: A literature review. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 17(4), 230–245.
- 4. Grekova, K., Calantone, R.J., Bremmers, H.J., Trienekens, J.H., & Omta, S.W.F. (2016). How environmental collaboration with suppliers and customers influences firm

performance: evidence from Dutch food and beverage-processors. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 112(3), 1861-1871.

- 5. Grimm, J.H., Hofstetter, J.S., & Sarkis, J. (2014). Critical factors for sub-supplier management: A sustainable food supply chains perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 152(C), 159-173.
- 6. Gualandris, J., & Kalchschmidt, M. (2014). Customer pressure and innovativeness: Their role in sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 20, 92–103.
- 7. Hakansson, H., & Waluszewski, A. (2013). A never ending story interaction patterns and economic development. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42 (3), 443–454.
- 8. Hassini, E., Surti, C., & Searcy, C. (2012). A literature review and a case study of sustainable supply chains with a focus on metrics. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 69–82.
- 9. Lozano, R., Carpenter, A., & Huisingh, D. (2015). A review of 'theories of the firm' and their contributions to Corporate Sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 106(1), 430-442.
- 10. Morgan, R.M., & Hunt, S.D. (1994). The commitment-trust theory of relationship marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 58(3), 20–38.
- 11. Pagell, M., Wu, Z., & Wasserman, M. E. (2010). Thinking differently about purchasing portfolios: An assessment of sustainable sourcing. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 46(1), 57–73.
- 12. Rakic, B., & Rakic, M. (2015a). Holistic management of sustainability marketing in the process of sustainable development. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 14(4), 887–900.
- 13. Rakic, M., & Rakic, B. (2015b). Sustainable Lifestyle Marketing of Individuals: the Base of Sustainability, *Amfiteatru Economic*, 17(40), 891–908.
- 14. Rakic, B., & Rakic, M. (2017a). From Marketing Myopia to Contemporary Marketing: Transformations Marketing the Context of Digitalization and in in Sustainability (Integration of Traditional, Digital, Co-Creative and Sustainability-Oriented Mindsets Inside Actors in Contemporary Marketing). Digital Book, available at eBook retailers: Amazon.com - Kindle Store, etc.; Kindle Edition, ASIN: B06WGV26DT, Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/Marketing-Myopia-Contemporary-Through-Evolutions-ebook/dp/B06WGV26DT/ref=sr_1_2?s=digitaltext&ie=UTF8&qid=1487803402&sr=1-2&keywords=marketing+myopia
- 15. Rakic, B., & Rakic, M. (2017b). Sustainability-Oriented Mindset: Revolutionary Role of Sustainability Marketing as the Driver of Transformations for Sustainability, Digital Book, available at eBook retailers: Amazon.com - Kindle Store, etc. Kindle Edition, ASIN: B071X9H1XK, Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/dp/B071X9H1XK/ref=sr_1_1?s=digitaltext&ie=UTF8&qid=1497462123&sr=1-1&keywords=Sustainability-Oriented+Mindset%3A+Revolutionary+Role+of+Sustainability+Marketing+as+the+Driv er+of+Transformations+for+Sustainability

- 16. Rao, P. (2002). Greening the supply chain: a new initiative in South East Asia. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 22(6), 632–655.
- 17. Searcy, C. (2014). Measuring Enterprise Sustainability. *Business Strategy and the Environment*. doi: 10.1002/bse.1861.
- 18. Seuring, S., & Muller, M. (2008). From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16(15), 1699–1710.
- Touboulic, A., Chicksand, D., & Walker, H. (2014). Managing Imbalanced Supply Chain Relationships for Sustainability: A Power Perspective. *Decision Sciences*, 45(4), 577– 619.
- 20. Zhao, X., Huo, B., Flynn, B.B, & Heung, J.H.Y. (2008). The impact of power and relationship commitment on the integration between manufacturers and customers in a supply chain. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26(3), 368–388.

2.25. CRITERIA FOR APPRAISAL OF INVESTMENT PROJECTS IN ENERGY SECTOR¹

Mališa Đukić²

Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of the paper is to analyze the existing criteria and methodologies that are used by international financial institutions and donors for the appraisal process of investment projects in energy sector. European Investment Bank, European Commission and Joint Assistance to Support Projects in European Regions provide their guidelines, best practice examples and common mistakes. These methodologies could be the basis for preparing economic and financial analysis of energy sector investment projects in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

By analysing the existing methodologies for investment appraisal as well as the best practice, i.e. case studies one can create solid basis for proposing, preparing and assessing energy sector projects in Serbia. This can be compared with the existing practice and regulations thereby seeking the possibilities for improvements.

RESULTS

The results include the comparison of the existing methodologies for assessing feasibility of investment projects as well as the proposed measures that could be used for improving practice in Serbia.

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² Associate Professor, e-mail: malisa.djukic@bba.edu.rs

IMPLICATIONS

Project proponents, regulators, ministries in charge of investment projects could benefit from the results of this paper since it would provide them with case studies and recommendations that are policy oriented and applied in practice.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Based on the currently available information there exist no paper that compares and analysis various investment appraisal methodologies with the recommendations that would be applied in Serbia.

KEY WORDS

Investment projects, energy sector, international financial institutions

- 1. Angelini, Francesco, 2011, Economic Analysis of Gas Pipeline Projects, Joint Assistance to Support Projects in European Regions
- 2. European Investment Bank, 2013, The Economic Appraisal of Investment Projects at the EIB, EIB
- 3. European Commission, 2014, Guide to cost-benefit analysis of investment projects, EC
- 4. European Network of Transmission System Operators, 2015, Energy System-Wide Cost Benefit Analysis
- 5. Adapted Methodology, ENTSOG
- 6. Turvey, Ralph, 2000, What are the marginal costs and how to estimate them?, The University of Bath

2.26. ADOPTION OF PROCESSES-PRODUCT INNOVATION PATTERN - A COMPARATIVE, FIRM LEVEL EVIDENCE FROM EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES

Brunilda Kosta¹

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Blendi Gerdoçi²

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Elentjana Qoku³

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

OBJECTIVES

This paper aims to compare the impact of different dimensions of process innovation on product innovation among companies of EU and non-EU countries.

METHODOLOGY

The sample consists of 516 innovative firms randomly selected using stratified random sampling method. The sample has been divided in two subsamples; the first included 265 firms located in four non-EU countries, namely Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia; the second includes 242 firms located in EU countries, namely Italy, Greece, Slovenia and Croatia.

Three dimension of process innovation have been used in this study, namely new production methods, new logistics and distribution, new supporting activities

Product innovation is measured by a dummy variable, taking 0 value for 'the firm has not been engaged in product innovation during the last three years', and 1 'the firm has been engaged in product innovation during the last three years'.

¹ PhD student, e-mail: Brunildakosta@feut.edu.al

² PhD student, e-mail: Blendigerdoci@feut.edu.al

³ PhD student, e-mail: elentjanaqoku@gmail.com

Binary logistic regression model is used to estimate the firm's likelihood to engage in product innovation. This model was selected considering the dichotomous nature of the dependent variable. The model has the following form:

$$Ln(\frac{P_{i}}{1-P_{i}}) = a + b_{i}x_{i} + \dots + c_{i}z_{i} + e$$

RESULTS

New or significantly improved methods of manufacturing or producing goods or services has a significant and positive effect on product innovation. Innovation in logistics and supporting activities have not a significant effect on product innovation. The effect of firm's size is statistically insignificant. Export orientation has a significant positive effect on firm's inclination to engage in product innovation. More than 1/3 of the variance for the EU subsample can be attributed to the independent variables (*Nagelkerke R Square* is 0,347).

IMPLICATIONS

Extensions: What are the factors that lead to product innovation for non-EU countries (developing countries). Do market and industry factors have a stronger effect in terms of magnitude on product innovation? More questions than answers for the non-EU subsample.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This paper creates solid foundation for fostering researchers to dive deeper into the modeling itself which somehow explains the relationship of process innovation and product innovation for EU countries but this seems not a very good predictor for non-EU countries. Hence, this model mostly helps on raising questions rather than providing answers which cretaes ground for upcoming studies that researcher could explore more.

KEY WORDS

Product innovation, process innovation, manufacturing methods innovation, logistic innovation, supporting activities innovation

REFERENCES

1. Abernathy, W., & Utterback, J. (1978). Patterns of industrial innovation.

- 2. Bocquet, R., & Musso, P. (2011). Product Innovation and Export Performance
- 3. Caldera, A. (2010). Innovation and exporting: Evidence from Spanish manufacturing firms
- 4. Cassiman, B., & Martı'nez-Ros, E. (2007). Product innovation and exports: Evidence from Spanish manufacturing firms
- 5. Chandy, R., & Tellis, G. (2000). The Incumbent's Curse? Incumbency, Size, and Radical Product Innovation
- 6. Caldera, A. (2010). Innovation and exporting: Evidence from Spanish manufacturing firms
- 7. Cassiman, B., & Martı'nez-Ros, E. (2007). Product innovation and exports: Evidence from Spanish
- 8. manufacturing
- 9. Damanpour, F. (1991). Organizational innovation: a meta-analysis of effects of determinants and moderators
- 10. Danneels, E. (2002). The dynamics of product innovation and firm competences
- 11. Ganotakis, P., & H. Lovey, J. (2010). R&D, product innovation, and exporting: evidence from UK new technology based firms
- 12. Garcia, R., & Calantone, R. (2002). A critical look at technological innovation typology and innovativeness: a literature review
- 13. Georgantzas, N. C., & Shapiro, H. J. (1993). Viable theoretical forms of synchronous production innovation
- 14. Jaime Gómez, J., & Salazar, I., & Vargas, P. (2016). Sources of Information as Determinants of Product and Process Innovation
- 15. Knight, G., & Cavusgil, T. (2003). Innovation, Organizational Capabilities, and the Born-Global Firm
- 16. Roper, S., & H Love, J. (2002). Innovation and export performance: evidence from UK and German manufacturing plants
- 17. Utterback, J. M. (1996). Mastering the dynamics of innovation: how companies can seize opportunities in the face of technological change
- 18. Van Beveren, I., & Vandenbussche, H. (2010). Product and process innovation and firms' decision to export

2.27. POSSIBILITIES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF AGRITOURISM IN REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

Marija Takovska¹

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Neda Petroska-Angelovska²

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Katerina HadziNaumova-Mihajlovska³

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The research of the paper perceived the importance of businesses related to agritourism for improvement of living standards of rural population and for increase of volume of economic activity in specific rural areas. That's why the reasons of owners/farmers for dealing with such businesses are taken into account, browsed, summarized and analyzed. Very important goal of this paper refers to identification of main barriers for agritourism development in the Republic of Macedonia.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology of research is based on conducted questionnaire and realized interviews with focus groups in selected rural areas related to agritourism at least in the last six years. The selection of businesses was based on the period that they are dealing with agritourism and for the purpose of diversification two criteria were taken into account: location and type of agritourism business .Empirical research was conducted during the period may-june 2016.

RESULTS

According to the research in this paper there are some reasons for this situation related to: luck of subsidizing agribusiness, state regulations, state taxes, luck of

¹ PhD, e-mail: marija@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² PhD, e-mail: neda@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ PhD, e-mail: katerina@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

resources and capital for small business, roads and infrastructure, luck of education etc. The integrated tourist offers of the Republic of Macedonia, nor significantly contributes to improving the performance of agricultural holdings and diversification of their business. Important questions should be related to strategic approach to regional agritourism, as well as to organizational support.

IMPLICATIONS

Recommendations for development of agritourism are related to: coordination, support and other assistance in agritourism development. So, implications of the research are directed to: government, micro and macro policy makers, industry or community, practitioners that all together will provide strategic guidance and support over agritourism individual scale. Institutional support in agritourism can be summarized in 4 key motivators: marketing and market research; tourism network; clusters and links; and integration and support.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Despite the great potential for agritourism development in Republic of Macedonia, it actualizes in the last ten years. Till now, some partial studies/researches related to this question were undertaken, but this paper is significant because of the scope of research and special complex approach of empirical research. That's why the research shows main obstacles or limitations for agritourism development in Republic of Macedonia and gives directions for influence on: government policy, business sector policesand local rural development.

KEY WORDS

Agritourism, business, divesification, rural development, rural areas, Republic of Macedonia

- 1. Agriculture in transition : P. Milone 2009
- 2. Agritourism enterprise on your farm or ranch: George, Holly and Ellie Rilla 2008
- 3. Agritourism in Europe: Jenny McKelvie, Mintel International Group Ltd 2004
- 4. Agritourism. M.Sznajder; L. Prezezborska; F. Scrimgeour April 2009
- 5. Agritourism: Frederic P. Miller, Agnes F. Vandome, John McBrewster 2010
- 6. Agritourism: health and safety guidelines for children . Michael Humann, Barbara Lee, National Children's Center for Rural and Agricultural Health and Safety, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. 2005

- 7. Agritourism: opportunity for farm diversification in Nevada: Kynda R. Curtis, Joseph Monson, Nevada Cooperative Extension 2005
- 8. Considerations for agritourism development: Sea Grant New York, Cornell University, State University of New Yor, 1998
- 9. Cultivating agritourism: tools and techniques for building success: Peter Wilder Williams, Kathryn Lack, Kim C. Smith 2004
- Driving rural development: policy and practice in seven EU countries Deirdre O'Connor – 2006
- 11. Ecotourism and sustainable development: who owns paradise?: Martha Honey 2008
- 12. Ecotourism: impacts, potentials and possibilities? Stephen Wearing, John Neil 2009
- 13. Food safety at farmers markets and agritourism venues: Desmond Ansel Jolly, Carol Fitzgerald, University of California, Davis. Small Farm Center 2005
- 14. Managing sustainable tourism: a legacy for the future : David L. Edgell 2006
- 15. New directions in rural tourism: Derek R. Hall, Lesley Roberts, Morag Mitchell 2003
- 16. Rural change and sustainability: agriculture, the environment and communities: Stephen Essex – 2005
- 17. Rural tourism and sustainable business : Derek R. Hall, Irene Kirkpatrick, Morag Mitchell 2005
- 18. The New Agritourism: Hosting Community & Tourists on Your Farm: Barbara Berst Adams – 2008
- 19. Tourism and the environment: regional, economic, cultural, and policy issues: Helen Briassoulis, Jan van der Straaten 2000
- 20. Toward Sustainable Agricultural Systems in the 21st Century: Committee on Twenty-First Century Systems Agriculture, National Research Council – 2010

2.28. THE IMPACT OF STRENGTHENING AND HAMPERING INNOVATION FACTORS ON FIRM'S PERFORMANCE -A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF EU AND NON-EU COUNTRIES

Nertila Busho¹

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Blendi Gerdoci²

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Alejda Doda³

Department of Management, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

OBJECTIVES

This paper aims to compare the impact of stregthening and hampering innovation factors on firm's performance using data from innovative companies located inEU and non-EU countries. We posit that cooperation between firms and institutions and export orientation of a firm can positively impact firm's performace, whereascost, knowledge, market barriers and lack of reason to innovate have a negative effect.Our study contributes to the innovation literature by increasing knowledge on the effects of specific factors on firm's performance in different economic contexts.

METHODOLOGY

Our sample consists of 428 innovative firms randomly selected using stratified random sampling method. The sample was randomly selected following the suggested and approved sample characteristics (50% production firms and 50% service companies and 15% micro, 35% small and 50% medium sizes) applied in similar research such as Community Innovation Survey (CIS).

Considering the comparative nature of our study, our sample has been divided in two subsamples - the first included 231 firms located in four non EU countries,

¹ PhD student, e-mail: nertilabusho@gmail.com

² PhD

³ MSc

namely Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, while the second includes 197 firms located in EU countries, namely Italy, Greece, Slovenia and Croatia.

We tested for internal consistancy and construct validity. Standardised Cronbach Alpha coefficients for all constructs meet the recommended criteria (Nunnally 1978), while item loadings exceed the acceptable standards of 0.4 proposed by Hinkin (1995).

We analysed data using multivariate regression. Following Cohen (1983), we compared the fitted regression coefficients by including all k variables for each sub-sample, regardless of their significance.

RESULTS

- 1. Cooperation on innovation activities between firms or institutions has a significant and positive impact on firm's performance for the EU countries sub-sample, only.
- 2. There is a positive significant relationship between export orientation and performance for non-EU firms, only.
- 3. Cost factor has a negative effect on performance for both, EU and non-EU firms.
- 4. Knowledge factor has a negative effect on performance for EU firms, only.
- 5. Market factor has a strong negative impact on the performance of non-EU firms, only.
- 6. The parameter estimate for lack of reasons to innovate is not statistically significant for both sub-samples.

IMPLICATIONS

Implications at a policy level

- 1. Policy makers of non-EU countries should support export-oriented firms and/or those aiming to target export markets.
- 2. Market concentration and lack of competition can create a significant obstacle to firm competitiveness and performance. Hence, improving market dynamics in these countries it is a priority.

Extentions

1. Further studies can explore relationship between EU membership and firm networks and cooperation.

2. In depth studies can investigate the role of knowledge barriers in different industries for both EU and non-Eu countries.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The comparative approach used in this study points out the importance of the context and its relationship with firm's performance. This study sheds some light into the differences between EU and non-EU countries at a institutional and industry level using firm's lens. As suggested by Prahalad (2012) emerging and developing market tend to be radically different from developed ones. Consequently, we can argue that strategies adopted by firms in the realm of innovation, and arguably not only, are different.

KEY WORDS

Innovation, performace, hampering innovation factors, stregthening innovation factors

- 1. Auh, S., & Merlo, O. (2012). The power of marketing within the firm: Its contribution to business performance and the effect of power asymmetry. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *41*(5), 861-873.
- 2. Canepa, A., & Stoneman. P. (2008). Financial constraints to innovation in the UK: evidence from CIS2 and CIS3. *Oxford University Press, 60(4)*, 711-730.
- 3. Cantwell, J. (2004). Innovation and Competitiveness. *The Oxford handbook of innovation* 543-567.
- 4. Cohen, A. (1983). Comparing regression coefficients across subsamples a study of statistical tests. *Sociological Methods and Research*, *12*(1), 77-94.
- Damanpour, F., Walker, R. M., & Avellaneda, C. N. (2009) Combinative effects of innovation types and organizational performance. A longitudinal study of service organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 46 (4), 650-675.
- D'Este, P., Iammarion. S., Savona, M., &Tunzelmann, N. (2011). What hampers innovation? Revealed barriers versus deterring barriers. *Research Policy*, 41(2012), 482-488.
- Govindaraju, Ch., Vijayraghavan, G.K., &Pandiyan, V. (2013). Product and process innovation in Malaysian manufacturing. The role of government, organizational innovation and exports. *Innovation: Management, policy & practice* (2013) 15(1),52– 68.

- 8. Higon, D.A., & Driffield, N. (2011) Exporting and Innovation performance: Analysis of the annual small business survey in the UK. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship,* 29 (1), 4-24.
- 9. Hinkin, T. R. (1995), "A Review of Scale Development Practices in the Study of Organizations", *Journal of Management*, *Vol.21*, *No. 5*, *pp. 967–988*.
- 10. Nadler, D.A., &Tushman, M.L. (1989) Organizational frame bending: Principles for managing reorientation. *The academy of management EXCECUTIVE*, *3*(*3*), 194-204.
- 11. Nelson, R. R., & Winter, S. G. (1982). An evolutionary theory of economic behaviour and capabilities. *Cambridge: Harvard University Press*, 195–307.
- 12. Nunnally, JC. (1978). Psychometric Theory. (2nd ed.) New York: McGraw-Hill.
- 13. Porter, M. E. (1990). New global strategies for competitive advantage. *Planning Review 18 (3), 4-14.*
- 14. Prahalad, C.K. (2012), Bottom of the Pyramid as a Source of Breakthrough Innovations, Journal of Product Innovation Management, 29(1), 6-12.
- 15. Rothwell, R., & Dodgson, M. (1991). External linkages and innovation in small and medium sized enterprises. *R & D Management 21(2)*, 125-138
- 16. Schumpeter, J. (1934) The Theory of Economic Development, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press
- 17. Slater, S. F., & Olson, E. M. (2000). Strategy type and performance. The influence of sales forces management. *Strategic Management Journal*, *21(8)*, 813–829.
- Şipoş G. L., Bîzoi, G., & Ionescu, A. (2013). The Impact of Hampering Innovation Factors on Innovation Performance - European Countries Case. Procedia - Social and Behavioural Sciences 124 (2014) 415 – 424.

2.29. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF BANKS IN THE FUNCTION OF COMPARATIVE ADVANTAGE ON THE MARKET

Milica Raičević¹

Faculty of Business Studies "Montenegro Business School", Mediterranean University, Podgorica, Montenegro

Dijana Medenica Mitrović²

Faculty for Business Management Bar, Montenegro

OBJECTIVES

The business operation of companies is not perceived any more in terms of profitable operations, but also in terms of whether it is beneficial for the society. Social responsibility contributes to improving relationships with key stakeholders, thus contributing to the long-term sustainability of the company. The paper points out to the positive link between corporate social responsibility (CSR) and the reputation of the bank. The aim is to point out that profit and CSR are not opposed categories and that the CSR of banks represents a strong comparative advantage on the market.

METHODOLOGY

The paper gives a theoretical and practical overview of the concept of corporate social responsibility (CSR), with a focus on the banking sector. In the theoretical part, the term CSR is defined, as well as its significance and special features regarding the application in the banking sector. The empirical part deals with the study of the characteristics of the Montenegrin banking sector, its characteristics in terms of CSR. The empirical part includes the qualitative analysis, based on the data available on the official sites of banks operating in Montenegro. Based on the collected Internet data, an analysis of the factual situation will be carried out, conclusions will be drawn and recommendations made for the implementation of the CSR concept with a view of improving the competitive position of banks on the market. Through qualitative analysis of the available data, the advantages and disadvantages of corporate social responsibility of banks in Montenegro will be

¹ Msc, e-mail: milica.raicevic@unimediteran.net

² PhD, Associate Professor, e-mail: disan@t-com.me

considered, as well as which CSR activities are most represented and which still have the capacity to be improved and involved in the marketing strategies of the banks operating in this region.

RESULTS

CSR activities are often seen as non-profitable and impractical. In recent years, the CSR activities in the banking sector have a tendency of growth, which is significant for the Montenegrin economy and society. Banks carry out their CSR activities in the fields of education, health, culture, sports, etc. The CSR of banks represents a strong comparative advantage on the market and the banks which implement it (especially foreign ones) send their clients a clear message that they are ready to stay and actively engage in problem solving at the local and national level.

IMPLICATIONS

The contribution of the paper is reflected in providing the cross-section of the activities and areas obtained through the qualitative analysis where the CSR activities of banks in Montenegro are present. The paper will define what characterizes the CSR of banks in Montenegro, what are the advantages and disadvantages of the past CSR practice of banks, and in which direction the CSR activities of banks should be improved. The contribution of the paper is reflected in how many CSR activities have an impact on the reputation and generation of higher profits of certain banks in Montenegro.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper will provide an overview of CSR activities that can help decision-makers in the marketing sector of banks to use CSR as one of the levers to achieve comparative advantage on the market. The contribution will also be made through the qualitative analysis of available data on the activities and their presence in certain Montenegrin banks, what characterizes them, and what are the advantages and disadvantages of the past CSR practice. The recommendations will be provided regarding what can be improved, which would have an impact on the reputation and generation of higher profit.

KEY WORDS

Social corporate responsibility, banks, reputation, marketing

- 1. Carrasco, I. (2006), Ethics and Banking, *International Advances in Economic Research*, *Vol. 12*, str. 43-50
- 2. Carroll A. (1996), *Business and Society: Ethics and Stakeholders management*, Cincinnati Ohaio: South – Western Collage Publishing
- Cuesta-González, de la M., Muñoz-Torres, M. J., & Fernández-Izquierdo, M. A. (2006) ,Analysis of Social Performance in the Spanish Financial Industry through Public Data. A Proposal, *Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 69*, No. 3, str. 289-304
- 4. Detomasi, D. A. (2008), The Political Roots of Corporate Social Responsibility, *Journal* of Business Ethics, Vol. 82, No. 4, str. 807-819
- 5. Fisher, J. (2004), Social Responsibility and Ethics: Clarifying the Concepts, *Journal of Business Ethics, Vol. 52*, str. 391-400
- Hinson, R., Boateng, R. & Madichie, N. (2010), Corporate Social Responsibility Activity Reportage on Bank Websites in Ghana, *International Journal of Bank Marketing, Vol.* 28, No. 7, str. 498-518
- 7. Kontić Lj., Kontić J., (2010), Uključivanje korporativne društvene odgovornosti u strategiju banke, Bankarstvo 3-4, str. 52-72
- 8. Kotler Philip, Li Nensi (2009), *Korporativna društvena odgovornost*, Beograd, Hesperiaedu
- 9. Kundid A.(2012), Društveno odgovorno poslovanje banaka u Republici Hrvatskoj, *Ekonomska misao praksa dbk, God XXI, Br. 2.,* str 497-527
- 10. Relaño, F. (2011), Maximizing Social Return in the Banking Sector, *Corporate Governance, Vol. 11, No. 3*, str. 274-284
- 11. Stanković LJ., Djukić S., Popović A. (2012), Razvoj društveno odgovornog marketinga, *Marketing, Vol.43.*
- 12. Vunjak N., Kovačević Lj. (2006), *Bankarstvo*, Prometej a.d.Bečej., Ekonomski fakultet, Subotica
- 13. www.rare-eu.net:Corporate Social Responability and Gender Equality in the Banking Sector
- 14. Zappi, G. (2007), Corporate Responsibility in the Italian Banking Industry: Creating Value through Listening to Stakeholders, *Corporate Governance, Vol. 7, No. 4*, str. 471-475.
- 15. Zelenović, V. (2015), Marketing u bankarstvu, Proleter a.d. Bečej, Subotica

2.30. CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY IN THE EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRY

Snežana Stojanović¹

Faculty of Business and Law, University UNION – Nikola Tesla, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Objective of the paper is to review current situation in the extractive industry from the aspect of the corporative responsibility and contribution of the corporations conducting business in extractive industry to the economic growth, social and cultural improvement and environmental protection of the host countries. The extractive industry is a very "sensitive" sector in the sense of environmental protection. Various international organizations established rules and standards for corporate behavior in exploitation and extraction of natural resources, which is important from the aspects of transparency and environmental protection.

METHODOLOGY

The paper will focus on survey of current international regulation, mainly, from the aspect of transparency and environmental protection and contribution of the extractive industry companies to the economic growth of host-countries.

RESULTS

The paper will present the international and national efforts to direct corporations operating in the extractive indutry to undertake measures for environmental protection and sustainable development of the countries where doing research, exploitation and extraction.

IMPLICATIONS

The paper will be important, mainly, for academics and researchers, but also for policy makers and will be good basis for further research and thinking on possibilities to improve current national/international regulation.

¹ Prof. dr, e-mail: snezanastojanovic27@gmail.com

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper will contribute to raising awarness of the broader community (academics, reasearches, policy makers) on the importance of the corporate responsibility and transparency in the sector of extractive industry. Transparency in all phases of business conduct, especially having in mind investment agreements, payment of taxes and all other payments to the host government and officials is the key factor influencing corporate responsibility and accountability to the citizens of the host country.

KEY WORDS

Extractive industry, natural resources, corporate responsibility, transparency, extractive industry transparency initiative, sustainable development

- Balim, "The Linkage between Double Tax Treaties and Government-to-Business Agreements in the Extractive Industry" in Raffaele Petruzzi and Karoline Spies (Eds.). Tax Policy Challenges in the 21st Century. (pp. 655-687). LINDE Verlag: Vienna
- 2. Dilan Ölcer (2009). Extracting the Maximum from the EITI. OECD Development Centre, Working Paper (276). OECD: Paris.
- 3. EITI (2005). Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative: Source Book. The World Bank: Washington.
- 4. IMF (2012). Fiscal Regimes for Extractive Industries: Design and Implementation. IMF: Washington DC.
- 5. OECD (2011). OECD Guidelines for MNEs. OECD: Paris
- 6. OECD (2012). The OECD Declaration and Decisions on International Investment and Multinational Enterprises: Basic Texts. OECD: Paris
- Ranjith Pathiyil (2014). The Use of Transfer Pricing to Shift Profits to Tax Havens by Extractive Industries MNEs. in Raffaele Petruzzi and Karoline Spies (Eds.) Tax Policy Challenges in the 21st Century. (pp.689-718). LINDE Verlag: Vienna.
- 8. The World Bank (2008). Implementing the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative: Applying Early Lessons from the Field. The World Bank: Washington.
- 9. UNCTAD (2010). Most-Favored Nation. UNCTAD Series on Issues in International Investment Agreements II. United Nations: New York and Geneva, www.unctad.org/eng7docs/diaeia_en.pdf
- 10. UNCTAD (2012). Extractive Industries: Optimizing Value Retention in Host Countries. Geneva: United Nations.
- 11. United Nations (2013). Issues Concerning the Taxation of the Extractive Industries for Consideration by the Committee, www.un.org/esa/ffd/tax/eit/index.htm

2.31. INFLUENCE OF THE FDI INFLOWS ON ECONOMIC GROWTH IN MONTENEGRO¹

Tijana Kaličanin²

Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia, Serbia

Azra Hanić³ Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

Miloš Jovanović⁴ Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

> **Duško Knežević⁵** Atlas Group, Serbia

Kasim Asker Hasan⁶ Belgrade Banking Academy, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

In a lot of empirical studies it is proved that inflows of foreign direct investments can make crowding-out effect, depressing domestic investments, which further have negative impact on economic growth. This paper examines the relationship between foreign direct investments inflows and economic growth in Montenegro, and the aim is to see if there is positive or negative correlation between these two variables. From 1998 Montenegro had average growth of FDI inflows 8% and that gave background for this research.

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² MSc, e-mail: tijana.kalicanin@bba.edu.rs

³ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: azra.hanic@bba.edu.rs

⁴ MSc, e-mail: milos.jovanovic.mba@gmail.com

⁵ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: cabinet@atlas-g.com

⁶ PhD, e-mail: iraqiembassybg@yahoo.com

METHODOLOGY

Panel data include 18-year period, variable values from 1998-2016. Using multiple linear regression analysis we constructed the model which includes GDP as a dependent variable, FDI inflows as independent and GDP annual growth, general government final consumption expenditure and GDP per capita annual growth as controlling variables. Methodology background is taken from Borensztein, Gregorio and Lee paper which is one of the most important in this field. Their findings indicate that the FDI effect on the economic growth is dependent on the level of human capital available in the host economy. As long as we could not find data for the initial-year level of average years of the male secondary schooling constructed by Barro and Lee we excluded this variable. In addition to human capital, they used national accounts data as controlling variables, such as government consumption, annual rate of per capita real GDP as measure of the growth rate, the growth rate of income and initial income.

RESULTS

Using multiple linear regression analysis we found out that there is positive influence on the economic growth in Montenegro arising from the foreign direct investments. Coefficient of determination is 0,19 so, having $\alpha < 0,05$ we conclude that our model gives statistical significant contribution to prediction of GDP along with F value greater than 4. FDI as an independent variable has $\alpha = 0,006$ which indicates that there is statistical significant influence of FDI inflows on GDP.

IMPLICATIONS

Sometimes different level of the development between countries, sector and the type of the FDI and their own efficiency have different impacts on economic growth in particular country. This paper along with recent empirical studies confirms that foreign direct investment inflows have significant impact in developing countries on economic growth. In transitional countries FDI inflows can indirectly have positive impact on competition in markets making new sales channels and enforce the economy at whole.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Not so many papers examined the relationship between foreign direct investment inflows and economic growth in Montenegro. In addition to this, because of the lack of the data time series were short. Model used in this paper included annual data for eighteen years and gave significant results so it is recommended to use it

in order to find relationship between FDI inflows and economic growth in the countries that are in the same stage of development.

KEY WORDS

FDI, investments, economic growth

- 1. Alfaro, L., & Charlton, A. (n.d.). Growth and the Quality of Foreign Direct Investment: Is All FDI Equal. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.981163
- Barro, R. (1996). Determinants of Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Empirical Study. 70. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3386/w5698
- 3. Bodroža, D. (2016). *Influence of fdi inflows on economic activity in CEE countries* (Doctoral dissertation). Technical University of Košice, Fakulty of Economics.
- 4. Borensztein, E., De Gregorio, J., & Lee, J. W. (1998). How does foreign direct investment affect economic growth?. *Journal of international Economics*, *45*(1), 115-135.
- 5. Hermes, N., & Lensink, R. (2003). Foreign direct investment, financial development and economic growth. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 40(1), 142-163.
- 6. Lee, C. C., & Chang, C. P. (2009). FDI, financial development, and economic growth: international evidence. *Journal of applied economics*, *12*(2), 249-271.
- Stanisic, N. (2015). Do foreign direct investments increase the economic growth of Southeastern European transition economies?. South-Eastern Europe Journal of Economics, 6(1).
- Machado, M. E., Ceretta, P. S., & Costa, A. (2015). Economic Development and Economic Variables: An Analyze of Emergent Countries. SSRN Electronic Journal, 1. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2591896

2.32. MACROECONOMIC DETERMINANTS OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS IN CEE COUNTRIES: 2005-2015

Vesna Georgieva Svrtinov¹

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Katerina Hadzi Naumova-Mihajlovska² Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Neda Petroska-Angelovska³

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Vladimir Petkovski⁴

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of the study is to analyze determinants of nonperforming loans (NPL's) in countries of Central and Eastern Europe in the period of 2005 to 2015. The importance of the study stems from the fact that deterioration in the quality of banks' loan portfolio may produce banking and economic crises. Furthermore, we have to underline that financial crisis from 2008 has left high levels of nonperforming loans in this region.

METHODOLOGY

The data used in the paper are annual data for several countries of Central and Eastern Europe (Serbia, Macedonia, Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Greece, Moldova, Montenegro and Romania) over the period 2005 to 2015. The data was obtained from World Bank databases. The model was estimated on a panel dataset using ordinary least squares and including fixed effects. The dependent variable is bank nonperforming loans to total gross loans. As independent variables, we use domestic credit to the private sector by banks (as a% of GDP), GDP growth, inflation, lending interest rate, remittances, and

¹ PhD, e-mail: vesna@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² PhD, e-mail: katerina@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ PhD, e-mail: neda@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

⁴ PhD, e-mail: vladimir@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

unemployment rate. Furthermore, we present the coefficients of correlation in order to test for the relationship between independent and dependent variables. The method that we used in the research is appropriate and reliable because panel data in comparison to other types of methods take into the account heterogeneity among different units, in our case different countries.

RESULTS

The findings indicate that domestic credit to the private sector by banks and unemployment rate have a positive relationship with NPLs while, GDP annual growth rate, inflation rate, lending interest rate and remittances have a negative relation with NPL. It is important to underline that according to fixed effect model all independent variables have statistically significant influence on the dependent variable.

IMPLICATIONS

Estimation results broadly confirm the postulated relationships between the chosen explanatory variables and the NPL ratio. Our findings may help policymakers in the countries of interest, in managing and reducing nonperforming loans. The model presented in this study can be used as a benchmark for verifying comparable models developed by commercial banks from these countries, which have aimed to reduce "bad" loans.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This research is referred to the selected group of countries which are part of Central and Eastern Europe. The key contribution of this paper is that the empirical results confirm the economic theory of the significance and direction of the relationship between independent variables, that we used as determinants of nonperforming loans and dependent variable.

KEY WORDS

Non-performing loans, CEE countries, banking system, macroeconomic determinants

REFERENCES

1. Beck, R., Jakubik, P., & Piloiu, A. (2015). Key Determinants of Non-performing Loans: New Evidence from a Global Sample. Open Economies Review, 26(3), 525-550. doi:10.1007/s11079-015-9358-8.

- Delova-Jolevska, E., & Andovski, I. (2015). Non-performing loans in the banking systems of Serbia, Croatia and Macedonia: Comparative analysis. Ekonomika, 61(1), 115-130. doi:10.5937/ekonomika1501115d
- Klein, N. (2013). Non-Performing Loans in CESEE: Determinants and Impact on Macroeconomic Performance. IMF Working Papers, 13(72), 1. doi:10.5089/9781484318522.001
- Skarica, B. (2014). Determinants of non-performing loans in Central and Eastern European countries. Financial Theory and Practice, 38(1), 37-59. doi:10.3326/fintp.38.1.2
- 5. Tanasković, S., & Jandrić, M. (2015). Macroeconomic and Institutional Determinants of Non-performing Loans. Journal of Central Banking Theory and Practice, 4(1). doi:10.1515/jcbtp-2015-0004
- Touny, M. A., & Shehab, M. A. (2015). Macroeconomic Determinants of Non-Performing Loans: An Empirical Study of Some Arab Countries. American Journal of Economics and Business Administration, 7(1), 11-22. doi:10.3844/ajebasp.2015.11.22

2.33. CREDITING AS FINANCIAL TOOL FOR SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE DEVELOPMENT: RESEARCH ABOUT CREDITING OF FARMERS IN REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

Katerina HadziNaumova-Mihajlovska¹

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Neda Petroska-Angelovska²

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Vesna Georgieva-Svrtinov³

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

Main creditors of primary farm production in Republic of Macedonia are commercial banks through agriculture credit line. Till now it's not shown that the banks are not interested in agriculture development financing because of the reasons related to risk and bad experiences with placements of agriculture products.

The main objective of the paper is to identify the problems that farmers are facing with and to give some recommendations for better promotion of crediting directed to sustainable agriculture development in Republic of Macedonia.

METHODOLOGY

For the purpose of the paper most appropriate methodology of research was conducted interview during the round table and group discussion in June 2017 at Valandovo multiplicity. There were discussed six (6) question about that how much farmers are informed for appropriate credit lines, problems that they are facing with during the application process, as well as their proposals and guidelines for better credit access.

¹ PhD, e-mail: katerina@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² PhD, e-mail: neda@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ PhD, e-mail: vesna@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

Specifically, for the need of research, it was organized a meeting with farmers, applicants or credit beneficiaries in order to obtain more complete information of the manner of realization of agricultural credits in the Republic of Macedonia.

RESULTS

The result show that most of the farmers doesn't know the financial institution that give credits for agricultural production, all the respondents said that the conditions are not appropriate because the interest rates are too high and the deadlines for payment are inadequate. The respondents that already applied for a credit faced with late payment, very high collateral requests for credit security and an unreal estimate of farm property. In particular, their answer is that the credits they offer are more consumers oriented than agricultural. All respondents agreed that a joint application will facilitate their access, in collaboration with all entities related to agriculture in the country.

IMPLICATIONS

The survey showed that is needed more information on the availability of credit lines for agriculture offered by financial institutions. In particular, more efficient advisory service is needed, which will provide assistance in informing, applying and preparing the documents for different credit programs. Having on mind that farmers work and live in rural areas, the best way to maintain communication is by constant meetings, organizing workshops and training on the ways of financing, specially crediting.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper analyses essential issue that emphasizes the importance of crediting as financial tool for sustainable agricultural development. In addition, it is focused on crediting of farmers, which are the major functional unit of agriculture in the Republic of Macedonia. The survey showed: lack of different agriculture credit lines in Republic of Macedonia, but also the farmers' views on how to make changes on and long-term improvement.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, crediting, farmers, agriculture, Republic of Macedonia

- 1. Annual Report for Agriculture and Rural Development, 2016
- 2. Boehlje M., Lins D. A., Risks and Risk Management in an Industrialized Agriculture; Agricultural Finance Review 58, 1998
- 3. Bojnec S., Agricultural and Rural Capital Markets in the EU Candidate Countries: Croatia, The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey, Factor Markets, Working paper, 2011 http://aei.pitt.edu/58511/1/Factor_Markets_8.pdf 3.2.2017
- 4. Farm Structure Survey, 2016 http://www.stat.gov.mk/pdf/2017/5.1.17.01.pdf 31.1.2017
- 5. Individual agricultural holdings grouped by total available land, by regions http://www.stat.gov.mk/Publikacii/PopisNaZemjodelstvo2007/KnigaIII.pdf, 31.1.2017
- 6. Kramer D., K. Jensen, Sautgejt D., "Economics of agriculture and agribusiness" Project on Government translation of 1,000 vocational books Ars Almina, Skopje, 2012
- 7. Kreditiranje vo zemjodelstvoto sostojbi I perspektivi, CEA, FFRM, Skopje, 2013
- 8. Lukić S., Cvetković S., Razvojne banke kao oslonac u kreditiranje poljoprivrede, CIVITAS, 2012
- State Statistical Office, http://www.stat.gov.mk/Publikacii/PDFSG2016/10-Zemjodelstvo-Agriculture.pdf, 20.2.2017

2.34. THE PROBLEM OF GUARANTEES REQUIREMENTS FOR FINANCIAL AND BANKING SYSTEM IN SMALL EMERGING ECONOMIES

Leonardo Combariza¹

Banca Financial Prime S.A.S., Colombia

OBJECTIVES

Green growth projects and sustainable business ideas are being developed every day in small emerging economies. A lot of individuals and legal entities are aware that their governments are trying to provide alternatives to promote and fund these types of businesses, while struggling with monopolies and multinational companies. But, even though they reach for funds from commercial banks or financial firms, there are big obstacles in getting access to credit. If the idea or business has been granted good scores in the beginning, the problem of guarantees emerges.

METHODOLOGY

It is important to analyse the context and frameworks of policies and internal and external factors, than influence Green Growth Projects and Sustainable Business ideas. The methodology used in this paper is in the function of understanding the problem of guarantees requirements in order to find alternative solutions that promote the small economies advancement in Green Growth and Sustainable Projects. Methodology used is analysis and synthesis, desk research and historical analysis of frameworks of policies. More specifically:

- analysis of the context of financial and banking system promoting Green Growth Projects and policies on giving loans
- elaboration of rates on loans for Green Growth and Sustainable Business ideas vs multinational loans
- alternative funding systems
- credit lines with grace periods
- international assistance in small economies

¹ Project Manager PMP, e-mail: bancapmp@bancabfp.com

• development of alternative plans for funding in small economies without typical guarantees.

RESULTS

Several alternatives for funding and guarantees have been mapped that promote green growth and agriculture production and sustainable development projects in small open economies. Furthermore, a proposition of standards for policies and framework has been provided for financial and banking system to provide credit access with grace periods for small business promoting big ideas.

IMPLICATIONS

In the analysis of potential direct and/or indirect implications of the paper results, several entities have been selected, such as: Financial Institutions, Universities, Commercial Banks, Foundations, Governments, Investment Banks, NGOs, all Small and Medium size businesses dealing in green or sustainable projects and individuals.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Originality value of this paper is in presentation of a moderately new approach to reaching funds from commercial banks or financial firms for green growth projects and sustainable business ideas. Several concepts for raising funds and guarantees have been classified, and a proposition of standards for policies and framework has been provided.

KEY WORDS

Projects, funding, banking, guarantees, credit

- 1. CAF Banco de Desarrollo de America Latina. Available at: https://www.caf.com/es/temas/d/desarrollo-financiero/capital-de-riesgo/
- Geels, F. W. (2013). The impact of the financial–economic crisis on sustainability transitions: Financial investment, governance and public discourse. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 6, 67-95.
- Harrington, D., Walsh, M., Owens, E., Joyner, D. J., McDonald, M., Griffiths, G., ... & Lynch, P. (2016). Capitalizing on SME Green Innovation Capabilities: Lessons from Irish-Welsh Collaborative Innovation Learning Network. In University Partnerships for International Development (pp. 93-121). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

- Hiller, M., Zahner, A., Harvey, K., & Meyer, A. (2015). 13 Green Climate Fund, Sustainable Development Goals, and energy access. International Energy and Poverty: The Emerging Contours, 192.
- 5. Jeske, K., Krueger, D., & Mitman, K. (2013). Housing, mortgage bailout guarantees and the macro economy. Journal of Monetary Economics, 60(8), 917-935.
- Latinoamérica tiene la llave de la rentabilidad de los fondos de inversion. Availabe at: http://www.expansion.com/especiales/30-aniversario/fondosinversion/2016/11/04/581a129c468aeb53278b4571.html
- 7. Martinot, E. (2001). Renewable energy investment by the World Bank. Energy Policy, 29(9), 689-699.
- 8. Mitić, P., Munitlak Ivanović, O., Zdravković, A. A Cointegration Analysis of Real GDP and CO2 Emissions in Transitional Countries. Sustainability 2017, 9, 568.
- Munitlak Ivanović, O., and Zubović, J., and Mitić, P. (2016) Problems of ecosystem services and natural capital evaluation. In: Economic dynamics and sustainable development: resources, factors, structures and policies: proceedings ESPERA. Peter Lang, Frankfurt; New York. ISBN 978-36-31696-64-4
- Nuevo mecanismo de las Pymes para el crédito. Available at: http://www.dinero.com/inversionistas/articulo/garantias-para-creditospymes/193157
- Shakir, M. Z., Qaraqe, K. A., Tabassum, H., Alouini, M. S., Serpedin, E., & Imran, M. A. (2013). Green heterogeneous small-cell networks: Toward reducing the CO 2 emissions of mobile communications industry using uplink power adaptation. IEEE Communications Magazine, 51(6), 52-61

2.35. IMPACT OF EXPORTS ON ECONOMIC AGGREGATES OF PAKISTAN

Hasnain Naqvi¹

University of Hafr Al-Batin, Saudi Arabia, Pakistan

Slobodan Adžić² Arab Open University, Kuwait

Nebojša Zakić³

University Union – Nikola Tesla, FMN FPB, Belgrade, Serbia

Milijanka Ratković⁴ University Union – Nikola Tesla, FPSP, Belgrade, Serbia

Israr Ahmad⁵

Islamic Int. University, Islamabad, Pakistan

OBJECTIVES

Trade openness plays an important role in the economic growth of a country. In international trade, much importance is assigned to exports because exports have a profound impact on the output of a country. Unfortunately, there have been no systematic trend in Pakistan's exports growth over the years that calls for its analysis as it can impact different economic aggregates in a significant way. This study aims to unfold the nexus between export and various economic aggregates in Pakistan.

METHODOLOGY

The study has employed CGE model designed on the pattern of Lofgren et al. (2002), on the data provided in SAM 2001-02 for Pakistan designed by Dorosh et al. (2006), to investigate the impact of Pakistan's exports on its economic aggregates. The framework of mathematical equations is based on the neo-

¹ PhD, e-mail: naqqvi23@hotmail.com

² Prof. PhD, e-mail: s.adzic@gmail.com

³ Prof. PhD, e-mail: nebojsazakic@gmail.com

⁴ Prof. PhD, e-mail: milijanka@yahoo.com

⁵ PhD scholar, e-mail: ahmadisrar97@yahoo.com

classical assumptions of optimizing behaviour of economic agents: maximization of utility and output, and minimization of costs. Trade elasticities for different commodities in Pakistan have been borrowed from Ahmed et al. (2008). Three experiments have been conducted to gauge the impact of increase in Pakistan's exports on various economic aggregates of Pakistan. In the first simulation (SIM-II) Pakistan's exports have been increased by 5%, in the second simulation (SIM-II) by 10% and in the third simulation (SIM-III) by 15%.

RESULTS

Domestic output level of most of the commodities has risen. Incomes and expenditures of all the households have risen that results in rise of utility level of all the households. Moreover, all the households have also recorded an increase in the values of compensating variation which implies higher level of welfare for households. However, the value of compensating variation for non-agriculture households has risen more than that of agriculture households indicating prourban effect.

IMPLICATIONS

The findings of the study reveal that increase in exports has favourable impact on the performance of macroeconomic variables of the economy i.e. GDP, public and private consumption, savings and investment. Equality among the households has improved as the inequality indices have registered declining trend. All this suggests that export promotion measures should be incorporated in poverty alleviation, income equality and economic growth strategies.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Three experiments are performed to gauge the impact of increase in Pakistan's exports on its various economic aggregates. Pakistan's exports have been increased by 5% in the first simulation (SIM-I), in the second simulation (SIM-II) by 10% and in the third simulation (SIM-III) by 15%. The findings of the study reveal that increase in exports has favourable impact on the performance of macroeconomic variables of Pakistan's economy i.e. GDP, public and private consumption, savings and investment.

KEY WORDS

Economics, export, economic aggregates, CGE model, economic growth, sustainable development, Pakistan, poverty alleviation

- 1. Adam, C. S. and O'Connell, S. A. (2000). Aid Versus Trade Revisited. WPS 2000-19.
- Ahmed, V. and O'Donoghue, C. (2009). External Shocks in a Small Open Economy: A CGE-Microsimulation Analysis. *Working Paper No. 0142*, Department of Economics, National University of Ireland, Galway.
- 3. Akerman, F. (2005). The Shrinking Gains from Trade: A Critical Assessment of Doha Round Projections. *GDAE Working Paper No. 05-01.*
- 4. Anderson, L. and Babula, R. (2008). The Link between Openness and Long-Run Economic Growth. *Journal of International Commerce and Economics,* United States International Trade Commission.
- 5. Bouet, A., Mevel, S. and Thomas, M. (2010). Is SAFTA Trade Creating or Trade Diverting? A Computable General Equilibrium Assessment with a Focus on Sri Lanka. *IFPRI Discussion Paper No. 00950.*
- 6. Bouet, A., Bureau, J. C. Decreus, Y. and Jean, S. (2004). Multilateral Agricultural Trade Liberalization: The Contrasting Fortunes of Developing Countries in the Doha Round. *CEPII.*
- 7. Cockburn, J., Decaluwe, B. and Robichaud, V. (2006). Trade Liberalization and Poverty: lessons from Asia and Africa. *Poverty and Economic Policy, Micro Impact of Macro and Adjust Policies (MIMAP) Project.*
- Dorosh. P, Niazi. M. K, Nazli. H. (2006). A Social Accounting Matrix for Pakistan, 2001-02: Methodology and Results, PIDE Working Paper, No. 9, Pakistan Institute of Development Economics, Islamabad.
- 9. Gilbert, J. (2008). Trade Policy, Poverty and Income Distribution in Computable General Equilibrium Models: An Application to the South Asian Free Trade Agreement. Macao Regional Knowledge Hub, *Working Papers, No. 14.*
- 10. Haque, N. and Kemal, M. A. (2007), "Impact of Export Subsidies on Pakistan's Exports", PIDE Working Papers 2007: 26.
- 11. Kurzweil, M. (2002). The Need for a Complete Labour Market in CGE Modeling. Landbauforschung Volkenrode 52(2): 102-119.
- 12. Lofgren, H., Harris, R. L., Robinson, S., Thomas, M. and El-Said, M. (2002). A Standard Computable Equilibrium Model in GAMS. Microcomputers in Policy Research 5, *International Food Policy Research Institute,* Washington D. C.
- 13. Oslington, P. (2005). Unemployment and Trade liberalization. *World Economy 28(8):* 1139-1155.
- 14. Panda, M. and Kumar, G. A. (2008), Trade Liberalization, Poverty and Food Security in India. Indira Gandhi Institute of Development Research, *WP-2008-013*.

- 15. Shirazi, N. S. and Abdul Manap, T. A. (2004). Exports and Economic Growth Nexus: The Case of Pakistan. *The PDR*, 43:4 Part II (Winter 2004), 563-581.
- 16. Siddiqui, R. (2007). Dynamic Effects of Agriculture Trade in the Context of Domestic and Global Liberalization: A CGE Analysis for Pakistan. *PIDE Working Papers, 2007:38.*

2.36. TREASURY STOCK PURCHASES FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVODING DAMAGE FOR THE CORPORATION: EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS IN SERBIA, SRPSKA REPUBLIC, MONTENEGRO AND CROATIA

Vladan Pavlović¹

University of Pristina, Faculty of Economic, Serbia

Goranka Knežević²

Singidunum University, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this paper is to investigate to what extent treasury stock buyback program may prevent damage of the companies in Serbia, Srpska Republic, Montenegro and Croatia.

METHODOLOGY

Regression analysis will be used to test whether the treasury stock purchases for preventing damage for the company for the consequence has reducing the downside trend of company's stock prices in the crisis period and during regular activities. For the purpose of analysis stock quotation will be used from the Belgrade Stock Exchange, Montenegro stock exchange, Banjaluka Stock exchange and Zagreb Stock exchange. For the purpose of identifying motives, number of shares purchased besides the information taken from the website of variosu stock exchanges we will use the management report information regarding copmanies experiencing treasury stock purchases.

RESULTS

Treasury stock purhcases for preventing damage is very common motive for entering into this transaction especially in financial crisis time period. In this paper we will research whether using exsting or current legal norms and laws regarding

¹ Full Professor, e-mail: vladan.pavlovic@pr.ac.rs

² Associate Professor, e-mail: gknezevic@singidunum.ac.rs

treasury stock really prevent companies from Serbia, Srpska Republic, Montenegro and Croatia of experiencing damage.

IMPLICATIONS

This research has implication on lawmakers, investitors, managers and academicians. In the context of lawmakers, research will be of importance because the legal norms and laws should be changed if current legal context does not contribute companies and prevent economic and financial damage. Investors and managers will use the results especially in the crisis period because this manuscript will help them to reveal real possibilities of current legal norms. This is a pioneer research in Balkan and it will help theorists to formulate new concepts and theories.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Even when strict rules and regulations regarding treasury stock purchases is implemented in some countries all of them allow companies to purchase their own stocks to prvent damage. This is true for the countries that we take into analysis. Although, legal rules are different so we will focus our analysis on current legal norms in different Balkan countries. When stock markets are not developed and illuquid buying back own stocks does not have positive effects for the companies stock prices. If stock buyback does not prvent damage for the company it will for sure provoke larger damage for the stockholders and the benefits will be on the side of speculative investors. If the research shows that this is the case in Balkan countries, we predict that legal norms in those countries should be changed in order to avoid speculative transactions in the financial markets.

KEY WORDS

Stock repurchase, Serbia, R. Srpska, Montenegro, Croatia

- 1. Albouy, M., Morris, T., *Les rachats d'actions au Canada: motivations et impact de l'activité économique,* Finance Contrôle Stratégie Vol. 9, n° 4, déc. 2006
- 2. Bartov E., Krinsky, I., Lee, J., *Evidence on How Companies Choose Between Dividends and Open-Market Stock Repurchases*. Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 11, 1998
- Bens D. A., Nagar V., Skinner D. J., Franco Wong M.H., Employee stock options, EPS dilution, and stock repurchases, Journal of Accounting and Economics, vol. 36, n° 1-3, 2003

- 4. Comment, R., Jarrell, G.A., *The Relative Signaling Power of Dutch-Auction and Fixed-Price Self-Tender Offers and Open-Market Share Repurchases*, Journal of Finance, September 1991
- 5. Dann, L.Y., *Common Stock Repurchases: An Analysis of Returns to Bondholders and Stockholders*, Journal of Financial Economics, June 1981.
- 6. Dittmar A. K., Why do Firms repurchase Stock, Journal of Business, vol. 73, n° 3, 2000
- 7. Fenn, W., Liang, L., *Corporate Payout Policy and Managerial Stock Incentives*, Journal of Financial Economics, 57, 2001
- 8. Grullon G., Michaely R., *The information content of share repurchase programs*, The Journal of Finance, vol. 59, n° 2, 2004
- 9. Henry, D., Why the flurry of buybacks? Business Week, 29 November, 2004
- Hurtt, D., Kreuze, J., Langsam, S., Stock Buybacks and Their Association with Stock Options Exercised in the IT Industry, American Journal of Business, vol. 23. No. 1, Spring 2008
- 11. Jolls, C. Stock Repurchases and Incentive Compensation. NBER Working Paper, No. 6467, 1998
- 12. Kahle, M., When a Buyback isn't a Buyback: Open Market Repurchases and Employee Options, Journal of Financial Economics, 2002
- 13. Lanoue, N., Peltier-Rivest, D., *Manipulation des bénéfices et rachats d' actions*, Revue française de gestion N° 197/2009
- 14. Li, K., McNally, W., Information Signaling or Agency Conflicts: What Explains Canadian Open Market Share Repurchases?, Working paper, University of British Columbia, 2000
- Liano, K., Huang, G., Manukyan, H., Market Reaction to Open Market Stock Repurchases and Industry Affiliation, Quarterly Journal of Business & Economics, Vol. 42, Nos. 1 and 2, 2003
- 16. Joksimović, D., Pavlović, V., Mitić, M. (2015): Sticanje sopstvenih akcija u Srbiji: Motivi i efekti, Anali Ekonomskog fakulteta u Subotici, god. 51(33), 401-414
- 17. Pettit, J., *Is a Share Buyback Right for You?*, Harvard Business Review, Vol 79, No. 40, April 2001
- 18. Quiry, P, Le Fur, Y., Les rachats d'actions, Les Echos, 28 octobre 2004
- 19. Silverblatte, H., *Companies Are back in The Share Buyback Mode*, Bloomberg Businessweek, Investing, June 24, 2010
- 20. Weston J.F., Siu J.A., *Changing Motives for Share Repurchases*, Working paper, University of California, 2003

2.37. THE IMPACT OF NATIONAL DEBT IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE AND SMALL OPEN ECONOMIES

Pero Petrović¹

Institute of International Politics and Economics, Belgrade, Serbia

Marina Protić²

College of Academic Studies "Dositej", Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

External debt implies hard burden for any economy. Financial crisis has resulted in changed relationship to national debt in international finance. Debt is considered to be more sovereign than the state because key decisions of over-indebted countries are not taken by their governments but by the clubs of creditors. Experts believe that rescheduling or writing-off some portions of debt of over-indebted countries would be the most appropriate solution for the relationship to creditors, to the richest countries. As a rule, such negotiations take a long time, they are dramatic and unpleasant. Generally, common formula reads *no reform, no money.*

METHODOLOGY

The analysis is based on scientific methods using foreign and domestic scientific and literature, with the application of general scientific methods. The aim was to point to the connection and the mutual conditionality of the analyzed state and trends, and also to the inadequate methodology for calculating the public debt of Serbia (statistical involvement). Also, the method of comparison, synthesis, classification and descriptions was used. In particular, statistical methods were used with comparative overview, by country, comparable to Serbia.

RESULTS

The external debt of most European countries is calculated in euros, and to a lesser extent in dollars. However, it should be held in mind that the countries borrowing in foreign currencies do not have, and cannot even have reliable data -

¹ PhD, e-mail: pera@diplomacy.bg.ac.rs

² PhD, e-mail: majaprotic@yahoo.com

indicators of real consumption. With about 80 percent of the debt in foreign currencies, Serbia is among them. Therefore, as long as the course of the domestic currency is overestimated, the financial picture is far from reality, and the risk of the outbreak of the financial crisis is greater than the one that the indices of indebtedness show.

IMPLICATIONS

External debt represents a burden for any economy. Long financial crisis has made the change and attitude towards the national debt in international finance. It is believed that the debt autonomously from the state, because the key decisions in debated countries do not make their government than clubs of creditors. Many experts believe that the renegotiation or write-off of part of the debt, indebted countries was the fairest solution in relation to creditors, the richest countries. These negotiations, as a rule, they last a very long time and the character of the dramatic and harrowing. The question is whether the increase in debt of wrong economic policy of austerity, the global crisis or not implement in reforms leading to fiscal balance a social justice. Serbia's public debt is falling but far from the level that official statistics show.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

In the circumstances of growing globalization, the question is raised whether small countries like Serbia or Greece can implement their policy in any sphere. Small countries vs. big ones more obvious, i.e. the countries are less sovereign if their external debt is higher, and the key decisions are taken not by governments but by the club of creditors.

KEY WORDS

Serbian economy, national debt, international finance, over-indebtedness

- 1. Rajt, M., Tomac, M., Financial Times, London, 04/02/2015, p.4
- 2. Werner Hans, 2015, The Euro Trap, University of Munich, accords to *Politika*, Belgrade, 11/07/2015, p. 11.
- Petrović, P., Dželetović, M., 2016, "Efect of national debt on economic development", Niš, str.77-65

2.38. THE IMPLICATIONS OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BPM CONCEPT ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF INSURANCE COMPANIES

Željko Vojinović¹

Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

Dejan Đukić²

Faculty of Economics in Subotica, Subotica, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The main goal of the authors was to research the effects of BPM concept on business performance of insurance companies. BPM concept means Business Process Management. It is well known that business processes represent the ",,heart" of the organization. Today, in global economy, companies are facing with the hard and intensive competition on the market. Companies want to be market leaders, not followers. Because of that, it is extremely important that organization represents one highly orchestrated entity, in which all departments work together on the realisation of the business goals – long term surviving on the market and maximization of profit. Humans are the most responsible factor for the change of global climate. In the selfish race for the maximization of profit, they forgot to care about the nature. They are paying the bigger and the bigger price, so ecology is becoming a scientific discipline with number one rating. Management of the entity, wants to present it in public as a social responsible business entity. Important ",business weapon" that management can use for this purpose is BPM (for example company can become paperless). Countries in transition are trying to implement strategies of successful companies, so that they can compete with them in the global market, and to reduce the difference between them and leading economies in the world.

¹ Associate professor, PhD, e-mail: zeljko.vojinovic@ef.uns.ac.rs

² Bachelor of Economics, e-mail: dejandjukic1993@gmail.com

METHODOLOGY

Authors of this paper used mix of several methodological approaches. They used: case study, development studies, correlation studies and evaluation studies. All mentioned methods were adequate for realisation of the goals of the research. Case study was used because authors wanted to present the BPM concept in foreign economies (Companies BonitaSoft and Capgemini, and their cooperation with insurance companies in the world). Also, they were researching the BPM concept implementation in the domestic economy (Milenijum insurance and Triglav insurance). This paper contains a mix of development, correlation and evaluation study, because authors wanted to find out how did implementation of the BPM concept affected business performance of mentioned insurance companies, was there any correlation between implementation of the concept and performances, and was the implementation done in the right way.

RESULTS

Authors analyzed financial reports of mentioned insurance companies before and after BPM concept, so that they could get a conclusion about the subject they researched. The results have shown quite correlation between implementation of the BPM concept and business performance of the insurance companies. Also, authors of this paper are reserved about the results thay found out, in the way that there is a possibility of different conclusion if other insurance companies were involved in this research.

IMPLICATIONS

BPM concept is well known in world leading economies, but it represents one specific and timeless subject. It is highly important to achieve symbiosis between researchers on the universities and practitioners. Researchers can support practitioners with their research results, in the way to help them to become more successful, agile, and innovative. Authors think that in countries in transition the importance of BPM concept will be figured out in the years to come.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

BPM concept represents a real refreshment in academic environment in countries in transition. Authors used data from insurance companies that are market leaders in Serbia, when we talk about BPM concept. This paper should have a significant influence on management in insurance companies in Serbia and other countries in transition to be aware of its importancy. Only in that way, with

existence of fear of competition, companies will work hard to be inventive, flexible and better than other market players.

KEY WORDS

Management, organization, business processes, BPM approach (Business Process Management approach), business results, benchmarking

- 1. Ahmetagić E. (2013.), Organizacija preduzeća, Ekonomski fakultet Subotica, Printex Subotica
- 2. Vojinović Ž., Babičković P. B. (2016.), Uvođenje upravljanja poslovnim procesima u osiguravajuća društva kao determinante razvoja i veće efikasnosti
- 3. Vojinović Ž., Žarković N. (2016.), Osiguranje, Ekonomski fakultet Subotica, Proleter a.d. Bečej
- 4. Vukadinović P., Jović Z. (2012.), Investicije, Univerzitet Singidunum, Mladost grup Loznica
- 5. Todosijević R. (2010.), Strategijski menadžment Knjiga 1 (Teorijske postavke), Ekonomski fakultet Subotica, Printex Subotica
- Todosijević R. (2010.), Strategijski menadžment Knjiga 2 (Metode i tehnike), Ekonomski fakultet Subotica, Printex Subotica
- 7. Underdahl B. (2011.), Business Process Management for Dummies (IBM Limited Edition), Wiley Publishing Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana
- 8. http://uos.rs/clanovi-udruzenja-lat/milenijum-osiguranje-a-d-o/, 3rd May 2017.
- 9. http://www.bonitasoft.com/about-us, 14th May 2017.
- 10. http://www.bonitasoft.com/content/financial-services, 14th May 2017.
- 11. http://www.bonitasoft.com/system/files/customer/bonitasoftbpmintheinsuranceindustry.pdf, 14th May 2017.
- 12. https://www.capgemini.com/resources/business-process-management-for-insurance, 14th May 2017

Part III. SOCIAL CHALLENGES OF UNEQUAL GROWTH: SOCIAL PILLAR

3.1. ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DIMENSION OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: CASE SERBIA 1995-2015

Igor Mladenović¹

University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Niš, Serbia

Ljiljana Stanković² University of Niš, Faculty of Economics, Niš, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Serbia as a country with very slow transition to market economy has some disproportion about realization of idea of sustainability. From previous documents in strategic development we can see the Serbian economy as "knowledge-based sustainability economy" till 2021, no matter what was economic sector that generated economic growth. From the other side, in social pillar there no full attention of inequality and social disproportions. Because of these objective of this papers is to reshape idea of sustainability with socio-economic aspect, special with results of researches that are good base for theoretical background. After that on case of Serbia we will show importance of socio economic aspect of sustainable development.

METHODOLOGY

In this paper we will use multiple regression. It is appropriate method because we want to predict the value of real GDP growth rate on the value of growth rate of added value in different sectors. In this research dependent variable is real GDP growth rate as a measure of economic dimension of development. Independent variables or predictors are gross value added growth rate by different sectors. As a dummy variable will be financial crisis, as binary variable. Period of observation will be from 1995 till 2015.

¹ Prof. PhD, e-mail: igor.mladenovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

² Prof. PhD, e-mail: ljiljana.stankovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs

RESULTS

We show that social - economic dimension in Serbia is very important. We identify that using ceteris paribus approach increasing of value added in processing industry for 1% can cause of real GDP growth rate for almost 0,2 percentage points. As a important sector for economic growth we identified agriculture and trade sector. In area of services only post services were important for economic growth. At the same time we identify income inequality and social disproportion in different business sector. All of these put new light on economic and social dimension in Serbia.

IMPLICATIONS

In the sustainability discourse we find much disagreement about the idea of sustainability resulting in the unsatisfactory situation that this idea is limited by arbitrariness and therefore loses its action guiding power. From the other side, there is wide consensus that the idea of sustainability figures as one of the leading models for societal development by indicating the direction in which societies ought to develop. Strong evidence in this paper can sent massage to macroeconomic policy makers of importance of economic sector that can generate economic growth and at the same time try to find solutions for reduce income inequality level.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Economic theory and practice show that sustainability claims to have actionguiding power and calls for particular orientations of actions. On the early beginning at the end of 1990s sustainability is the basic survival capacity of humans in society. Today, after almost 30 years of idea of sustainability, realization of this idea focused on more than 17 goals. All these goals have different priority in different countries. It is a matter of country development level, but, last economic crisis, social and economic dimension put on high priority level. This paper put special light on economic and social dimension of sustainability in Serbia after analyzing period of last 20 years.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable growth, inequality, classes, capitalism, market economy

- 1. Barro, RJ. & Lee, (JW. 2013). A new data set of educational attainment in the world, 1950–2010. *Journal of Development Economics*, 104, 184–198.
- Deutz, P. (2014). A class-based analysis of sustainable development: developing a radical perspective on environmental justice. *Sustainable Development* 22(4), 243– 252.
- Enders, JC. & Remig, M. (2015). Theories of sustainable development: an introduction. In Enders JC, Remig M (eds.). *Theories of Sustainable Development*, London: Routledge, 1–5.
- 4. Foster, JB. (2002). Ecology Against Capitalism, New York, NY: Monthly Review Press
- 5. Kajikawa, Y. (2008). Research core and framework of sustainability science. *Sustainability Science* 3, 215–239. DOI: 10.1007/s11625-008-0053-1
- 6. Kates, RW., Clark ,WC., Corell R. et al. 2001. *Sustainability science. Science* 292(5517),641–642. DOI: 10.1126/science.1059386
- Keirstead, J. & Leach, M. 2008. Bridging the gaps between theory and practice: a service niche approach to urban sustainability indicators. *Sustainable Development* 16, 329–340. DOI: 10.1002/sd.349
- 8. Quental, N; Lourenço, JM. and Nunes da Silva, F. (2011). Sustainable development policy: goals, targets and political cycles. *Sustainable Development*, 19(1), 15–29.
- 9. Redclift, M. & Woodgate, G. (2013). Sustainable development and nature: the social and the material. *Sustainable Development*, 21, 92–100.
- 10. Stiglitz, JE., Sen, A. and Fitoussi, J-P. (2010). *Report by the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress*, Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress, Paris.
- 11. Triventi, M. (2013). Stratification in higher education and its relationship with social inequality: a comparative study of 11 European countries. *European Sociological Review*, 29(3), 489–502.

3.2. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND THE QUESTION OF ITS SOCIAL DIMENSIONS

Vladan Joldžić¹

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Ana Batrićević²

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Vera Stanković³

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Nikola Paunović⁴

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia and PhD candidate, University of Belgrade, Faculty of Law

OBJECTIVES

The authors point out the importance of sustainable development's social dimension (especially in developing countries like Serbia) and its link with other two dimensions: economic and environmental. They analyse and compare international documents (adopted by the United Nations and European Union) and relevant national legislative framework, suggesting the adoption of a more extensive concept of social dimension of sustainable development and a wider range of its indicators.

METHODOLOGY

Content analysis was applied in order to precisely define social component of sustainable development and its correlation with its other two dimensions: economic and environmental, as well as to single out and discuss its most relevant indicators. Doctrinal legal research method was used to critically analyse the provisions of international and national legal sources (including conventions, regulations, laws, strategic documents, action plans etc.) pertinent to the issue of

¹ PhD, Principle Research Fellow, e-mail: vladanj@eunet.rs

² PhD, Research Fellow, e-mail:a.batricevic@yahoo.com

³ PhD, Research Assistant, e-mail:vera.batanjski@iksi.ac.rs

⁴ Research Intern, e-mail: dzoni925@gmail.com

sustainable development with special focus on its social dimension. Comparative legal research method was applied in order to examine whether the goals of sustainable development and means for its achievement set in Serbian national legislation correspond to those proclaimed on universal and European level.

RESULTS

There is no universally accepted definition of social dimension of sustainable development and its indicators. This makes its measuring and comparison challenging and unreliable, particularly since it cannot be observed separately from economic and environmental components. There are several strategic documents dealing with social dimension of sustainable development. There is a correlation between social and environmental dimension of sustainable development but it should be explored more profoundly.

IMPLICATIONS

This paper has implications for law and policy makers since it invites them to reexamine the compatibility of relevant national strategic documents with United Nations' and European Union's standards regarding social dimension of sustainable development. It also invites researchers to establish a universal and extensive definition of this term, to set up a broader list of its indicators as well as to empirically analyse the link between sustainable development's social and environmental component.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The paper draws attention to key issues regarding social dimension of sustainable development starting from its definition, indicators and linkage to economic and environmental aspects. It also highlights the most relevant strategic documents, drawing a comparison between national and international standards in this field. It is focused on the link between environmental and social dimension, which is important in the context of environmental crises and social injustice as its consequence.

KEY WORDS

Sustainable development, sustainability, environment, ecology, economy, social, environmental crises

REFERENCES

- 1. Acevedo-Tirado, A., Ruiz-Morales, M., & Lobato-Calleros, O. (2015) Additional Indicators to Promote Social Sustainability within Government Programs: Equity and Efficiency. Sustainability, 7(7), 9251-9267.
- 2. Bullard, R. (2001). Environmental Justice in the 21st Century: Race Still Matters. Phylon, 49(3-4), 151-171.
- Commission of the European Communities. (2001). Communication from the Commission, A Sustainable Europe for a Better World: A European Union Strategy for Sustainable Development, COM (2001)264 final. Brussels, 15.5.2001. Retrieved from http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52001DC0264&from=EN

- 4. Cuthill M. 2009. Strengthening the social in sustainable development: developing a conceptual framework for social sustainability in a rapid urban growth region in Australia.Sustainable Development 18(6), 362–373.
- Dempsey, N. Bramley, G., Power, S., & Brown, C. (2011). The Social Dimension of Sustainable Development: Defining Urban Social Sustainability. Sustainable Development, 19(5), 289-300.
- European Commission. (2010). Communication from the Commission, Europe 2020: A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, COM(2010) 2020, Brussels, 3.3.2010. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/eu2020/pdf/COMPLET%20EN%20BARROSO%20%20%20007%20-%20Europe%202020%20-%20EN%20version.pdf
- Government of the Republic of Serbia. (2014). Second National Report on Social Inclusion and Poverty Reduction in the Republic Of Serbia: The Status of Social Exclusion and Poverty Trends in the Period 2011 –2014 and Future Priorities. Belgrade: Government of the Republic of Serbia. Retrieved from http://socijalnoukljucivanje.gov.rs/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Second-National-Report-on-Social-Inclusion-and-Poverty-Reduction-final.pdf
- 8. Government of the Republic of Serbia. (2006). National Millenium Development goals in the Republic of Serbia. Belgrade: Government of the Republic of Serbia.
- 9. Murphy K. (2012). The social pillar of sustainable development: a literature review and framework for policy analysis. Sustainability: Science, Practice, & Policy, 8(1), 15-29.
- 10. National Sustainable Development Strategy, Official Gazette of the Republic of Serbia, No. 57/2008.
- The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister. (2005). Bristol Accord: Conclusions of Ministerial Informal on Sustainable Communities in Europe. UK Presidency, Bristol, 6 – 7 December 2005. London: The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.
- 12. Pokrajac, S. (2009). Održivi razvoj i ekološka ekonomija kao poslovne paradigme. Škola biznisa, 6(4), 21-30.
- 13. Thin, N. 2002. Social Progress and Sustainable Development. London: ITDG Publishing.

- 14. Štrbac, N., Vuković, M., Voza, D., & Sokić, M. (2012). Održivi razvoj i zaštita životne sredine. Reciklaža i održivi razvoj, 5(1), 18-29.
- 15. Torjman, S. (2000). The Social Dimension of Sustainable Development. Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy.
- UN General Assembly. (2015).Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, 21 October 2015, A/RES/70/1. Retrieved from http://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html
- UN General Assembly. (2000). United Nations Millennium Declaration, 8 September 2000, A/RES/55/2. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm
- United Nations. (2017). The Sustainable Development Goals Report, 2017. New York: United Nations. Retrieved from: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/files/report/2017/TheSustainableDevelopmentGoalsReport2017.pdf
- Vanags, J., Geipele, I., Mote, G., & Jirgena, H. (2012). Sustainable development: social dimension and limitation of material needs request. International Scientific Conference "Business and Management 2012", May 10-11, 2012, Vilnius, Lithuania, 768-774.
- 20. World Commission on Environment and Development (1987). Report: Our Common Future. Retrieved from http://www.un-documents.net/our-common-future.pdf

3.3. POVERTY AND FAMILY QUALITY OF LIFE IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Milena Milićević¹

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Goran Nedović²

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Special Education and Rehabilitation, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Family quality of life is a complex construct that refers to the conditions where the family's needs are met, and their members enjoy living together. Poverty is, on the other hand, one of the qualitative indicators of social exclusion, a phenomenon that affects individuals and families in Serbia in the transition period. This study examines the impact of poverty on the quality of life in families living in the Republic of Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

This study was designed and conducted as a non-experimental, descriptive and explorative. A random sample consisted of 154 families residing in the Republic of Serbia.

The Beach Center (FQOL) Family Quality of Life Scale (Hoffman et al., 2006) on Serbian was used.

Poverty was operationalized through material status and housing conditions, both subjectively assessed on a three-level scale (below average, average, above average). Material status was related to the monthly household income, average income per member, and whether the housing issues was resolved or family owned a car. Housing conditions were assessed in relation to the living space size (total and per household member), existing sanitary conditions, availability of clean and warm water and electricity, heating method and the use of modern information and communication systems and technologies (fixed and/or mobile

¹ PhD, Research Fellow, e-mail: mileninaadresa@gmail.com

² Professor, PhD, e-mail: goran.ned@sbb.rs

telephone, computer, internet). Family quality of life included four domains (Family interaction, Parenting, Emotional well-being, Physical well-being) and overall FQOL score.

RESULTS

Results were analyzed by descriptive statistics, and FQOL differences were examined in relation to the family material status, housing conditions and average monthly household income as independent variables. Kruskal-Wallis H-Test indicated statistically significant differences between three FQOL domains and overall score in relation to material status and housing conditions (p<.05), excepted for Parenting (p>.05). Positive and small to medium statistically significant correlations were found between all four domains and overall score with the average income (p<.01).

IMPLICATIONS

Families with below average material status and housing conditions are at risk of low FQOL. The differences are most obvious in physical/material well-being, and the least at parenting as seen through the activities that adult family members do to help children grow and develop in multiple areas of life (Park et al., 2003; Hoffman et al., 2006). The low levels of parental satisfaction with FQOL are associated with lower levels of monthly household income, therefore indicating the influence that poverty has on quality of life of families in the Republic of Serbia.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This study adds to the previous knowledge about impoverished families by indicating that the relationships among family members and the environment in which the family functions, their emotional and internal aspects of life, as well as their physical, material and financial well-being are connected to their material status, housing conditions and income. Additionally, family income is associated with parenting aspect of family life.

KEY WORDS

Poverty, family, family quality of life, physical well-being, material status, Serbia

- 1. Bruder, M. B. (2000). Family-Centered Early Intervention: Clarifying Our Values for the New Millennium. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 20*(2), 105–115.
- 2. Žegarac, N., Džamonja Ignjatović, T., & Milanović, M. (2014). *Kada nam nedelja dolazi sredom: usluge za decu sa smetnjama u razvoju i njigove porodice*. Beograd: Fakultet političkih nauka: Centar za istraživanja u socijalnoj politici i socijalnom radu.
- 3. Jelić, S. M., & Kolarević, V. (2016). Fenomen socijalne isključenosti u periodu tranzicije u Srbiji. *Sociološki pregled*, *50*(2), 209-228.
- Milićević, M. (2017). Faktorska struktura Skale porodičnog kvaliteta života komparativna studija porodica sa detetom s cerebralnom paralizom i porodica sa detetom tipičnog razvoja. U M. Šćepanović (Ur.), Zbornik radova XI međunarodne konferencije "Socijalna inkluzija osoba sa invaliditetom: značaj i programi podrške", Novi Sad 26.5.2017 (str. 48–58). Novi Sad: Društvo defektologa Vojvodine.
- Milićević, M., Krstić, D., & Jakovljević, D. (2014). Porodični kvalitet života dece i adolescenata sa cerebralnom paralizom. U S. Potić (Ur.), Zbornik rezimea III stručnonaučnog skupa sa međunarodnim učešćem "Aktuelnosti u edukaciji i rehabilitaciji osoba sa smetnjama u razvoju" (str. 23–24). Beograd: Resursni centar za specijalnu edukaciju.
- Park, J., Hoffman, L., Marquis, J., Turnbull, A. P., Poston, D., Mannan, H., ... & Nelson, L. L. (2003). Toward assessing family outcomes of service delivery: Validation of a family quality of life survey. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 47(4-5), 367– 384.
- 7. Park, J., Turnbull, A. P., & Turnbull III, H. R. (2002). Impacts of poverty on quality of life in families of children with disabilities. *Exceptional children*, *68*(2), 151–170.
- 8. Smith-Bird, E., & Turnbull, A. P. (2005). Linking positive behavior support to family quality-of-life outcomes. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 7(3), 174–180.
- 9. Hoffman, L., Marquis, J., Poston, D., Summers, J. A., & Turnbull, A. (2006). Assessing Family Outcomes: Psychometric Evaluation of the Beach Center Family Quality of Life Scale. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 68*(4), 1069–1083.

3.4. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ECONOMIC GROWTH, EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME INEQUALITY: TIME SERIES EVIDENCE FROM ROMANIA AND TURKEY

Bălăcescu Aniela¹

Constantin Brancusi, University of Targu-Jiu, Romania

Zaharia Marian²

Petroleum-Gas, University of Ploiesti, Romania

Halil Ibrahim Aydin³

Batman University, Turkey

OBJECTIVES

This econometric analysis follows:

- description of the relationship between the real economic growth rate like as dependent variable and Employment growth rate and Gini coefficient like as independent variables;
- building an econometric model for both countries (Romania and Turkey) to analyze how it can respond to the research question asked;
- validation of the results by means of statistical tests;
- prediction of real economic growth rate (dependente variable) according to the Employment growth rate and Gini coefficient (independent variables);
- explaining the effect of the Employment growth rate and Gini coefficient (independent variables) on the real-economic growth rate (dependent variable).

METHODOLOGY

The method used is multiple regression, represented by the equation:

$$y=f(x_1+x_2+...+x_k) + \varepsilon.$$

¹ Assoc. Prof. PhD, e-mail: anielabalacescu@gmail.com

² Prof. PhD, e-mail: marinzaharia53@gmail.com

³ Assist. Prof. PhD, e-mail: hiaydin12@gmail.com

Model is tested if can be expressed by the linear relationship:

 $y_i = \alpha + \beta_1 x_{1i} + \beta_2 x_{2i} + \dots + \beta_k x_{ki} + \epsilon_i,$

where:

y is dependent variable, for our case is real economic growth rate

x is independent variables, for our case Employment growth rate and Gini coefficient;

 ε is aleatory variable

 α , β are regression coefficients

RESULTS

The results indicate that the decrease of income inequality and increase employment influence positive the economic growth.Increasing employment tends contributes to a more equitable distribution of income.

IMPLICATIONS

The research can contribute to the foundation and promotion of adequate economic policies for achieving sustainable economic growth through the achievement of an economically and socially efficient economic and social system favorable to the globalization trend of the markets.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This paper is an empirical research and time series evidence is instructive because can provide valuable pointers for policy makers.

KEY WORDS

GDP, employment, Gini coefficient, models, Romania, Turkey

- 1. Anghelache, C., Anghel M.G., (2015). GDP analysis methods through the use of statistical econometric models: The Journal Economica, 1(91), 124-130.
- 2. Tóth, I.G., Medgyesi, M., (2011). Income distribution in new (and old) EU member states: Corvinus Journal of sociology and social policy vol.2 (2011) 1, 3–31
- 3. OECD (2008): Growing Unequal? Income Distribution and Poverty in OECD Countries. OECD, Paris 2008

4. Zaidi, S. (2009): Main Drivers of Income Inequality in Central Europeanand Baltic Countries: Some Insights from Recent Household Survey Data, Policy Research Working Paper Series 4815, The World Bank

3.5. THE POTENTIAL OF MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES IN INDUSTRIAL SECTOR OF THE SERBIAN ECONOMY¹

Sonja Đuričin²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Isidora Beraha³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The aim of the research is to determine the economic and financial power of medium-sized enterprises registered in the Republic of Serbia in the sector C: Manufacturing. The subject of the research are values of financial performance of enterprises in the period 2011-2015. The research period provides the comparability of data over time and the identification of movement dynamics of basic development indicators.

METHODOLOGY

Economic and financial power of enterprises was assessed by using the method of financial analysis. Financial analysis was carried out based on the information disclosed in the official financial statements of enterprises which are publicly available on the website of the Business Registers Agency. With the application of financial analysis, the yield, asset and financial position of enterprises was determined (Rodić, J. et al., 2007; Đuričin, S., 2011; Đuričin, S., 2012; Đuričin, S, and Beraha, I, 2012; Đuričin, S, and Beraha, I, 2013; Đuričin, S., and Bodroža, D, 2013; Đuričin, S., and Beraha, I., 2014; Đuričin, S, and Jovanović, O, 2016; Đuričin, S,

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU), OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements) and TR 31005 (Modern Biotechnological Approach to Solving the Problem of Drought in Agricultural of Serbia), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² PhD, e-mail: sonja.djuricin@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ PhD, e-mail: isidora.beraha@ien.bg.ac.rs

A, and Beraha, I, 2016; Đuričin, S, and Đukić, M, 2017). In order to assess the yield position of enterprises, an analysis of the structure and arrangement of total revenues, structure and arrangement of gross financial result and profitability was performed. In order to assess the asset position of enterprises, an analysis of the structure and source of assets and of the efficiency of current asset management was performed, and for the purpose of assessing financial position of enterprises an analysis of liquidity, solvency and indebtedness was conducted.

RESULTS

The largest number of medium-sized enterprises from the manufacturing industry operates in a low-tech and medium-low technology fields. The results of the research indicate that in order to improve the yield, asset and financial position of enterprises measures aimed at improving global sales and purchasing parity prices, achieving a higher degree of real capacity utilization, productivity growth, optimization of production assortment, synchronizing production by type and volume with sales of finished products, improvement of business efficiency, etc. are to be implemented.

IMPLICATIONS

The implications of the improvement of business operations of medium-sized enterprises in the sector C: Manufacturing primarily have the economic, and indirectly the wider social significance. Increasing the potential of these enterprises would provide an opportunity to strengthen national competitiveness and export, and indirectly reduce unemployment i.e. improve labor market conditions in the Republic of Serbia. The improvement of business operations of medium-sized enterprises in the manufacturing sector would contribute to enhancing their technological structure i.e. would provide the possibility of producing higher added value products thus increasing competitiveness and export. These enterprises currently absorb 40% of the total workforce of all medium-sized enterprises, and improving their business operations and increasing their potentials would impact the further growth of employment and living standards of workers.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The special significance of the research is reflected in the original data that testify about the economic and financial power of medium-sized enterprises in the sector C: Manufacturing. This primarily refers to the ability of monitoring the baisc indicators of financial analysis in space and time. The spatial analysis provides the

possibility for assesing yield, asset and financial position of each of the observed enterprise compared to the competition, while time analysis enables the determination of movement dynamics of basic development indicators.

KEY WORDS

Medium-sized enterprises, industry sector, economic and financial power, yield position, asset position, financial position, unemployment, labor market

- 1. Đuričin S, and Beraha I. (2012) Promoting Availability of Financing to SMEs in Serbia on the Road to EU Integration: European Integration Process in Western Balkan Countries, Faculty of Economics of the University of Coimbra, urednici: Paulino Teixeira et al, str: 493-511.
- Đuričin, S. (2011) Analiza održavanja likvidnosti srednjih preduzeća uz poboljšanje položaja na tržištu, Računovodstvo, br 11/12, izdavač: Računovodstvo d.o.o., suizdavač: Savezračunovođa i revizora Srbije, str. 65-74.
- 3. Đuričin S, and Beraha I. (2013) Evaluation of Business Performances of Agricultural Enterprises in the Mixed Farming Sub-sector and their Impact on Economic Growth of the Republic of Serbia, Agriculture in Serbia and Portugal: recent developments and economic policy implications, Faculty of Economics of the University of Coimbra, pp. 122-138
- 4. Đuričin S, and Beraha I. (2016) Uticaj zaduženosti na profitabilnost i održavanje realne vrednosti kapitala srednjih preduzeća, Pravci strukturnih promena u procesu pristupanja Evropskoj uniji, Institut ekonomskih nauka, str. 343-358.
- 5. Đuričin S, and Bodroža D. (2013) The Impact of Drought on Yield Position of the Group of Enterprises from Agriculture Sector, Ekonomika poljoprivrede, Br. 5, Savez poljoprivrednih inženjera i tehničara Jugoslavije, str. 25-38.
- 6. Đuričin S, and Jovanović O. (2016) Analysis of financial solvency of medium-sized enterprises in the Republic of Serbia, Erenet profile, Vol 10, No 4, Small Business Centre, Corvinus University of Budapest, pp. 49-58
- Đuričin S, and Beraha I. (2014) .Unapređenje finansijskih performansi agroindustrijskog sektora po osnovu podsticajnih mera razvoja, Zbornik radova: Deindustrijalizacija u Srbiji: mogućnost revitalizacije industrijskog sektora, izdavač: Institut ekonomskih nauka, Beogradska bankarska akademija – Fakultet za bankarstvo, osiguranje i finansije, str. 690-703.
- 8. Đuričin S, and Đukić M. (2017) Ocena ekonomsko finansijske moći odabranih javnih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji, Opportunities for inclusive and Resilient Growth, Institut ekonomskih nauka, str. 89-104.
- 9. Đuričin, S. (2012) Analiza poslovanja i mogućnosti izlaska preduzeća iz zone gubitka, izdavač: Institut ekonomskih nauka, Čigoja štampa, Beograd

10. Rodić J, Vukelić G, and Andrić M. (2007) Teorija, politika i analiza bilansa, Poljoprivredni fakultet Univerziteta u Beogradu, str. 1-425.

3.6. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT THROUGH ISLAMIC FINANCING: THE CASE OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA

Amela Trokić¹

University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Economics; Center of Islamic Economics, Banking and Finance, Bosnia and Herzegovina

OBJECTIVES

The paper aims to provide insight into the potential of Islamic banking and finance (IBF) as a more ethical financing option contributing to economic development. The objectives include:

- 1. Investigate IBF as an alternative, more ethical financing option than conventional financing;
- 2. Present alternative products offered by IBF and their contribution to economic development;
- 3. Present the case of Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H), a transition economy with high unemployment and limited economic activity, and the benefits that IBF products have provided for economic growth.

METHODOLOGY

The research will provide an extensive review of the literature on IBF, the products and services including the PLS model, as well as the direct role of IBF in economic development through the promotion of various economic activities. The literature which will be reviewed includes articles from peer-reviewed journal and other authentic and reputable academic sources. Based on the literature review, a practical case will be presented as evidence of the same. The case of B&H will be presented through the Turkish Financing line offered by Bosna Bank international (BBI), the only Islamic bank operating in B&H. The financing line provides financing based on the PLS financing line will be collected from official reports created by BBI. We will investigate where financing was placed, who it was provided to, what industries it targeted and what the effects of the financing are. Both retail and

¹ Guest Lecturer, (MA and MSc), e-mail: amelatrokic@gmail.com

corporate clients will be considered to provide an overall picture of how the financing line has contributed to economic development.

RESULTS

The results include:

- 1. IBF is founded on ethical principles and encourages the maintenance of justice, fairness and equality in all economic transactions.
- 2. IBF products encourage dispersion of risk and equal distribution of wealth, including profit-loss sharing (PLS) model.
- 3. IBF and PLS models have contributed to economic development.
- 4. The case of BBI shows successful implementation of financing using PLS models and their direct contribution to poverty alleviation (financed 9,280 returnees), job creation (2,320 position created) and overall economic development.

IMPLICATIONS

The research has theoretical and practical implications. It will fill the literature gap since no research explores the economy of B&H, which serves as an appropriate case for other transition economies and conventional financial systems with significant Muslim populations, such as France and Germany. With the recent Migrant crisis, the Muslim population in countries with conventional economies is increasing. These individuals require financing to establish new lives, where IBF products offer financing and establish long-term schemes contributing to economic development.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

This paper is the first look at the relationship between IBF and economic development in B&H, which is a case that can be transferable to similar contexts. It also provides both a theoretical and practical perspective, whereby appropriate literature is reviewed and an example of the successful implementation of the PLS model is presented. This example shows the significance of IBF and its contribution to economic development.

KEY WORDS

Islamic finance, economic development, diminishing Musharakah, economic development, poverty alleviation

- 1. Alam, M. (2006) Islamic finance: going strong. Oman Economic Review, pp. 8.
- Archer, S and Ahmed, T. (2003) Emerging standards for Islamic financial institutions: The case of the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions. World Bank
- 3. Asutay, M. (2007) A political economy approach to Islamic economics: systemic understanding for an alternative economic system, Kyoto bulletin of Islamic area studies, 1(2), pp. 1-15.
- 4. Beck, T., Demirguc-Kunt, A. and Merrouche, O. (2013) Islamic vs. Conventional Banking: Business Model, Efficiency and Stability. Journal of Banking and Finance, 37, pp. 433-447.
- 5. Bico, A., and Ganic, M. (2012) The Efficiency of Banking Sector in Bosnia and Herzegovina in Comparison to Slovenia: Comparative Analysis. Journal of Economic and Social Studies, 2(2), pp. 125-149.
- 6. Bourkhis, K. and Nabi, M.S., (2013) Islamic and Conventional Banks' Soundness during the 2007-2008 Financial Crisis. Review of Financial Economics, 22(2), pp. 68-77.
- 7. Chapra, M. (1996) What is Islamic economics? 1st ed. Jeddah, Saudi Arabia: Islamic Development Bank, Islamic Research and Training Institute.
- 8. Chong, B.S. and Liu, M.H. (2009) Islamic Banking: Interest-Free or Interest-Based? Pacific-Basin Finance Journal, 17, pp. 125-144.
- 9. Delis, M.D. (2010) Competitive Conditions in the Central and Easton European Banking Systems. Omega, 38, pp. 268-274.
- Efendic, V. (2012) Efficiency of the Banking Sector of Bosnia-Herzegovina with Special Reference on Relative Efficiency of the Existing Islamic Bank. Paper presented at: International Conference on Islamic Economics and Finance – Sustainable growth and inclusive economic development from an Islamic perspective, Doha, 19-21 December 2011.
- Efendic, V. And Avdic, A. (2011) An Analysis of the Efficiency of Banks in Bosnia and Herzegovina Using DEA Method. TTEM – Techniques and Technologies Education Management, 6(1), pp. 147-158.
- 12. Efendic, V. And Izhar, H. (2014) Concentration and Competition on the Banking Sector of Bosnia and Herzegovina as a Potential Barrier for the Development of Islamic Finance. Paper presented at: 6th International Conference on Islamic Banking and Finance: Risk Management, Regulation and Supervision, Sarajevo, 16-17 September 2014.
- 13. Ellahi, N., Bukhari, T. and Naeem, e. (2010). Role of Islamic Modes of Financing for Growth of SMEs: A Case Study of Islamabad City. International Journal of Academic Research, 2(6), pp.161-171.
- 14. Freeman, R., Martin, K. and Parmar, B. (2007) Stakeholder Capitalism. Journal of Bussiness Ethics, 74(4), pp.303-314.
- 15. Ghoshal, S. (2005) Bad Management Theories Are Destroying Good Management Practices. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 4(1), pp.75-91.

- Goksu, A., and Becic, A. (2012) Awareness of Islamic Banking in Bosnia and Herzegovina. International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, (100), pp. 26-39.
- 17. Hadzic, F. (2014, March 30). Hadzic: "Koristenje Islamskog bankarstva u BiH zavisi od raznih faktora." [Hadzic: Implementing Islamic banking in B&H depends on various factors]. Novo Vrijeme.
- Hadzic, F. And Efendic, V. (2012) Development of Interest-free Banking in Bosnia and Herzegovina – Historical Aspects. Paper presented at: Business in between Cultures – the Development of Islamic Finance, Sarajevo, 14-15 November 2012.
- 19. Hallaq, W.B. (2005) The Origins and Evolution of Islamic Law. UK: Cambridge University Press.
- 20. Hanif, M. (2011) Differences and similarities in Islamic and conventional banking. International Journal of Business and Social Science, 2(2), pp. 166-175.
- Huda, A. (2012). The Development of Islamic Financing Scheme for SMEs in a Developing Country: The Indonesian Case. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 52, pp.179-186.
- 22. International Monetary Fund, (2004). Bosnia and Herzegovina: Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper. Poverty Reduction Strategy papers. Washington DC: IMF Publication Services.

3.7. PUBLIC SECTOR WAGE PREMIUM IN SERBIA: COMPARISON OF LINEAR REGRESSION AND MATCHING APPROACH ESTIMATES¹

Marko Vladisavljević²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Previous research on public sector wage premium in Serbia are typically based on the linear regression models and full sample of public and private sector workers, which ignore the fact that there are combinations of individual and job characteristics in the sectors which are not comparable. We address this issue by comparing the estimates of linear regression and matching methods, which account for the differences in incomparable jobs.

METHODOLOGY

In addition to the standard Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition, to account for the incomparability of jobs we use recently developed Nopo decomposition (Nopo, 2008). Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition splits the total unadjusted difference in wages between the sectors to two components: explained part - which is due to the differences in workers' characteristics; and unexplained part - which is due to differences in returns to these characteristics and which represents an estimate of the public sector wage premium. Within the Nopo decomposition, in the first phase, matching techniques are used to determine the overlap of public and private sector workers in relevant characteristics, after which the differences in wages between comparable employees of different sectors are split to explained and unexplained part, similarly to Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition. To estimate the

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. ² MA, e-mail: marko.vladisavljević@ien.bg.ac.rs

public sector wage premium we use the data from the Labour Force Survey from 2014.

RESULTS

Results show that the difference in the average hourly wages between the sectors in Serbia in 2014 stood at 32.3%. Nopo decomposition indicates that 5% of the total wage differential is due to incomparability of the public and private sector jobs. These differences mainly affect the estimate of the explained part of the gap, while the difference between the public sector wage premium estimates according to Blinder-Oaxaca (17.4%) and Nopo decomposition (15.8%) is not statistically significant.

IMPLICATIONS

Previous research on the public private wage differences have found that there is a high public sector wage premium in Serbia. These research were largely based on the linear regression models, which adopt an "out-of-support assumption", i.e. the full comparability of the public and private sector workers. This research has shown that the public sector wage premium in Serbia is estimated as high even when the incomparability of the jobs is accounted for.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Previous research on public sector wage premium in Serbia were largely based on the linear regression methods. Estimating public private wage differences in such manner suffers from specification error and causes biased estimates. In this research, for the first time, matching aproach estimator is applied, which pays special attention is paid to the fact that there are combinations of individual and job characteristics in one sector that cannot be found in the other.

KEY WORDS

Public sector wage premium, Nopo decompositon, matcching approach, Serbia

- 1. Atal, J. P., Hoyos, A., & Nopo, H. (2013). NÕPOMATCH: Stata module to implement Nõpo's decomposition. *Statistical Software Components*.
- 2. Blinder, A. S. (1973), "Wage Discrimination: Reduced Form and Structural Estimates," *The Journal of Human Resources*, 8(4), pp. 436-455.

- 3. Jann, B. (2008), "The Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition for Linear Regression Models," *The Stata Journal*, 8(4), pp. 453-479.
- 4. Krstić, G., Litchfield, J. & Reilly, B. (2007). An anatomy of male labour market earnings inequality in Serbia, 1996–2003. Economic Systems, 31, 97–114.
- 5. Nikolic, J., Rubil, I., & Tomić, I. (2017). Pre-crisis reforms, austerity measures and the public-private wage gap in two emerging economies. *Economic Systems*, 41(2), 248-265.
- Ñopo, H. (2008). Matching as a tool to decompose wage gaps. The review of economics and statistics, 90(2), 290-299.
- 7. Oaxaca, R. L. (1973), "Male-Female Wage Differentials in Urban Labor Markets," *International Economic Review*, 14(3), pp. 693-709.
- 8. Vladisavljević, M. (2017) Public sector wage premium and fiscal consolidation in Serbia. In: Book of Abstracts. *Conference: Economic policy for smart, inclusive and sustainable growth Belgrade:* University of Belgrade, Faculty of Economics, pp. 34-35
- 9. Vladisavljević, M., Avlijaš, S., & Vujić, S. (2015). Gender Wage Inequality in the Western Balkans. In *Inequalities During and After Transition in Central and Eastern Europe* (pp. 222-243). Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Vladisavljević, M., Jovančević, D. (2016): Public sector wage premium in Serbia : evidence from SILC data. In: Beslać, et al (ed.), Serbian road to the EU: finance, insurance and monetary policy. Chicago: Bar Code Graphics, Inc.; Belgrade: Faculty of Business Economics and Entrepreneurship (BEE), 192-210.

3.8. SKILLS AND SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYMENT IN SERBIA¹

Kosovka Ognjenović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is to assess the process of matching the skills available by the workforce and the skills demanded by the employers. Skills mismatch problem is mainly caused by the structural unemployment in Serbia. Unfavourable structure of both the employed and unemployed may cause problems with skills matching. Additionally, unfavourable structure of skills can prolong the job searching time and induce the increase of social expenditures.

METHODOLOGY

The methodology that will be used for the purpose of this research will be primarily based on the statistical analysis. Monitoring of the skills matching process largely depends on the reliable data on the demand and supply of skills in the labour market. In case of Serbia, there is an accurate source of such data based on the yearly survey conducted on a sample of active enterprises which operations are spread regionally and by the sector of economic activity. However, at least two sources of the data, depending on the level of their availability, will be consulted. The data will be extracted from the Statistical Office of Serbia databases, as well as from the National Employment Service periodicals. When necessary those data will be combined with other international sources, including Eurostat, ILO data bases, and the like.

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia ² MSc, e-mail:kosovka.ognjenovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

RESULTS

The expected result of this study is to provide better insights into the process of matching the skills and jobs in the Serbian labour market. Key findings of this research will show how skills contribute to the increase in employability as measured by formal qualifications of different participants in the labour market. However, the conclusions derived by this analysis may be limited due to the data availability and the level of comparability.

IMPLICATIONS

The purpose of this paper is to show to what extent the shortage of skills causes labour market frictions, on the one side, and what are the potential implications of skill shortages and gaps on the social and economic policy, on the other. It is expected that this analysis will provide the assessment of skills gaps, their scope and incidence, at the level of education and occupational groups.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

To the best knowledge of the author there is a limited number of similar studies that analyse skills related issues in the Serbian labour market. The intention of this paper is to feel the exiting gap and provide some preliminary findings to support policies associated with the enchantment of labour market participants' employability.

KEY WORDS

Employability, labour market, skills, structural unemployment

- 1. Brixiová, Zuzana and Balázs Égert (2017), "Entrepreneurship, institutions and skills in low-income countries." Bonn: IZA DP No. 10704.
- 2. Peter Cappelli (2015), "Skill gaps, skill shortages, and skill mismatches: evidence and arguments for the United States." *ILR Review* 68(2), pp. 247-250.
- 3. Cappelli, Peter and Jr Keller (2013) "Classifying work in the new economy." *Academy* of Management Review 38(4), pp. 575–596.
- 4. Cedefop (2015), *Skill shortages and gaps in European enterprises*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 5. Cedefop (2010), *The skill matching challenge: analysing skill mismatch and policy implications*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 6. Lawrence, Kahn (2015), "Skill shortages, mismatches, and structural unemployment." *ILR Review* 68(2), pp. 247-250.

- Robert I. Lerman (2017), "Skill development in middle level occupations: the role of apprenticeship training." In: *The Oxford Handbook of Skills and Trainings*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 8. OECD (2016), Education at a Glance: 2016 Indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Ognjenović, Kosovka (2015) "Stanje i pravci rešavaja strukturne nezaposlenosti u Srbiji." In: Strukturne promene u Srbiji – Dosadašnji rezultati i perspektive. Beograd: Institut ekonomskih nauka, pp. 365-383.
- 10. Ognjenović, Kosovka and Aleksandra Branković (2013), "Employment change and business prospect in Serbia." *Industrija* 41(3), pp. 67-84.
- 11. Ognjenović, Kosovka and Aleksandra Branković (2013), "Shifts in occupational and skill needs in the Western Balkan region: a slow adjustment." In: *Post Crisis Recovery*. Belgrade. Belgrade Banking Academy, pp. 581-602.
- 12. Pellizzari, Michele and Fichen Anne (2017), "A new measure of skill mismatch: theory and evidence from PIAAC." *IZA Journal of Labor Economics* 6:1.
- Rajh, Edo, Jovanov, Tamara, Budak, Jelena, Ateljević, Jovo, Davčev, Ljupčo and Kosovka Ognjenović (2017), "Youth and entrepreneurial intentions in SEE countries" (Forthcoming).

3.9. DIGITAL SKILLS AS UNDERLYING COMPETENCIES OF WORKFORCE IN SERBIA¹

Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Jelena Banović³

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

After almost twenty years of 21st century Serbia faces a high rate of unemployment, which is influenced by many factors and one of them is the general level of education of the population. For that reason the main objective of this research paper is to determine the level of ICT literacy of the working age population in Serbia and to measure the correlation of the level of ICT literacy and employability. We consider this subject very important having in mind that the digital skills become one of the basic element for the national growth and competitiveness.

METHODOLOGY

In order to obtain comparability of results with other European countries we decided to apply methodology for calculation of Digital skills indicator created by Eurostat in cooperation with European Commission (DG CNECT) based on the Digital Competences Framework - Individuals' level of digital skills (code: isoc_sk_dskl_i). This is a composite indicator for evaluation of knowledge of individuals aged 16-74 in several areas (information, communication, problem solving, and software skills) which can be used as a proxy of their digital competences and skills. For the purpose of this pilot research we collected xxx

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² PhD, e-mail: abmartinovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ MA, e-mail: jelena.banovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

surveys in Serbia mainly relying on the questions from Eurostat methodology, but we also include additional questions regarding to the status of employment and the employment form in order to examine correlation between the level of digital competences and employability. We used Pearson correlation coefficient for this purpose.

RESULTS

Results presented in this research need to be considered with reserve, due to non-representational sample, but it does not deviate significantly from Eurostat indicator. According to results, in the area of Information skills 12% of sample has no skills, 7% has basic and 78% has above basic skills, in the area of Communication skills also 12% has no skills, 16% has basic while 70% has above basic skills. The situation in the area of Problem solving is a bit different – 29% has no skills, 16% has basic skills and 54% has above average skills. Finally, in the area of Software skills 34% has no skills, 24% has basic skills and 40% has above basic skills. Overall indicator of digital skills showed that 13% of sample has no skills or their skills cannot be assessed, 50% has low and basic skills, while 37% has above basic skills. Pearson test founds correlation between the level of digital skills and level of education and the type of business activity.

IMPLICATIONS

Results of the research presented in this paper could provide impact on national policies in Serbia. The main legal document *National Strategy of Information Society Development* should be supported by appropriate regulations and policies that would target identified problems in the area of digital literacy. This paper can be used in the process evidence based policy as underlying document.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Scientists in Serbia have begun to deal more with the phenomena of digital literacy in the last decade, but the researches are rare and non-systematic. One of the most valuable empirical study of Serbian society is *Digital literacy of employers and students in Serbia* provided by Lakić, et. al (2012) which covered 733 employers and 344 students. This research is step further because it is based pm Eurostat methodology and its results are comparable with other EU countries.

KEY WORDS

ICT literacy, digital literacy, iSkills, Serbia, Eurostat methodology, employability, Digital Skills Index, digital competence

- 1. Aleksić, V., Zdravković, D., Stanković, D., Stanojević, D., Gomilanović, S. (2013) *Opšti standardi postignuća za osnovno obrazovanje odraslih Priručnik za nastavnike*. Zavod za vrednovanje kvaliteta obrazovanja i vaspitanja.
- Bertot, J., Jaeger, P., Lee, J., Dubbels, K., McDermott, A., Real, B. (2014) 2013 Digital Inclusion Survey: Survey Findings and Results Executive Summary. IPAC Information Policy & Access Center.
- Boje, C., Dragulanescu, N-G. (2003) "Digital Divide" in Eastern European Countries and its Social Impact. Proceedings of the 2003 American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference & Exposition.
- 4. Buckingham, D. (2008) Defining Digital Literacy What do Young People Need to Know About Digital Media. *Digital Literaces*. Shear & Knobel.
- 5. Covelo, S. (2010) A Review of Digital Literacy Assessment Instruments. IDE-712 Front-End Analysis Research.
- 6. Cvetanović, S., Despotović, D. (2014) Znanje kao komponenta ljudskog kapitala u modelima ekonomskog rasta. *Škola biznisa, No. 1*, DOI: 10.5937/skolbiz1-5976.
- 7. Digital Transformation A Framework for ICT Literacy (2007) A Report of the International ICT Literacy Panel.
- Đorđević, G. (2012) Uticaji ICT informacionog društva na društveno-ekonomski razvoj, Socioeconomica. The Scientific Journal for Theory and Practice of Socioeconomic Development Vol. 1, N° 2: 188 – 200.
- 9. Efimova, L., Grudin, J. (2008) Crossing Boundaries: Digital Literacy in Enterprises. *Digital Literaces*. Shear & Knobel.
- 10. EUROSTAT (2015) *Methodological Manual for Statistics on the Information Society*. Survey year 2015, version 1.0.
- Ferrari, A. (2013) DIGCOMP: A Framework for Developing and Understanding Digital Competence in Europe. European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Prospective Technological Studies. DOI: 10.2788/52966.
- Gui, M., Arentin, G. (2011) Digital Skills of Internet Natives: Different Forms of Digital Literacy in a Random Sample of Northern Italian High School Students. *New Media and Society, Vol. 13, No. 6:* 963-980.
- 13. Hargittai, E. (2005) Survey Measures of Web-Oriented Digital Literacy. Social Science Computer Review, Vol. 23 No. 3: 371-379. DOI: 10.1177/0894439305275911.
- 14. Lakić, D., Parojčić, J., Kovačević, N., Antonijević, M. (2012) Digital literacy of employers and students in Serbia. Conference: Employer Engagement in a Digital Age. University of Greenwich. url:

https://showtime.gre.ac.uk/index.php/ecentre/apt2012/paper/viewPaper/176, Retreived 10 Jul 2017.

- 15. Milovaović, S. (2013) Digitalna podela u Srbiji iz demografske perspective. *Zbornik radova Filozofskog fakulteta, Vol. XLIII, No. 2*: 301-319.
- 16. OECD (2016) Skills for a Digital World, Working Party on Measurement and Analysis of the Digital Economy, *Background Paper for Ministerial Panel 4.2*.
- 17. Reder, S. (2015) Digital Inclusion and Digital Literacy in the United States: A Portrait from PIAAC's Survey of Adult Skills. *AIR-PIAAC Commissioned Paper*.
- 18. Ribiero Rosa, F. (2013) Proposal for a Digital Literacy Index: Results of the Methodological Formulation. VII Conference ACORN-REDECOM Proceedings.
- 19. UNESCO (2016) A Global Measureof Digital and ICT literacy skills. Background paper prepared for the 2016 Global Education Monitoring Report Education for people and planet: Creating sustainable futures for all.
- Yates, S., Kirby, J., Lockley, E. (2010) 'Digital-by-default': reinforcing exclusion through technology. In Defence of Welfare 2. Social Policy Association. url: http://www.socialpolicy.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/39_yates-et-al.pdf.

3.10. EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE OF THE BRAIN DRAIN EFFECT ON SERBIA'S ECONOMIC GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dragan Ilić¹

Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management, Novi Sad, Serbia

Marko Milosavljević²

Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management, Novi Sad, Serbia

Dina Ogrizović³

University of Vienna

OBJECTIVES

The aim of this research is to provide insight to phenomena of the brain drain of highly skilled individuals and to explore tendencies of the brain drain. This paper explores migrational patterns, economic and cultural links as aspects of motivation towards a potential migration. The data collected throughout the research carried out are potentially capable of systematically showing the issues that the Republic of Serbia is facing on macro and micro level repeated on the annual basis.

METHODOLOGY

Focus group consists of third and fourth year university students, hence they stand on a crossroads of deciding whether to search possibilities for further education or employment in the Republic of Serbia or abroad. Since research surveys were handed out to them while still in the county and before this group was devided into those who will stay and those who will migrate, tendencies and rate of individuals who will migrate can be clearly depicted and caculated with quantitative methode, as well as compared to the focus group as a whole to provide an information on the percentage of students interested in migrating. The aim of this paper is to explore tendencies and variables related to migrational motivations, 743 surveys were conducted and distributed to ensure the

¹ PhD, e-mail: prof.dragan.ilic@gmail.com

² Dipl. oec., e-mail: marko.milosavljevic073@gmail.com

³ Ba sociology student, e-mail: dinaogrizovic@gmail.com

representability of the data that was to be processed. Research data was calculated in SPSS quantitative data analysis programm. To ensure that collected data are heterogeneous surveys were given out to 17 different university departmants.

RESULTS

Out of 743 data subjects specifically surveyed for this research, 431 said that they are considering levaing the counrty after they graduate. As results show, perception of personal financial state is also important when making the decisson whether to stay or leave the counrty of origin. The research was carried out on the University of Novi Sad and the University Business Academy. Since only the students in one region were surveyed in the future the research can also be implemented in other regions in Serbia. Therefore, the data gathered can be more profound.

IMPLICATIONS

Presented results identify the tendencies and aspirations of highly skilled populational group. Policy makers of the country should take steps towards ensuring that higher procentage of this focus group will stay in the county. Based on the data about motivation to migrate, policy makers can create strategies that will ensure that lower percent of population will have motivations to move abroad, since the motives named in the data could be imputed into those strategies and motivate them to stay.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The original value of this paper is to identify and rationalise motives towards moving abroad. To ensure the quality of the paper theoretical basis, research proposal as well as data analysis method are imbeded in empirical sociological research. Geathered results and data are later on explored and built upon economical perspective, so we can track how examined circumstances affect Serbias' economical growth and development. Such multidisciplinary approach insures valid data gathering and interpretation.

KEY WORDS

Brain drain, globalization, tactics, high education, migration

REFERENCES

- 1. Docquier, Frédéric, & AbdeslamMarfouk. "International Migration by Educational Attainment (1990-2000)-Release 1.1." *database* 1990 (2000): 16.
- Joksimović, N. Ž., & Benković, S. (2015). The challenges of higher education financing, Retrieved 13. September 2017, from

http://www.finhed.org/media/files/Finding%20the%20Right%20Path.pdf#page=130

- 3. Kapur, D., & McHale, J. (2005). *Give us your best and brightest: The global hunt for talent and its impact on the developing world*. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.
- 4. Lingard, H. (2012). Balancing study and paid work: the experiences of construction undergraduates in an Australian university. *Construction Economics and Building*, 5(1), 41-47.
- 5. Lucas, R., & Lammont, N. (1998). Combining Work and Study: an empirical study of full-time students in school, college and university*. *Journal of education and work*, *11*(1), 41-56.
- Vlada Republike Srbije (2011). Migracioni profil Republike Srbije za 2010. Retreived 16. September 2017, from https://serbia.iom.int/sites/default/files/publications/documents/Migracioni profil RS za 2010 godinu.pdf
- 7. Stanković, D. (2011). Odlivmozgovakaogubitaki (li) dobitak za zemljuporekla. *Godišnjak FPN*, (05), 515-526.
- Stanojević, D., Živadinović, I., & Čekić Marković, J. (2015). Aspirations and needs of students in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Serbia, Retrieved 13. September 2017, from http://www.finhed.org/media/files/Finding%20the%20Right%20Path.pdf#page=130
- 9. Erasmus Plus. (2015). *Statistics*, Retrieved 15. September 2017, from http://erasmusplus.rs/mobility/statistics/
- 10. Avveduto, S., & Brandi, M. C. (2004). Le migrazioni qualificate in Italia. *Studi Emigrazione*, *41*(156), 797-830.
- 11. Tinto, V. (1987). *Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition*. University of Chicago Press, 5801 S. Ellis Avenue, Chicago, IL 60637.
- 12. United Nations (UN). (2000). *Population Division*. Retrieved 12. September, from http://www.un.org/en/index.html
- Ziderman, A. (2002). Alternative objectives of national student loan schemes: Implications for design, evaluation and policy. *The Welsh Journal of Education*, 11(1), 37-47.

3.11. ACCEPTANCE OF INNOVATION IN THE FORM OF INTERNET MEDIA BY CONSUMERS IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Karolina Perčić¹

Metropolitan University, Faculty of Management, Belgrade, Serbia

Nenad Perić²

Metropolitan University, Faculty of Management, Belgrade, Serbia

Đuro Kutlača³

Mihajlo Pupin Institute, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The paper presents acceptance and adoption of online media through direct marketing, by consumers in the Republic of Serbia. It is a sort of innovation in marketing in terms of the way of communication between bidders and consumers, as well as in modern ways of purchasing. The aim of the research is to explore the current situation in Serbia regarding this matter. The research question reads: To what extent do consumers in Serbia use innovative forms of communication (over the Internet) with companies for information purposes and to what extent do they buy through certain Internet media?

METHODOLOGY

The methodological approach of the study involves the application of the descriptive-analytical method to explain the innovations in marketing and diffusion of knowledge and technologies in Internet. The research was conducted in the Republic of Serbia in the period June-July 2017. Target groups were consumers aged 15 to 64 in order to examine their habits and preferences regarding the use of DM's Internet media. For the purpose of the research, a questionnaire was used in two forms: the Internet questionnaire (a link to the respondents) and a questionnaire of the same content in printed form. It's a simple random sample. The structure of respondents according to gender, age

¹ MSc, Assistant, e-mail: karolina.percic@metropolitan.ac.rs

² PhD, Associated Professor, e-mail: nenad.peric@metropolitan.ac.rs

³ PhD, Principal Research Fellow, Professor, e-mail: djuro.kutlaca@pupin.rs

and place of residence corresponds to the proportions according to the stated characteristics in the Statistical Yearbook of the Republic of Serbia 2016 (SORS), which ensured the representativeness of the sample. The sample consists of 1532 respondents, and the statistical error is 2.5% (confidence interval 95%). When processing data and interpreting the results, SPSS was used and within it descriptive and comparative statistics (X^2 test, t-test, ANOVA, regression and correlation).

RESULTS

Most consumers in Serbia use the Internet direct marketing media for information, while smaller percentage of consumers conducts online purchase. 78% of consumers order products/services over the Internet at least once a year. Purchase is conducted more through domestic sites then foreign (65%/43%). There is correlation between variables like age of consumers and the following dependent variables: frequency of using web to inform about products/services, frequency of ordering products/services over the web, the frequency of visiting and ordering through social networks.

IMPLICATIONS

Innovation in marketing is one of the key factors on which the overall innovation index of Serbia depends. Innovation implies openness to change, successful management and acceptance of changes, and is most often viewed as a property of the organization, but it is also necessary to consider the other side of the market - consumers and their willingness to accept knowledge and technology regarding new methods of communication and purchase. The number of consumers in Serbia who are shopping over the web is increasing, so companies should strongly focus on internet marketing.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The study provides an insight into the habits and preferences of consumers in Serbia regarding the use of online direct marketing media to inform about products/services, companies and online ordering. Usually studies on this topic are not sufficiently useful for the application of marketing strategies. The obtained information from the research will be useful for the business practice of Serbian companies in the field of internet marketing, especially because the changes in internet marketers are fast and require to be explored and monitored continuously.

KEY WORDS

Innovations, internet media, direct marketing, knowledge and technology diffusion, consumers, Serbia

- European Innovation Scoreboard 2017. http://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/23937, accessed: 28.07.2017.
- 2. Gunday, G., Ulusoy, G., Kilic, K. & Alpkan, L. (2011). Effects of innovation types on firm performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 133, No. 133.
- 3. Hauser, J., Tellis, G. & Griffin, A. (2006). Research on Innovation: A Review and Agenda for Marketing Science. *Marketing Science*, Vol. 25, No. 6.
- 4. Ken Corley II, J., Jourdan, Z. & Rhea Ingram, W. (2013). Internet marketing: a content analysis of the research. *Electron Markets*, Institute of Information Management, University of St. Gallen, Vol. 23.
- Kesić, T. (2003). Integrirana marketinška komunikacija. Zagreb: Opinio, https://www.scribd.com/doc/209592355/Tanja-Kesi%C4%87-Integriranamarketin%C5%A1ka-komunikacija, accessed: 31.07.2017.
- 6. Kotler, P. (2000). *Marketing Management* (The Millenium Edition). New Jersey, USA: Prentice-Hall International Inc., Upper Saddle River.
- 7. Kutlača, Đ. & Semenčenko, D. (2015). *Nacionalni inovacioni sistem u Srbiji: prošlost, sadašnjost, budućnost*. Beograd: Institut Mihajlo Pupin.
- 8. Krstić, M. & Skorup, A. (2014). *Trendovi u inovativnim aktivnostima*. Trendovi u poslovanju, Vol. 2, No. 4.
- 9. Lamberton, C., Stephen, A. T. (Novembar 2016). A Thematic Exploration of Digital, Social Media, and Mobile Marketing: Research Evolution from 2000 to 2015 and an Agenda for Future Inquiry. *Journal of Marketing, Publisher*: American Marketing Association, Vol. 80, Issue 6.
- 10. Lee Zhao Jian; Yazdanifard, Rashad. (Jun 2015). Which Modern Trend Advertising Methods Are More Effective in Reaching Certain Outcome?: A Review on Internet Ads, Mobile App Ads, Video Ads, Stealth Ads and Outdoor Digital Ads. *International Journal of Management*, Accounting & Economics, Vol. 2, Issue 6.
- 11. Mosurović Ružičić, M., Semenčenko, D. & Kutlača Đ. (2015). Inovaciona infrastruktura za transfer i difuziju tehnologija u Srbiji. *Časopis za marketing teoriju i praksu Marketing*, Vol. 46, No. 1.
- 12. Mladenović, I., Mladenović, J. & Roganović, M. (2015). Uticaj inovacija u marketingu na performanse malih i srednjih preduzeća. *Časopis za marketing teoriju i praksu Marketing*, Vol. 46, No. 2.
- 13. Oslo Manual, Guidelines for Collecting and Interpreting Innovation Data (2005., Third Edition). Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and Statistical Office of the European Communities, pp. 33. http://www.oecd-

ilibrary.org/docserver/download/9205111e.pdf?expires=1506110252&id=id&accnam e=guest&checksum=206EFA3896568073409D79124B36DBFD, accessed: 28.07.2017.

- Razvoj e-biznisa: Studija o motivatorima i barijerama za online kupovinu e-potrošača u Srbiji; Studija praćenja efekata razvoja e-poslovanja: Istraživanje o e-trgovini u MMSP i zaštiti e-potrošača u Srbiji (October 2016). Beograd: MASMI – agencija za istraživanje tržišta.
- 15. Ravić, N. & Gavrić, G. (2015). Uloga i značaj inovacija za razvoj malih i srednjih preduzeća u Republici Srbiji. *Ekonomija teorija i praksa*, Vo. 8, No. 4.
- 16. Sofronijević, A., Milićević, V. & Marković, A. (2015). New Internet Business Initiatives in the Context of Change Management. *Management: Journal for Theory and Practice Management*, Vol. 20, No. 74.
- 17. Stanković, Lj., Đukić, S. & Popović, A. (2014). Marketing inovacije kao izvor konkurentske prednosti preduzeća, *Časopis za marketing teoriju i praksu Marketing*, Vol. 45, No. 4.
- Saopštenje Statistika nauke, tehnologije i inovacija. Indikatori inovativnih aktivnosti, 2014-2016. (2016). Beograd: Republički zavod za statistiku Srbije, http://www.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/repository/documents/00/01/89/77/IA01-276-Inovacije_2014.pdf, accessed: 20.07.2017.
- Statistički godišnjak Republike Srbije Nauka, tehnologija i inovacije, 2016. (2016). Beograd: Republički zavod za statistiku Srbije, http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/repository/documents/00/02/28/92/18_Nauka_i_ kultura.pdf, accessed: 7.08.2017.
- Upotreba informaciono-komunikacionih tehnologija u Republici Srbiji, 2016. (2016). Beograd: Republički zavod za statistiku Srbije, http://pod2.stat.gov.rs/ObjavljenePublikacije/G2016/pdf/G20166004.pdf, accessed: 6.07.2017.

3.12. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES AND SUSTAINABLE DEMOGRAPHIC DEVELOPMENT IN THE WESTERN BALKANS

Verica Janeska¹

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Aleksandra Lozanoska²

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Elizabeta Djambaska³

Institute of Economics-Skopje, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

OBJECTIVES

The contemporary challenges of the sustainable development are significantly determined by the demographic trends and by the need for human capital as an important factor for developing a knowledge based economy. The main goal of this paper is to identify the challenges of the sustainable development in terms of the changes and current demographic situation in the Western Balkan countries, as well as to detect the importance of creating and implementing comprehensive and consistent population policies.

METHODOLOGY

The analysis is based on the relevant indicators for demographic changes identified in the Sustainable Development Strategy of the EU. The following indicators are considered: Employment rate of older workers; Demography (Life expectancy, Population growth, Total Fertility Rate, Migration and Old-age dependency); Old-age income adequacy (Income level of over-65s compared to before); Public finance sustainability (Government debt, Retirement, The impact of aging on public expenditure). This approach is determined by the aspiration of the Western Balkan countries to join EU. The comparative analysis is made for the following countries: Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Montenegro, Republic of Macedonia and Serbia. The available data from the Eurostat statistics,

¹ PhD, Professor, e-mail: verica@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

² PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: sandra@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

³ PhD, Assistant Professor, e-mail: beti@ek-inst.ukim.edu.mk

the national statistical offices and other relevant data sources for the last decade are used. Also, relevant researches from the observed countries considering the demographic development and adopted population policies are consulted.

RESULTS

The population growth rate in all Western Balkan countries is decreasing due to the below replacement fertility rate and intensified emigration abroad. It implicates accelerated demographic aging accompanied with increase of the life expectancy at age 65 and old-age dependency ratio. Majority of the countries have huge government debt as a percentage of GDP. All are facing with increased impact of aging on the public expenditures and on the pension system sustainability. It assumes consistent and comprehensive population policies, with particular attention on the emigration abroad. The main limitation of these results is the lack of data for some of the indicators for the demographic changes.

IMPLICATIONS

The results of the analysis show that the demographic changes are big challenge for the sustainable development in all Western Balkan countries. They have implications in many domains and should be in the focus not only of the demographers, but of the researchers and policy makers in different fields of the macroeconomics as well. The lack of data for old-age income adequacy and public finance sustainability imposes the need for comprehensive database in each country as a precondition for continuous monitoring of the demographic changes and for creating appropriate policies regarding the sustainable development.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

According to the reviewed literature there isn't comparative research about the demographic changes in terms of the sustainable development in the Western Balkan countries. The added value of this research is in the comparison of the demographic indicators and recognizing their importance for the sustainable demographic development of this region as one of the key preconditions for the future sustainable development. Based on the results of this research, the common areas where the population policies of this countries should be directed, are identified.

KEY WORDS

Demographic change, sustainable development, employment rate of older workers, demography, old-age income adequacy, public finance sustainability, population policy, Western Balkan

- 1. Bosnia and Herzegovina Agency for Statistics. Retrieved from http://www.bhas.ba/
- 2. Croatian Bureau of Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.dzs.hr/
- 3. Cvejić Slobodan, Babović Marija, (2014). *Migration Flows in Western Balkan Countries: Transit, Origin and Destination, 2009–2013.* International Organization for Migration
- 4. Eurostat. (2015). Sustainable development in the European Union, 2015 monitoring report of the EU Sustainable Development Strategy. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 5. Eurostat. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database
- European Commission. Report prepared jointly by the Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion of the European Commission and the Social Protection Committee (2012). *Pension Adequacy in the European Union 2010-2050*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 7. European Commission. Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities Unit E2. (2009). *Social Protection and Social Inclusion in the Western Balkans, a Synthesis Report*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- 8. European Union. Committee of the Regions. (2016). *The impact of demographic change on European regions.*
- IMF. European Department. (2015). Fiscal Deficit and Public Debt in the Western Balkans: 15 Years of Economic Transition, by Zsoka Koczan. Working Paper. WP/15/172, July 2015
- 10. International Labour Office. Social Protection Department. (2014). *Social protection for older persons: Key policy trends and statistics*. Switzerland.
- 11. International Trade Union Confederation. Pan-European Regional Council. (2012). *Pension Reforms in the Countries of the Western Balkans from A European Perspective*. Retrieved from http://perc.ituc-csi.org/ITUC-PERC-document-Pension-reforms
- Kupiszewski Marek, Kicinger Anna, Kupiszewska Dorota, Flinterman Frederik Hendrik, (2009). Labour Migration Patterns, Policies and Migration Propensity in the Western Balkans. International Organization for Migration (IOM) Regional Mission for Central and South-Eastern Europe.
- 13. State Statistical of the Republic of Macedonia. Retrieved from http://www.stat.gov.mk/Default_en.aspx
- 14. Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. Retrieved from http://www.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/Default.aspx

- 15. Statistical Office of Montenegro MONSTAT. Retrieved from http://www.monstat.org/eng/index.php
- 16. The Institute of Statistics (INSTAT). Retrieved from http://www.instat.gov.al/en/Home.aspx
- 17. The World Bank Data. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/
- 18. Walsh, K., O'Shea, E., Scharf, T., (2012). Social Exclusion and Ageing in Diverse Rural Communities. Findings of a cross-border study in Ireland and Northern Ireland. Irish Centre for Social Gerontology
- 19. World Bank. And The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies. (2017). *Western Balkans Labor Market Trends 2017*. Report Number: 113922.

3.13. MIGRATION, INTEGRATION AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP: INSIGHTS FROM THE SERBIAN EXPERIENCE

Jelena Predojević-Despić¹

Institute of Social Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

Vesna Lukić² Institute of Social Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this article is to explore entrepreneurship as a form of economic integration within two migrant groups: long term settled refugees and returnees in Serbia, and to investigate their motives as well as macro, meso and micro factors affecting their business practices. Economic integration outcomes of migrants can be a valuable indicator in helping policy makers tackling unequal growth challenges.,

METHODOLOGY

This paper summarizes recent studies, some of which have not yet been published. The results of two qualitative research are outlined, whose target groups are transnational entrepreneurs returnees (TNE) in Serbia and long term settled refugee entrepreneurs (LSRE) from the former republics of Yugoslavia in Serbia. All but two respondents are the owners of micro and micro and small business enterprises. The first research was conducted in 2013 through semi-structured face-to-face interviews (15) and on-line survey (47) with TNE. The second research was conducted in 2014 through focus groups (3 FG with LSRE from Croatia and BiH), referring also to the additionally processed 2011 census data.

The qualitative method was applicable because of insufficient quantitative data and novelty of the phenomenon not enough recognized by the official statistics. The presented views and opinions of the entrepreneurs enable better revealing the challenges of economic integration.

¹ PhD, e-mail: jpredojevic-despic@idn.org.rs

² PhD, e-mail: lukicbodirogav@gmail.com

RESULTS

In spite of different motives for starting the firms (emergency for LSRE vs. opportunity solution for TNE), the outcome is good economic integration. Both groups relay on family and their own social networks, especially for starting and developing business.

Through transnational activities, both LSRE and TNE use opportunities and overcome obstacles by maximizing material and non-material profits. Innovation of their business come from the fact that they rely on networks spanning borders.

IMPLICATIONS

The findings contribute to better understanding both determinants and obstacles of migrant entrepreneurship (ME), which are important public policy issues, given the strong increase in different types of mobility worldwide, modes of integration and links between societies of origin and destination. Adjusting political response towards measures that promote ME aids to recognizing the potential of ME contribution to the development through direct economic investment, but also through bringing entrepreneurial spirit, knowledge transfers, etc.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Scientific knowledge about the relation between migration and entrepreneurship is limited in transition economy countries without large immigration pressure, such as Serbia. The results of our research provide the evidence that entrepreneurship, especially through transnational economic activity, facilitates integration for different migrant groups. The focus on migrationentrepreneurship nexus can also contribute to better definition of national and regional level tools for monitoring socioeconomic inequalities.

KEY WORDS

Migration, entrepreneurship, economic development, transnationalism, integration, Serbia

- 1. Ager, A., & Strang, A. (2008). Understanding Integration: A Conceptual Framework. *Journal of Refugee Studies, 21*(2), 166-191.
- 2. Drori, I., Honig, B., & Wright, M. (2009). Transnational entrepreneurship: An emergent field of study. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 33(3), 1001–1102.

- 3. Garnham, A. (2006). Refugees and the Entrepreneurial Process. *Labour, Employment and Work in New Zealand*, *9*(1), 156-165.
- 4. Greve, A., & Salaff J. W. (2003). Social networks and entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice 28*(1), 1-21.
- 5. Kloosterman, R., Van Der Leun, J., & Rath, J. (1999). Mixed Embeddedness: (In) Formal Economic Activities and Immigrant Businesses in the Netherlands. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *23*(2), 253-267.
- 6. Lukic, V. (2016). Two decades of refugeeism in Serbia. Belgrade: SORS.
- Lukic, V. (2016). Integracija prisilnih migranata iz bivših republika SFRJ na tržište rada u Srbiji, *Demografija*, 13, 83-94.
- 8. Pavlov, T., Predojevic-Despic, J. & Milutinovic, S. (2013). Transnacionalno preduzetništvo: iskustva migranata povratnika u Srbiju. *Sociologija*, *55*(2), 261-282.
- 9. Portes, A. (1995). Economic sociology and the sociology of immigration: A conceptual overview. In A. Portes (Ed.), *The economic sociology of immigration: Essays on networks, ethnicity and entrepreneurship* (pp. 1–41). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- 10. Predojevic-Despic, J., & Penev, G. (2012). Ko su i gde idu: Karakteristike i razmeštaj građana Srbije u inostranstvu po zemljama prijema i značaj migrantskih mreža. *Nacionalni interes, 8*(3), 355–388.
- Predojevic-Despic, J., Pavlov, T., Milutinovic, S., & Balli, B. (2016). Transnational Entrepreneurs in the Western Balkans: A Comparative Study of Serbian and Albanian Migrants and Returnees. In R. Nadler, Z. Kovács, B. & Glorius T. Lang (Eds.), *Return Migration and Regional Development in Europe: Mobility Against the Stream* (pp. 111-127). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- 12. Saxenian, A. (2002). Transnational communities and the evolution of global production networks: The cases of Taiwan, China and India. *Industry and Innovation*, *9*(3), 183–202.
- 13. Terjesen, S., & Elam, A. (2009). Transnational entrepreneurs' venture internationalization strategies: A practice theory approach. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *33*(5), 1093–1120.
- 14. Urbano, D., Toledano, N., & Ribeiro-Soriano, D. (2011). Socio-cultural factors and transnational entrepreneurship: A multiple case study in Spain. *International Small Business Journal*, 29(2), 119–134.
- 15. Wauters, B., & Lambrecht, J., (2006). Refugee Entrepreneurship in Belgium: Potential and Practice. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 2(4), 509-525.
- 16. Yeung, H. (2002). Entrepreneurship in international business: An institutional perspective. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management 19*(1), 29-61.
- 17. Zhou, M. (2004). Revisiting ethnic entrepreneurship: Convergences, controversies and conceptual advancements. *International Migration Review*, *38*(3), 1040–1074.

3.14. THE IMPACT OF EMIGRATION/IMMIGRATION ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF SERBIA

Lazar Cvijić¹

Faculty of business studies and law, Belgrade, Serbia

Gordana Ajduković²

European center for peace and development, Belgrade, Srbia

OBJECTIVES

The Eighth Millennium Goal of the UN defines migration as the development of a partnership in the world for the purpose of development.

The goal of this paper is in line with the mentioned goal - to help understand migration in Serbia as development of partnership for the purpose of development and how they influence the development of Serbia in general.

We live in times of great migrations that are mostly caused by political or economic conditions. What impact does it have on those countries where most emigrants emigrate and the ones from which they emigrate, or how migrations affect the country's development strategy? What is the situation in Serbia? How does emigration and immigration affect Serbia and its development? What is the impact of falling births in Serbia on the development of a development strategy? Attempting to answer these questions is the main task of this paper.

By analyzing the content of the literature dealing with this issue, the data collected in the projects that are the topic of migration in Serbia, especially in the project of 8 countries including Serbia, the paper is trying to find out how migration can contribute to the development of Serbia.

The logical question is - how can the country from which people more often emigrate cam be developed by migration, how can it contribute to the realization of the UN Millennium Goal?

¹ Professor, e-mail: lcvijic@yahoo.com

² Professor, e-mail: gordanaajdukovic@gmail.com

How can those who have emigrated contribute to the development of their home country, and that this is not just remittances (money sent to the land of relatives) whose roads are not easy to follow? These are the questions that this paper asks for answers.

METHODOLOGY

Numerous studies have been done on migrations, authors from a number of countries have looked at them from their aspects, created maps that migrate documents, designed theories about migrations, and statistical institutes have tasks and try to do them as conscientiously as possible to serve us a multitude data on migrants and migrations.

Our desire is to add already existing knowledge in order to be closer to the ability to understand migrations and to help plan migration related activities.

With a global picture of the migration flows, which is necessary for understanding this phenomenon, we would put a special emphasis on Serbia.

By analyzing the content of past research, literature research, and monitoring events related to migrants and migration, we believe that we can contribute in the efforts to answer all the questions asked. The main document used as the source of information is the study of Migration and Development in Serbia. The Migration and Development Study in Serbia was created as part of the global project of the International Organization for Migration (IOM)

We expect that additional analyzes of already collected data on migrations and national states in the areas where people migrate and immigrate will give us some of the answers.

The hypothesis that the work is checking is: Migration in Serbia can be a driver of development based on culture and education.

RESULTS

Migration is always accompanied by a man. Distance calls people, in them life seems better, "human" and richer. He migrated in peaceful and wartime times. Because he wanted it and because he had to. Far more often the distances are unknown, foreign countries, but migration to countries of origin - closer or further - is rare. Migration has done the both Americas as they are now, Australia, too.

Something different is the migratory flows characteristic of Asia and Africa, while Europe with all its diversity and countless wars, today with its appeal, perhaps more than before, is a special phenomenon.

Serbia is a country from which people emigrate much more often. The wars in the Balkans have contributed to the fact that in Serbia, not long ago, people migrated - voluntarily or forcibly, with a decision made in different conditions, with or without pressure. Emigrate working-age people who want a better life. Serbia is old and it becomes a problem.

Serbia should be looked at with particular reference to the migrations that are permanent and occasional in this region, seasonal and even daily.

Yugoslavia from which Serbia was founded was a country where, thanks to the politics of non-alignment and the quality of educational institutions, numerous students from non-aligned countries educated themselves. Serbia still has respectable universities today. Is it possible that the young people of many friendly countries, including the Serbian diaspora, can be attracted to study in Serbia again? What to include in the academic program and what to do to get it? Certainly we cannot pair the developed countries in production with much, but we can arrange the country so that it is the place to come to study, to engage in sports, to participate in them or to visit cultural events.

Managing migration at all levels is especially important for young people in Serbia who are increasingly see Serbia as the country in which they would like to work.

IMPLICATIONS

This work draws attention to the immense influence of migrations on today's world. They affect both individuals and societies, countries, regions. Because of its great importance it is necessary that migration be the topic of research of both the governmental and non-governmental sectors. Their influence is also important for the adoption of national-level strategies (such as: Strategy for Development of the Republic of Serbia for the period 2011-2020, Social Protection Development Strategy, Republic of Serbia Public Health Strategy, Strategy for Development of Education in Serbia 2020 and others).

Migrations are an important topic for economists, but also sociologists, anthropologists, statisticians, and a number of other researchers from various

fields. Migrations are particularly important to direct research when education and health are concerned.

Following the decrease in the number of inhabitants in Serbia, we conclude that it is necessary to analyze the migration and as a cause and as a consequence of the decline in the number of inhabitants in our country.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The originality of this work is that it emphasizes the possibility that migrations can contribute to development of the Republic of Serbia. This fact is based on real potentials such as education and for diaspora and foreign students, their participation in sport and the emphasis on cultural values. This work can stimulate thinking and further research on migration, or the desire to engage in migration in the domain of development, as much as it is possible. Also, dealing with this topic reduces stereotypes about migration and migrants and reduces tensions that accompany these phenomena.

Particularly important is the fact that the use of this topic benefits the entire community: researchers, the academic community, and society in general.

KEY WORDS

Migration, development, Serbia, education, UN, partnership, migrants, strategy

- 1. Raševič, M. (2016). *Migration and Development in Serbia*, International Organization for Migration (IOM)
- 2. www.ekof.bg.ac.rs/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/MIGRACIJE.doc

3.15. ECONOMICS AND MORALITY – HOW TO RECONCILE ECONOMIC THINKING AND BROADER SOCIAL THINKING

Aleksandar Fatić¹

Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Seriba

Mrdjan Mladjan²

EBS Business School, Wiesbaden, Germany

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this paper is to present a virtue-ethics perspective on economics, a novel analytical approach that combines economic thinking with broader social thinking. This approach allows us to overcome the sharp divide between private and public morality, one of the defining characteristics of neo-liberal political ideology. A reconciliation of economic thinking and broader social thinking is needed in order to better formulate policies that, within a harmonious social setting and in particular in small open economies, lead to sustainable economic growth.

METHODOLOGY

We first argue that the neo-liberal divide between private and public morality is deeply controversial from the point of view of virtue ethics. We then propose an innovative method that joins the lens of virtues-ethics with the toolkit of neoclassical economics. In particular, we emphasize that the efficiency of any given allocation of goods is a category which can be evaluated only subject to a certain set of preferences. The choice of the set of preferences is determined by a desired system of values, and this link between the preferences which determine utility functions of individuals and the system of values which inspires them can in our view reconcile and align economic thinking with broader social thinking.

¹ Principal Research Fellow and Full Professor, e-mail: aleksandar.fatic@gmail.com

² Assistant Professor of Financial Economics, e-mail: mrdjanm@alum.mit.edu

RESULTS

We demonstrate that the range of goods important for human flourishing – from the point of view of virtue-ethics thus subject to moral regulation – is broader than proposed by the neo-liberal ideology. Moreover, that market decisions that involve these goods lead to consequences which cross the border between the private and public sphere. Furthermore, using our approach we present a multitude of contemporary problems of the economy and the society as market failures, introducing the possibility to use the standard remedies to market failures to treat them.

IMPLICATIONS

We argue that the need to reconcile economic thinking with broader social thinking is important for any society, but in particular for both the social wellbeing and the sustainability of economic growth in small open economies, even more so if they recently underwent economic transition. Our virtue-ethics perspective on economics can support some government intervention with the aim of correcting market failures – preserving the economic wellbeing, national culture, sovereignty – as well as solidarity between societies in such a similar situation.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

We present a novel analytical approach that is able to integrate broader social thinking into economic thinking and that is not at all in clash with the contemporary economic theory. We illustrate how virtue ethics can be combined with the toolkit of neo-classical economics to provide a critique to the neo-liberal ideology using the tools and concepts of the economic science itself. This allows us to formulate suggestions for policies that should lead to more sustainable, culture-sensitive, and equitable growth, in particular in small open economies.

KEY WORDS

Value-ethics, human flourishing, neoliberalism, neoclasical economics, preferences, market failure, economics and philosophy, small open economies

REFERENCES

1. Fatic, Aleksandar (2016). Virtue as Identity: Emotions and the Moral Personality. Rowman & Littlefield International.

- 2. Fatic, Aleksandar (2013). "Korupcija, formiranje korporativnog karaktera i 'strategija vrednosti". Filozofija i drustvo, 24(1): 60-80.
- 3. Harvey, David (2007). A Brief History of Neoliberalism. Oxford University Press.
- 4. Mas-Colell, Andreu, Michael Whinston i Jerry Green (1995), Microeconomic Theory. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- 5. Milanović, Branko (2002), "True World Income Distribution, 1988 and 1993: First Calculation Based on Household Surveys Alone", *Economic Journal*, 112 (476): 51-92.
- 6. Mlađan, Mrđan M. i Dušan Z. Marković. (2016). "Problem neuspeha tržišta u Srbiji prilikom tranzicije na tržišnu privredu (The Problem of Market Failure in Serbia during the Transition to Market Economy in Serbian)". In Pravci strukturnih promena u procesu pristupanja Evropskoj Uniji (Directions of Structural Change in the Process of Accession to European Union), edited by Jelena Minović, Duško Bodroža, Ivan Stošić, and Božo Drašković, 130-147. Belgrade: Institute of Economic Sciences.
- 7. Pindyck, Robert S. i Daniel L. Rubinfeld (2001), Microeconomics, 5th ed. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.
- 8. Olssen, Mark and Michael A. Peters. (2005). "Neoliberalism, higher education and the knowledge economy: from the free market to knowledge capitalism". *Journal of Education Policy*, 20 (3): 313-345.
- 9. Rakita, Branko i Dušan Marković (2013a), "Praksa antikoruptivnog i društveno odgovornog ponašanja međunarodno preuzetih kompanija", *Konkurentnost preduzeća u Srbiji*, Nebojša Janićijević i Stipe Lovreta, Ekonomski fakultet, Beograd.
- 10. Stojanović, Boban et al. (2010), "Problem zaštite konkurencije u trgovini na malo u Srbiji", *Škola biznisa*, 3: 57-66.
- 11. van Hooft, Stan 2013, *The handbook of virtue ethics*. Edited by van Hooft, Stan, Athanassoulis, Nafsika, Kawall, Jason, Oakley, Justin, Saunders, Nicole and Van Zyl, Liezl, Acumen Publishing, Durham, England.
- 12. Vujic, Jasmina et al. (2010), "Peticija protiv prodaje Telekoma", http://www.nspm.rs/ekonomska-politika/peticija-protiv-prodaje-telekoma.html>.

3.16. REFORMS OF THE PENSION SYSTEM IN TRANSITION COUNTRIES¹

Mladenka Balaban²

Institute of Economic Science Belgrade, Serbia

Slobodan Župljanin³

Independent University Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Gordana Đukić⁴

Faculty of Economy Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The pension insurance system in Serbia in the last two decades is characterized by numerous reforms. The ultimate outcome of these reforms is a completely unsustainable system of compulsory pension insurance. In order to examine the causes and consequences of such a situation, the system of compulsory pension insurance is analyzed in the work through the prism of the previous reforms through which this system was going. Therefore, the subject of this paper is the analysis of the functioning of the pension insurance system in Serbia in the last two decades from the aspect of the characteristics of the reforms that were implemented in this period. The aim of the paper is to determine the possible modalities of pension reforms based on the analysis of previous positive and negative experiences from the previous reforms of the pension insurance system in Serbia, as well as international experiences, starting from the need to effectively manage demographic and economic risks, in order to ensure long-term financial stability and the sustainability of the pension insurance system. If we continue with the existing pension insurance system in our country, with all the

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

² Professor, e-mail: mladenka.balaban@ien.bg.ac.rs

³ Professor, e-mail: Slobodan.zupljanin@nubl.org

⁴ PhD, e-mail: gordanadkc048@gmail.com

problems that the Serbian economy faces, the sustainability of the existing pension system will be called into question. The aim of the paper is to propose directions and measures for solving the problems in the pension insurance system in order to solve, partially or completely, the problem of its unsustainability.

METHODOLOGY

The work uses scientific methods of description and classification in order to describe the pension systems and the way of their creation, determine the objectives and tasks of functioning, and perform the basic classification of the model.

An analogy used to compare data on economic and demographic trends and the basic parameters of the functioning of pension systems in certain groups of countries (developed, transition countries and developing countries), or certain forms or models of pension systems (systems of intergenerational solidarity and capitalized pension systems). Statistical methods applied when analyzing demographic and economic risks and basic parameters of pension systems and their tendencies.

RESULTS

The interconnectedness of insurance and economic growth has been proven, as savings through private pension funds are stimulating and lending economic investments. In transition countries, such as the Republic of Serbia, there is an economic crisis, due to the collapse of many companies in the privatization process and the process of integration and rapprochement with the European Union. Member states and candidate countries have an obligation to respect the directives and programs of the European Union in terms of economic restructuring, pension system reform and social inclusion. In the Republic of Serbia, there was a crisis in the pension system due to many factors such as: high mortality rates, aging of the population, decline in fertility and birth rates, unemployment, inadequate economic structure, non-competitiveness of the economy, foreign trade deficit, deficit in gross domestic product, and public debt. The appropriate economic policy, the choice of the appropriate foreign partners, the proper choice of Greenfield direct foreign investments, would create conditions for industrial development, export increase, employment, and GDP growth, which would positively influence the increase in the net wage rate, the adequacy of pension benefits and the sustainability of the pension system.

IMPLICATIONS

The important theoretical contribution of the paper relates to the extensive analysis of the advantages and disadvantages of introducing the second pillar of compulsory supplementary pension insurance, in order to consider the possibility of its introduction in Serbia through the reform that will be proposed in this doctoral dissertation. The experiences of countries that have implemented systemic pension reform are not identical. Therefore, there is a need for analyzing and comparing existing reforms in Serbia, as well as analyzing foreign experiences, to investigate and determine acceptable modalities for future pension reform, bearing in mind negative economic and demographic trends, as well as an underdeveloped and inadequate institutional framework.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The original contribution of this paper is that it indicates that the system of pension insurance should be sustainable, it is necessary to improve the demographic picture in the Republic of Serbia. In order to improve the demographic picture in the Republic of Serbia, it is necessary to create adequate conditions for increasing employment. When the institutional conditions for increasing employment are created, it will be possible to adopt an effective model of the pension system reform in Serbia, in line with EU regulations.

KEY WORDS

Social insurance, pension system, pension benefits, pension system reform, pension plans, pension models, state, demografic picture

- 1. Alianz SE. (2014). "2014 Pension Sustainability Index", International Pension Papers 1/2014, Alianz SE, Munich
- 2. Alonso, A., Domenech, R., Tuesta, D. (2011). "Public Pension Systems and the Fiscal Crisis in the Euro Zone", Universidad de Valencia, Madrid, BBVA Working Paper 11/24
- Baloković, S. (2012). "Hrvatska", u: Penzione reforme u Srednjoj i Istočnoj Evropi, Međunarodna organizacija rada, Tim za tehničku podršku dostojanstvenom radu za Srednju i Istočnu Evropu, Budimpešta
- 4. Bloom, D.E., McKinon, R. (2013). "The Design and Implementation of Public Pensions Systems in Developing Countries: issues and options" PGDA Working Paper No. 102, Program on the Global Demography of Aging Crawford, R.,
- 5. Keynes, S., Tetlow, G. (2013). "A Single-tier Pension: what does it really mean? IFS Report R82, Institute for Fiscal Studies, London

- European Commission. (2009). "Pension Schemes and Pension Projections in the EU-27 Member States – 2008-2060: volume I: report", European Economy, European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs
- Eichorst, W., et al. (2011). "Pension Systems in the EU Contingent Liabilities and Assets in the Public and Private Sector: study", ISA Research Report, No. 42, European Parlament, Policy Department A: Economic and Scientific Policy
- 8. Greeb, K., Koh. G. (2009). "Pension Schemes and Pension Projections in the EU-27 Member States: 2008-2060: volume I : report", European Commission, Economic and Financial Affaris, Brussels
- 9. Muller, K. (2003). "Towards Contributory Approaches: pension reform in the transition countries", German Development Institute
- Pallares-Miralles, M., Romero-Robayo, C., and Whitehouse, E. (2014). "Pension Indicators Reliable Statistics to Improve Pension Policy-making", The World Bank, Washington

3.17. PROGRAMS AND SERVICES IN THE COMMUNITY AS A SOCIAL CHALLENGE TO FAMILIES WITH A CHILD WITH PHYSICAL DISABILITY IN URBAN, SUBURBAN AND RURAL TYPE OF COMMUNITY IN SERBIA

Milena Milićević¹

Institute of Criminological and Sociological Research, Belgrade, Serbia

Goran Nedović²

University of Belgrade, Faculty of Special Education and Rehabilitation, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Families with children with physical disability experience various environmental barriers in their community. In order to achieve social inclusion as an ultimate goal of social equality, it is important to identify the impact of certain environmental factors important for the active involvement of children with physical disability. This paper presents the results of research conducted in order to examine the current state of programs and services in different communities as an environmental barrier to families with a child with cerebral palsy.

METHODOLOGY

This study was designed and conducted as a non-experimental, descriptive and explorative. A total of 114 families with a child with cerebral palsy was included in a survey; 66 lived in urban, 22 in suburban and 26 in rural areas of the Republic of Serbia. The average age of 64 boys and 50 girls was 12 years 10 months. *The Craig Hospital Inventory of Environmental Factors for Children – Parent Version* (CHIEF-CP; McCauley et al., 2013) on Serbian was used. Results were analyzed by descriptive statistics, while differences were examined in relation to the type of community as an independent variable using non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis H-test.

¹ Research Fellow, PhD, e-mail: mileninaadresa@gmail.com

² Professor PhD, e-mail: goran.ned@sbb.rs

RESULTS

Kruskal-Wallis *H*-Test indicated statistically significant differences in frequency (p=.006), magnitude (p=.003) and overall impact (p=.002) among families who lived in an urban, suburban and rural type of community. Perceived lack of programs and services for children with physical disability was the highest rated as a barrier in suburban communities compared to urban and rural ones. The main study limitations are related to convenience sampling and the lack of information on the representativeness of our sample. Additionally, the results were based on parents' perspectives solely.

IMPLICATIONS

The main implications are related to the need to improve support systems of social inclusion in suburban areas. Improving the structure of environmental factors should be implemented by removing the existing barriers, according to the needs of families with a child with a physical disability. Future studies could examine what changes and what kind of programs and community services parents refer to as needed and/or desired, and relate this information to specific environmental factors.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

To our knowledge, this is the first study that includes both the frequency and the magnitude of the impact of lack of programs and services as a problem faced by children with cerebral palsy and their families in our country. Moreover, the comparative overview of the different types of communities is provided. This study adds to the previous knowledge about environmental barriers to full social inclusion in the population of children with physical disabilities by indicating suburban communities as the priority one in the planning of future steps in social policy.

KEY WORDS

Services in community, social inclusion, disability, suburban, rural, type of community, environmental barrier

REFERENCES

 Dimitrijević, B. (2014). Usluge u zajednici kao podrška roditeljima u pružanju dugotrajne nege deci i mladima sa invaliditetom. *Godisnjak Fakulteta Politickih Nauka*, 8(11), 113–130. https://doi.org/10.5937/GodFPN1411113D

- Karić, J., Medenica, S., & Miličević, I. (2013). Teškoće sa kojima se susreću porodice dece sa posebnim potrebama u sadašnjem trenutku. *Biomedicinska Istraživanja, 4(2)*, 67–72. https://doi.org/10.7251/BII1302067K
- McCauley, D., Gorter, J. W., Russell, D. J., Rosenbaum, P., Law, M., & Kertoy, M. (2013). Assessment of environmental factors in disabled children 2–12 years: development and reliability of the Craig Hospital Inventory of Environmental Factors (CHIEF) for Children – Parent Version. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 39*(3), 337–344. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2012.01388.x
- McDowell, B. C., Duffy, C., & Parkes, J. (2015). Service use and family-centred care in young people with severe cerebral palsy: a population-based, cross-sectional clinical survey. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *37*(25), 2324–2329. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2015.1019649
- Milićević, M. (2015). Environmental barriers to participation of students with cerebral palsy in regular schools. In N. Gutvajn, M. Stančić & J. Stanišić (Ur.), *Challenges in improving inclusive education policy and practice: book of abstracts / The 6th International Scientific Conference "Inclusion in Preschool Institution and Elementary School", June 12th 2015, Sremska Mitrovica; Organized by: Institute for Educational Research, Belgrade, Serbia; College for Educators and Business Informatics – Sirmium, Sremska Mitrovica, Serbia; University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Philosophy, Ljubljana, Slovenia* (pp. 66, 142). Belgrade: Institute for Educational Research; Sremska Mitrovica: College for Educators and Business Informatics – Sirmium. COBISS.SR-ID: 215613964. ISBN 978-86-7447-124-1
- Mihaylov, S. I., Jarvis, S. N., Colver, A. F., & Beresford, B. (2004). Identification and description of environmental factors that influence participation of children with cerebral palsy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 46(5), 299–304. doi: 10.1017/S0012162204000490

3.18. WHICH FACTORS DRIVE THE LEARNER'S READINESS TO STUDY ONLINE? THE CASE OF SERBIA¹

Vladimir Simović²

Institute of Economic Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

Having in mind the fact that people in Serbia are often unwilling to improve their knowledge and expertise through online educational programs in both formal and informal settings, the primary objective of his research is to identify the key factors driving the learner's readiness to study online in Serbia.

METHODOLOGY

A group of 100 repondents divided into two categories of 50 people who are curently paricipating in some online educational program, on one side, and other 50 people who are using conventional educational programs in terms of acquiring new knowledge ans skills, on the other side, wll be used in order to conduct a research of key atributes of online educational programs which are recgnized by potential learners as most important. Using forms and questionnaire the attitudes of the participants towards successful online education will be investigated. Afterwards a set of different qualitative and quantitavive technues will be used in order to determine the correlation of different characterstics of online learning programs and userrs attitudes towards those programs in order to investigate the most important characterstics which drive the learner's decisions to study online.

RESULTS

The key results of this research are clearly identified characteristics of online educational programs which are in accordance with potential learners

¹ This paper is a part of research projects number III47009 (European Integrations and Socio-economic Changes in the Economy of Serbia on the Way to the EU) and OI179015 (Challenges and Prospects of Structural Changes in Serbia: Strategic Directions of Economic Development and Harmonization with the EU Requirements), financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia. 2 PhD, e-mail: vladimir.simovic@ien.bg.ac.rs

expectations regarding efficient online education as well as with expected learning outcomes. The advantage of synchronous over asynchronous modesl of online learning are presented and vice versa. The online learning readiness factor will be composed and relation of this factor and learner's attitudes will be examnied.

IMPLICATIONS

The implications of this research are important in terms of identifying the characteristics of online learning course in accordance with learner's expectations which would be very important for the formal and informal educational organizations in Serbia in terms of better understanding the actual needs of their learners and in terms of creating better educational courses.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

Online educational courses in Serbia are very rare. The people which are more technologically savvy are engaging in different online courses provided by foreign educational institutions. The rest of the population in Serbia are still restrained when it comes to involving an online learning course. There are no known research focusing on the learner's readiness to study online in Serbia and that is the main value of this research.

KEY WORDS

Online learning, readiness to study online, online learning programs characteristics

- Min-LingHunga, Chien Choua, Chao-Hsiu Chena, Zang-Yuan Ownb (2010), Learner readiness for online learning: Scale development and student perceptions, Computers & Education, 55:1
- Peter J. Smith (2005), Learning preferences and readiness for online learning, Educational Psychology, An International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology, 25:1
- 3. R. K. Jena. (2016) Investigating the interrelation between attitudes, learning readiness, and learning styles under virtual learning environment: a study among Indian students. Behaviour & Information Technology 35:11, pages 946-957.
- 4. Debra R. Comer, Janet A. Lenaghan, Kaushik Sengupta. (2015) Factors That Affect Students' Capacity to Fulfill the Role of Online Learner. *Journal of Education for Business* 90:3, pages 145-155.

- Pamela Mathews, Ramudu Bhanugopan. (2014) Predictors of Effective Web-Based International Business Management Courses in China: Students' Perceptions on Course Interaction and Satisfaction. *Journal of Teaching in International Business* 25:1, pages 60-73.
- 6. Barbara J. Dray, Patrick R. Lowenthal, Melissa J. Miszkiewicz, Maria Araceli Ruiz-Primo, Kelly Marczynski. (2011) Developing an instrument to assess student readiness for online learning: a validation study. *Distance Education* 32:1, pages 29-47.
- 7. Jeffrey N. Lowenthal. (2010) Using Mobile Learning: Determinates Impacting Behavioral Intention. *American Journal of Distance Education* 24:4, pages 195-206.
- Hitendra Pillay, Kym Irving, Megan Tones. (2007) Validation of the diagnostic tool for assessing Tertiary students' readiness for online learning. Higher Education Research & Development 26:2, pages 217-234.

3.19. ECOLOGICAL EDUCATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Mirjana Radojičić¹

University of Belgrade, Institute for Philosophy and Social Theory, Belgrade, Serbia

OBJECTIVES

The subject of the paper is ecological education and its significance for the concept and practice of sustainable development. The author provides arguments in support of the stand that the formation of ecological awareness as the goal of ecological education is, in terms of the collective mentality, the *condition sine qua non* of a new concept and practice of sustainable development. The paper also thematizes the challenge to the scientific study of these problems contained in the concept of "*sustainable growth*", which a group of ecological economist placed in the academic discourse as early as in the ninety seventies.

METHODOLOGY

The multicausal character of the studied phenomena conditioned a methodical eclecticism which was used in their research, with emphasis on the *method of analysis* and the *method of interpretation* ("hermeneutic method").

RESULTS

The key result or the conclusion of the research is that the future of humankind, in the current state of the ecological devastation of our planet, can be secured only through the redefinition of the humanity's overall attitude to its natural environment – in a word, with a new, *ecological ethics*, as an integrated system of ecological knowledge, the criteria of the valuation of the ecological situation and the ecologically correct behaviour. It is education that should play the key role in the formation of the new global morality in each society.

¹ PhD, Research Associate, e-mail: mradojicic9@gmail.com

IMPLICATIONS

The results of the research primarily address the academic public, above all, the members of the public engaged in social sciences, or, more specifically, *pedagogy*. Those findings should empower the awareness of the creators of educational policies, but also of those practicing in pedagogy, regarding the significance of the ecological dimension of education or of its fundamental remodelling in line with the new, emergency ecological situation in which humanity has found itself in the past several decades.

ORIGINALITY VALUE

The research on which this study is based should offer additional, more powerful and more convincing arguments on the importance of education for the formation of a new and radically different attitude of humankind towards its natural environment, which represents the anthropological condition for a sustainable economic development as a essential requirement for the survival of humankind in the literal, physical sense of the word

KEY WORDS

Ecology, education, ecological awareness, ecological ethics, sustainable development

- 1. Barboure, I. G. (1980) *Technology, Environmet and Human Values,* New York: Praeger.
- 2. Бестужев-Лада, И. В. (1998) Альтернативная цивилизация, Москва: РАН.
- 3. Bonnett, M. (2002) Education for Sustainability as a Frame of Mind. *Environmental Education Research* 8 (1). pp. 9–20.
- 4. Bowers. C. A (1999) *Educating for an Ecologically Sustainable Culture*, New York: SUNY Press.
- Costanza, R. (1992) The Ecological Economics of Sustainability. In: Environmentallly Sustainable Economic Development: Building on Brundt Land (pp. 83–93) Paris: UNESCO.
- 6. Daly, H. (1996) *Beyond Growth: The Economics of Sustainable Development*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- 7. Durning, A. (1992) *How Much Is Enough?: The Consumer Society and the Future of the Earth.* New York: W. W. Norton & Company.
- 8. Фролов, И. Т. (2013) Перспективы человека. Москва: ЛКИ.
- 9. From, E. (2015) *Imati ili biti.* Beograd: Nova knjiga.
- 10. Heler, A. (1981) Vrednosti i potrebe. Beograd: Nolit.
- 11. Huckle J. & Sterling S. (ed.) (1996). *Education for Sustainability*. London: Routledge.

- 12. Jickling, B. & Wals, A. (2008) Globalization and Environmental Education: Looking Beyond Sustainable Development. *Journal of Curriculum Studies* 40 (1). pp. 1–21.
- 13. Martinez-Alier, J. (2010) Sustainable De-growth: Mapping the Context, Criticisms and Future Prospects of an Emergent Paradigm. *Ecological Economics* 69 (9). pp. 1741–1747.
- 14. Orr, D. (1992) *Ecological Literacy: Education and the Transition to a Postmodern Word.* New York: SUNY Press.
- 15. Sauve, L. (1996) Environmental Education and Sustainable Development: A Further Appraisal. *Canadian Journal of Environmental Education* 1 (1). pp. 7–34.

CIP - Каталогизација у публикацији -Народна библиотека Србије, Београд

502.131.1:338.1(048) 502.131.1:316.42(048)

INTERNATIONAL scientific conference Sustainable Growth in Small Open Economies (2017 ; Beograd) Book of Abstracts / International scientific conference Sustainable Growth in Small Open Economies, 26th October, 2017 Belgrade, Serbia ; editors Olja Munitlak Ivanović, Isidora Ljumović, Aleksandra Bradić-Martinović. - Belgrade : Institute of Economic Sciences, 2017 (Beograd : DonatGraf). - 278 str. ; 24 cm

Tiraž 150. - Bibliografija uz svaki apstrakt.

ISBN 978-86-89465-35-8

а) Привредни развој - Одрживи развој - Апстракти b) Одрживи развој - Социолошки аспект - Апстракти COBISS.SR-ID 248282892

